
  
 
 

The State Hospitals Board for Scotland: Health & Sport Committee December 2019             Page 1 of 24 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
THE STATE HOSPITALS BOARD FOR SCOTLAND 

 

  
 

Health and Sport Committee 
03 December 2019 

  

 



  
 
 

The State Hospitals Board for Scotland: Health & Sport Committee December 2019             Page 2 of 24 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The State Hospital is one of four high secure hospitals in the UK. Located in South 
Lanarkshire in central Scotland, it is a national service for Scotland and Northern Ireland and 
one part of the pathway of care that should be available for those with secure care needs. 
The principal aim is to rehabilitate patients, ensuring safe transfer to appropriate lower levels 
of security. 

Our vision is “To excel in the provision of high secure forensic mental health 
services, to develop and support the work of the Forensic Network, and to strive at 
being an exemplar employer.” 

What we do 

Patients are admitted to the Hospital under The Mental Health (Care and Treatment) 
(Scotland) Act 2003 / 2015 and other related legislation because of their dangerous, violent 
or criminal propensities. Patients without convictions will have displayed seriously 
aggressive behaviours, usually including violence. 

During 2018/19 there were 34 patient admissions and 33 patient discharges. 

The majority of admissions were from courts and prisons. 

While the majority of admissions were from the courts and prisons, the majority of 
discharges were to other NHS hospitals and prisons. 
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75.2% of the patients are ‘restricted’ patients within the jurisdiction of Scottish Ministers.  
That is a patient who because of the nature of his offence and antecedents, and the risk that 
as a result of his mental disorder he would commit an offence if set at large, is made subject 
to special restrictions without limit of time in order to protect the public from serious harm.  
This number also includes patients undergoing criminal court proceedings who are also 
subject to the supervision of the Scottish Ministers. 
 
All patients are male, with an average age of 41. The most common primary diagnosis is 
schizophrenia. The current average length of stay is six years, with individual lengths of stay 
ranging from less than one month to over 30 years. 
 

This information pack contains a cross section of activities and updates, 
specifically in relation to: 
 

The Clinical Care Model   Pages 4-5  
Person Centred Care Approach  Pages 6-8 
Scottish Patient Safety Programme  Pages 9-11 
Health Inequalities    Pages 12-13 
Complaints     Page    14  
Safety, Risk, Security and Resilience Pages 15 
An Effective Organisation  Pages 16-19 
Human Resources Overview  Pages 20-21 
Finance     Pages 22-24 

 
 
 
 
 
Appendices 
 
 
Self–Assessment 2017/18 
Annual Review Feedback Letter from Minister for Mental Health 2017/18 
Annual Report 2018/19 
Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2019 
Annual Operational Plan 2019/20  
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1. THE CLINICAL CARE MODEL 
 
The Clinical Care Model describes the way The State Hospital provides high secure services 
to patients with a mental disorder, many of whom have offended. The need to review the 
Clinical Care Model arose from issues raised through a staff engagement exercise focussed 
on readiness for change. In that exercise, issues of safety were spontaneously raised in 
several responses. A presentation was given to the Board in June 2018 by the Service 
Transformation and Sustainability Group.  The Board endorsed the need to progress with a 
Clinical Model Review.  
 
The Clinical Model Review was divided in three components: 
 
a) Review of the clinical model principles: 
A review of the clinical model principles was carried out through staff consultation and 
stakeholder engagement activities. The principles of the current model were found to be still 
current and applicable for the delivery of care and treatment with a small amount of revision 
required. 
 
b) Review of safety data:  
A review of safety data related to the delivery of clinical care in the hospital was carried out 
to examine trends over a 5 year period. This was commissioned in July 2018 and reported to 
the Board in October 2018. The data reviewed included incident reports on violence and 
aggression and a staff survey. The incident data indicated: 

- There has been an increase in the number of violent and aggressive incidents in the 
last 5 years, however the trend was not linearly upward and numbers vary each year  

- No evidence was found to support the theory that TSH is dealing with a higher 
number of the prison population with antisocial behaviour who would carry out 
assaults 

- The Intellectual Disability (ID) population has more incidents and assaults than the 
Major Mental Illness (MMI) population allowing for its size 

- There is a small number of patients who carry out assaults on staff, this varies and 
this number has not shown an increasing pattern. There are a very small number of 
patients (2-3 in 2017-18) who carried out the majority of assaults 

- There is an increasingly complex use of enhanced observation, seclusion and use of 
soft restraint kit with additional staff 

 
c) Review of the clinical service delivery model: 
The review of the clinical service delivery model has been in process since December 2018 
and builds on the findings from the clinical model principles and safety review themes. A 
series of key engagement events, stakeholder consultation with internal and external 
agencies, patients, volunteers and staff had been undertaken to design a revised service 
delivery model for TSH going forward (key events noted in table one). 
 
Table One – Key Engagement Events  

Activity Timescale Status 
Staff and Patient Safety Report Oct 2018 Complete and action plan being implemented 
Review of the Principles of the Clinical Model Oct / Nov 2018 Complete with slight change to principles 
Staff Questionnaire Dec / Jan 2019 Complete and results shared with staff and participants 
Staff Workshop (creation of options) Feb 2019 Complete and options developed 
Stakeholder Workshop Feb 2019 Complete and options developed 
Patient Workshop and Engagement Feb 2019 Complete – will revisit and inform on decision making 
Staff Engagement Mar / Jun / Aug / Sep 

2019 
Complete and presentation given to Board 

Benefits Criteria Workshop May 2019 Further work agreed to define the options 
Clinical Forum Activity May – Aug 2019 Impartial definitions of the clinical environment developed 
Benefits Criteria Workshop Aug 2019 Complete 
Options Appraisal  Sep 2019 Complete 
Patient Partnership Engagement Sep & Oct 2019 Complete 
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Stakeholder Engagement Oct 2019 Complete 
Overlay of Patients against defined ward 
criteria 

Oct 2019 Complete 

Financial Model Oct 2019 Complete 
Board Meeting  Oct 2019 Endorsed 
In line with the outcome of the Options Appraisal process and the ‘emerging preferred 
option’ the State Hospital is moving towards a revised clinical configuration from April 2020, 
based on the following clinical service delivery model outline: 
 
Table Two – Sample Inpatient Distribution 

Sample Model Ward 1 Ward 2 Ward 3 
Hub 1 Admission & Assessment Treatment & Recovery Treatment & Recovery 
Hub 2 Admission & Assessment Treatment & Recovery Treatment & Recovery 
Hub 3 Intellectual Disabilities Intellectual Disabilities  
Hub 4 Transition Transition  

 
 
Agreed Definitions: 
 
 Admission and Assessment Wards 

The purpose of these wards should be about the initial assessment (including 
multidisciplinary assessments, physical health investigations, completion of structured risk 
assessments and where appropriate personality assessments) resulting in the clinical team 
being confident they have a comprehensive and robust understanding of the risk presented 
by the patient, the needs they have and being able to formulate a comprehensive care and 
treatment plan to inform the next stages of treatment. The environment will be tailored to the 
needs of the patients within an assessment area – therefore may be more restrictive. Care 
and treatment should be based upon individual patient needs as far as possible, whilst 
assessment is being undertaken.  
 
 Treatment and Recovery Wards 

These wards will meet the needs of a large proportion of the current patient cohort. The 
wards will provide ongoing treatment and rehabilitation once the individuals’ care and 
treatment needs are understood. These wards are likely to include patients with complex 
needs, high dependency and patients with additional physical needs. Patients who are high 
risk, but where the risk is well understood and the management of their risk is clearly 
articulated with a defined care package, should be placed here.  
 
 Transition Wards 

These wards will meet the needs of patients whose risk and needs are well understood and 
articulated, and the level of care and management required is lower and less intensive. The 
environment will offer the least restrictive area across the organisation as an opportunity to 
support appropriate rehabilitation for patients as they progress towards leaving The State 
Hospital.  
 
Patients may have been identified as being ready to move onto less secure settings and 
should have full grounds access, be fully compliant with their care and treatment, met many 
of their treatment goals, have a full timetable, and not require to be cared for with increased 
or enhanced levels of observations. Should the status of these change significantly, the 
patient should be transferred back to a Treatment and Recovery ward. These wards are not 
limited to patients already on the transfer list, as long as the other criteria are met.  
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2. PERSON CENTRED APPROACH 
 
The ‘Person Centred Improvement Service’ (PCIS) supports services across TSH through its 
diverse work streams contributing to the achievement of strategic objectives within the scope 
of the service, namely: 
 
 Person-centred improvement projects (Person-centred Health Care Programme)  
 Meaningful stakeholder involvement: patients, carers, volunteers, and the public (limited 

to external regulatory/supporting bodies and third sector partners) 
 Volunteer Services.  
 Carer / Named Person / visitor support. 
 Spiritual and Pastoral Care.  
 Equality Agenda. 
 Supporting the role of the Patient Advocacy Service (PAS). 
 
TSH Person Centred Delivery Plan (2018-21) builds on the national commitment to provide 
services developed through “mutually beneficial partnerships between patients, their families 
and those delivering healthcare services, which respect individual needs and values and 
which demonstrates compassion, continuity, clear communication and shared decision-
making” (Scottish Government, 2010). 
 
The Board is committed to continuously improving systems and processes which support 
safe, effective, person-centred care, adopting a balanced and proportionate response to 
legislative and national drivers including: 
 

 Mental Health Strategy (2017-2027) 
 Health and Social Care Delivery Plan (2016) 
 Rights in Mind (2017) 
 Safety and Protection of Patients, Staff and Volunteers in NHS Scotland (2017)  
 Public Sector Equality Duty (2016) 
 British Sign Language (BSL) National Plan (2017-2023) 
 Equality Act (2010) (Specific Duties) (Scotland) 
 Patient Rights (Scotland) Act (2011, updated 2019) 
 Carers (Scotland) Act (2016) 
 Fairer Scotland Duty (2018)  
 Volunteering for All: Our National Framework (2019) 

 

This year has seen extensive partnership working with external stakeholder groups, 
including the Scottish Government Person Centred Stakeholder Group, Volunteer Scotland, 
Scottish Health Council, Health Improvement Scotland and Scottish Carers’ Trust to support 
the Board to discharge its duties, adopting a tailored approach, mindful of pressure on 
resources in relation to the number of patients in its care. 
 
The Person Centred Improvement Steering Group (PCISG), meet monthly to monitor 
progress in respect of the mainstreaming of processes supporting delivery of the above 
remit. This multi-disciplinary group ensures the organisation is compliant with legislative 
requirements and supports the service to respond to national drivers and support local 
practice relating to the above portfolio.  
 
The group discuss a wide range of quarterly monitoring reports including: 
 
 Patient and Visitor Experience 
 Volunteering input 
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 Spiritual and Pastoral Care 
 Progress to TSH Equality Outcomes (2017-21) 
 Progress to TSH British Sign Language (BSL) Action Plan (2018-24) 
 Advocacy input 
 Protected Characteristic groups equality monitoring 
 Learning from Complaints and Feedback  
 Person Centred Improvement Projects 

 
In recognition of the value of maximising opportunities to embed patient and carer 
experience in service design, the ‘Learning from Feedback’ Report is also included within 
quarterly monitoring reports presented to the Clinical Governance Group (CGG) and Clinical 
Governance Committee (CGC). 
 
Key pieces of work undertaken: 
 
 Developed new improved feedback database to support more effective approach to 

identifying themes and trends and a more robust monitoring approach. 
 Delivered person-centred ‘What Matters to You?’ (WMTY) initiative  
 Facilitated patient engagement in the Clinical Care Model Consultation process. 
 Developed process to enable patients to engage in Staff and Volunteer Excellence 

Awards process. 
 Supported patient engagement in TSH3030. 
 Introduced ‘Building Thoughts, Connecting Blocks’ feedback mechanism to the 

patient feedback toolkit. 
 Facilitated carers’ event as part of the national ‘Getting Carers Connected in their 

Communities’ initiative. 
 Facilitated volunteers’ event as part of the national ‘Time to Celebrate’ initiative. 
 Increased the opportunity for the Board to hear stakeholder feedback through use of 

‘Emotional Touchpoint’ presentations. 
 Supported completion of Advocacy service tendering process 

 

Key performance indicators 

 Improvement Indicator Outcome Measures 
i. Patients from all areas of the Hospital are 

meaningfully engaged in contributing to 
service design. 

a) Patient Partnership Group (PPG) is facilitated 48/52 weeks. 
b) PPG membership includes representation from all hubs. 
c) An average of 10 patients attend PPG each week. 
d) PPG engage with a wide range of internal and external partners.  

ii. More patients have the opportunity to 
receive visits. 
 

a) 10% increase in volunteer visitor referrals when compared to 2018. 
b) Conversion rate of 70% (from referral to visits commencing). 

iii. Evidence impact of volunteering 
programme. 

a) Undertake baseline assessment using locally tailored Volunteer 
Impact Assessment. 

b) ‘Green’ level achieved for 80% of indicators. 
iv. Progress to TSH BSL Action Plan (2018-

24) 
a) 6 of total of 18 indicators achieved 

v. Carers are enabled to contribute 
meaningfully to patient outcomes. 

a) Complete baseline Triangle of Care assessment (ref 16). 
b)  ‘Green’ level achieved for 50% of indicators. 
c) Undertake cycle 2 assessment. 
d) ‘Green’ level achieved for 55% of indicators. 

vi. Quality of Equality Impact Assessments 
undertaken 

a) 25% increase in quality compliance scores when compared to 2017. 

vii.  Progress to achieving the three published 
TSH Equality Outcomes by April 2020.  

Outcome 1 – already complete. 
a) Outcome 2 - 5 of 7 indicators completed 
b) Outcome 3 – 7 of 9 indicators completed 
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 TSH patients August, 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
TSH Volunteer Visitor, September 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“At first I was nervous about taking on the role (PPG Chair) but with staff support I soon felt OK 
with it. Part of the job is keeping order in the group, it can be a bit noisy at times. Nobody falls 
out though as we are all friends. Another part of my job is taking a report to another group 
where I give them an update on what’s been happening in PPG in the last month or so. I’ve 
settled into it now and don’t feel out of place at all. Because of my role I have had the 
opportunity to meet and talk to the Chief Executive and Nursing and AHP Director. One of the 
big discussions we have had was looking at the options for the way the Hospital will run in the 
future. We had a whole morning to discuss this and it’s great that we are being asked to be 
involved in our care and treatment.” 

“We had a social event in the hub and I was able 
to invite my volunteer visitor so I had my own 
‘family’ there like other patients”. 

“I feel part of the Hospital community. I’m kept 
well informed about what’s going on which 
helps me to understand about challenges staff 
have working in this setting. Staff are very 
welcoming and make sure that the patient is 
able to enjoy his visit with me”. 
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                                                                                                  3. SCOTTISH PATIENT SAFETY PROGRAMME   
 
The Scottish Patient Safety Programme (SPSP) plays a key role in the delivery of the ‘safe’ 
ambition of the National Quality Strategy. 
 
The overall aim for SPSP (mental health) is to reduce the harm experience by individuals in 
receipt of care from Mental Health Services, with a focus on in-patient units. 
 
The SPSP work in The State Hospital is framed around the safety principles of: 
 

• Communication 
• Leadership and culture 
• Physical health 
• Least restrictive practice 

 
Key pieces of work undertaken over the past year include: 
 
Communication 
Patient Support Plans (PSPs) have been introduced across all wards.  PSPs are intended to 
provide staff with a succinct summary of the risks posed by patients who are newly admitted, 
or those who require enhanced levels of care.   
 
Where possible, patients have direct involvement in the development of the plan.  These 
plans have received positive feedback, and have enhanced communication at shift 
handovers. 
 
Leadership and Culture 
The Board operates a ‘leadership walkround’ model through which executive and non-
executive directors visit all wards and departments and engage with patients and staff on 
what matters to them about patient safety.   
 
This includes, for example, the safety of the physical environment and the cleanliness of the 
clinical areas.  Action plans are developed from these walkrounds, and they also provide an 
excellent platform for engagement of non-executive directors with front line staff and 
patients. 
 
Physical Health 
There is a strong focus on medicines safety through SPSP, with regular monitoring of the 
use of ‘as required’ medication.  Medicine incidents and omissions are also subject to 
regular scrutiny and learning from incidents is shared in the form of a bulletin, which goes 
out to all of our clinical staff. 
 
Other aspects of physical health and wellbeing are progressed through the Hospital’s 
Physical Health Steering Group.  Examples of areas considered by this group include 
monitoring of annual physical health checks, and access to on-site Primary Care Services. 
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Least Restrictive Practice 
Ensuring least restrictive practice within a high secure environment is extremely important, 
and has been a significant area of focus for SPSP work.  Over the past 12 months The State 
Hospital has focused on introducing a ‘clinical pause’ into the practice of all wards, which 
creates a planned space or ‘pause’ for the clinical team to get together following an incident 
or concern, and to agree on the safest and least restrictive approach to care.  This has had a 
positive impact on the use of restrictive care approaches such as raised levels of clinical 
observations or use of seclusion. 
 
The use of seclusion is a restrictive intervention which is carefully monitored, and use of 
seclusion has reduced since 2017. This is illustrated in the run chart below: 
 

 
  
 
The State Hospital has also introduced a tool called the Dynamic Appraisal of Situational 
Aggression (DASA) which supports shift by shift assessment of the likelihood of aggression, 
which then informs the planned care approach for that shift.  Working collaboratively with the 
e-Health Department Team, making this data available in a way that is more meaningful and 
accessible to clinical teams.  This is illustrated as shown:  
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4. HEALTH INEQUALITIES 

National rates of overweight and obesity have been rising with the Scottish male average currently 
around 65% (Scottish Health Survey 2015). The figure at The State Hospital has risen dramatically 
over the past 6 years peaking at 94% in December 2014.   
 
Projections forecast UK figures rising to 60% of men and 50% of women being clinically obese 
(BMI>30kg/m2) by 2050, which will cost the NHS almost £50b per year (Foresight report 2007). In 
Scotland, adult obesity levels are predicted to surpass 40% by 2030 (Scottish Government 2010). 
Obesity rates are significantly higher for patients cared for within a high security environment 
(52.5%), as opposed to being cared for within either medium (44.8%) or low (41.6%) secure care 
(Forensic Network Census, 2013). 
  
A 2013 audit showed that on average, patients will gain 15% of their body weight within the first year 
of admission to The State Hospital; this figure rises to a 25% gain within three years of admission.  
 
The State Hospital became ‘smoke free’ in 2011. As a result, with patient’s having a greater 
disposable income to spend on additional food items, a further audit highlighted a 2-3kg weight gain 
(per patient – including non smokers) within the first year of being a smoke free environment.   

A 20 year follow up study (Thomson and Rees, 2015), on a cohort of more than 200 former State 
Hospital patients, has discovered that 30% of the cohort are dead. The average age of death within 
these cohort members was 54 years, with the major cause of death being either cardiovascular or 
respiratory disease.  

 ‘World Mental Health Surveys’ have shown a number of reasons for patient weight gain including:  

 one’s own health and ‘make up’ (genetics) 
 more sedentary lifestyles  
 ‘modern’ working/types of employment 
 changing economics of food and global food opportunities 
 societal and peer pressures  
 rising energy intakes  

 
In patients with mental health conditions, striking a fine balance between treating mental health 
needs and physical needs can lead to patient weight gain via various factors including medication, 
disordered eating, lack of food knowledge, and factors affecting overall physical activity 
engagement.  Research supports that good physical health improves mental health and well-being, 
in turn reducing depression, anxiety, negative symptoms, improving self-esteem and cognitive 
functioning. 

A significant contributing factor to The State Hospital’s high levels of obesity is the manner in which 
the Hospital provides patients with increased opportunities to access excess food and fluids. In 
addition to the hospital meals, which adhere to the ‘Food in Hospital’s National Catering and 
Nutritional Specification (2008), patients are able to increase their calorie intake by a weekly visit to 
the Hospital shop, and receiving gifts of food during visits and via the post.  
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The Hospital remains committed to improving the physical health of our patients by monitoring each 
patient’s health via a weight management plan, as an integral part of the Care Programme 
Approach (CPA) process.  

Supporting Health Choices Implementation Plan 

The Supporting Healthy Choices Implementation Plan outlines the future strategy and service 
developments that will support and our patients to make appropriate choices related to their overall 
health and wellbeing. The following objectives have been identified in the plan: 

 Health and Wellbeing Plans  
On admission an interim Health and Wellbeing Plan will be devised within 14 days to ensure 
compliance with the Food, Fluid and Nutritional Care Standards. 
 
Following this, each patient’s Health and Wellbeing plan will be agreed at the admission 
Care Programme Approach meeting and reviewed thereafter taking into account individual 
patient needs.  
 
Health and Wellbeing Plans will developed based on the previous Nutritional Care Plans and 
will remain the responsibility of the nursing department. 
 
Health and Wellbeing Plans will be incorporated into the Care Programme Approach (CPA) 
and reviewed every six months via multidisciplinary team discussion. The Health and 
Wellbeing Plan will be included in the annual CPA audit to ensure completeness and 
evidence around the Health and Wellbeing Plan.  
 

 Physical Activity 
The Hospital strives to clearly communicate and monitor the standard that patients can 
access physical activities. The use of our electronic patient record system (RIO) records the 
physical activity undertaken by individuals and data can be extracted from this record to 
ensure the completion of the recommended local delivery plan target of 30 minutes of 
physical activity three times a week. Going forward, TSH will increase the level of activity to 
30 minutes of physical activity five times a week as per national recommendations set by the 
Physical Activity Task Force. 
 
Physical activity within the Hospital will be governed by the Physical Health Steering Group. 
 

 Additional Food Sources 
The Hospital shop is committed to ensuring compliance with the Scottish Government’s, 
Healthcare Retail Standards (HRS). The criteria set out within this document forms the HRS 
that retailers now need to follow as outlined in Section E of the Chief Medical Officer letter 
(2015) 19 of 9 October 2015.  
 
In addition, patients access food stuff from a variety of sources. Guidance is in place to 
promote healthier choices within this area and will be reviewed regularly. 

 
 Health Promotion 

Patients are provided with a variety of information and learning materials to support their 
nutritional, wellbeing and physical health and fitness needs. Specific learning modules on 
nutrition, exercise and wellbeing are currently being developed and will be made available to 
all patients and staff.  

 

 

http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2015/09/7885
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5. COMPLAINTS 
 
This section provides an overview of complaints received during the second quarter of 2019/20, 
covering the period 1 July to 30 September 2019.  
 
Complaints Received 

Complaints Received 
Annual  Quarterly  

2016/17  2017/18 2018/19  2018/19  
Q3 

2018/19  
Q4 

2019/20 
Q1 

2019/20 
Q2 

Complaints 59 121 61 21 15 16 10 
Concern / Enquiries / Other* 7 6 35 13 7 10 3 
Totals 66 127 96 34 22 26 13 

 
Key Performance Indicators 
The Complaints Handling Procedure introduced a standard approach to managing complaints 
across NHS Scotland, which complies with the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman (SPSO) and 
meets all the requirements of the Patient Rights (Scotland) Act 2011.  
 
The two-stage model enables complaints to be handled locally, by front line staff; Early Resolution 
(Stage 1) within 5 working days, or where issues are more complex, by Investigation (Stage 2) 
within 20 working days.  
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6. SECURITY, RISK AND INCIDENTS 
 
Security Tender Process 
 
The specialist nature of security at The State Hospital is of paramount importance to staff, patients, 
visitors and the general public.  
 
The State Hospital has commenced a procurement exercise to appoint a Security Integrator for the 
Enhanced Perimeter and Internal Security Enhancement Project (the project). The project obtained 
Full Business Care approval from Scottish Government. Two submissions have been received and 
TSH is currently at the ‘stand-still’ stage of awarding the contract.  
 
Security, Multi Agency Working and Resilience 
 
 A new Security Governance Group has been introduced with oversight of all safety and 

security related issues. A monthly ‘Hospital Risk Assessment’ is now being produced to 
inform decision making on an operational basis and oversee continuous improvement in staff 
and patient safety measures.  

 
 The proposals for the re-design of the seclusion suites are nearing completion and will be 

undertaken alongside the implementation of the Clinical Model 
 

 A series of familiarisation visits have been carries out with Police Scotland and Scottish Fire 
and Rescue Service. Work is also ongoing with the Scottish Prison Service to develop an 
Information Sharing Protocol. 
 

 Consideration is being given to introduce PMVA level 3 Personal Protective Equipment for 
staff. 
 

 Plans are in place for Pandemic Flu / Loss of Staff; a table top exercise is planned in 
December 2019 to test this resilience model.  
 

 Contingency plans are complete for any potential EU Exit scenario.  
 

 The State Hospital has achieved a ‘green’ status for the previous two quarters in relation to 
NHS Scotland National Cleaning Compliance Report - Domestic and Estates Cleaning 
Services Performance 2019/20 
 

Incidents 
Table Three: A summary of the incidents across The State Hospital  

Incident Type Summary 2018/19     
Q3 

2018/19   
Q4 

2019/20    
Q1 

2019/20    
Q2 

Health & Safety 239 244 252 159 
Other 134 84 46 66 

Security 104 101 56 27 
Infection Control 2 29 24 24 

Direct Patient Care 55 52 51 19 
Equipment/Facilities/Property 34 35 31 12 

Communication/Information Governance 13 12 12 8 
Totals 581 557 472 316 
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7. AN EFFECTIVE ORGANISATION 

Global Citizenship 

Following the launch of the Scottish Government’s Global Citizenship program in June 2018, Dr 
Khuram Khan (Consultant Forensic Psychiatrist) came forward with a proposal to develop the 
interface between criminal justice and mental health services in Pakistan to address the issue of 
protecting human and legal rights of people in Pakistan with mental disorder.  

He raised a number of sensitive and ethical issues including: 

 The imprisonment of people in Pakistan with major mental disorders, their lack of care and 
infringement of human rights.  

 Lack of knowledge of courts regarding mental disorders such as schizophrenia, resulting at 
times in the imposition of the death penalty. 

https://www.samaa.tv/news/2019/03/schizophrenic-death-row-convict-khizar-hayat-passes-
away-in-lahore/ 

Capital punishment is a legal penalty in Pakistan. A moratorium on executions was imposed 
in 2008. No executions occurred from 2009 to 2011 or 2013, with 1 in 2012. The moratorium 
was lifted fully after the tragic massacre of 132 students and 9 members of staff of the Army 
Public School and Degree College Peshawar, and routine executions resumed. Pakistan 
carried out 7 executions in 2014, 333 in 2015, 87 in 2016, 65 in 2017, and 14 in 2018. 
Hanging is the only legal method of execution.  

• The punishment of blasphemy against any recognized religion under the Pakistan Penal 
Code, the main criminal code of Pakistan, with penalties ranging from a fine to death. In 
addition, since 1990, 62 people have been murdered following blasphemy allegations. 
Religious delusions are however, common manifestations of psychotic illness and some 
blasphemy cases appearing before the courts are likely to involve mental disorder. 

Dr Khan proposed an educational programme working with mental health colleagues in Pakistan to 
address the issues regarding mental disorder. He was nominated as the Scottish Global Citizenship 
program champion representing The State Hospitals Board for Scotland.  He works as a Consultant 
Forensic Psychiatrist in The State Hospital, Carstairs and has a detailed working knowledge of the 
Scottish mental health and criminal justice systems, and of the care and treatment of mentally 
disordered offenders. He intends to replicate and embed the principles and methods of the Scottish 
medico-legal and forensic mental health systems in Pakistan with the help of the School of Forensic 
Mental Health (SoFMH), Pakistan Psychiatric Society and Human Rights organisations in Pakistan. 
He has worked diligently and successfully in this role, explaining the rationale for this initiative, 
making links in Pakistan and Scotland, piloting teaching sessions in Pakistan (whilst using holiday 
leave) and developing the educational programme. The first programme was delivered on two days 
(3rd and 4th October 2019) in Karachi, Pakistan.  

What were they trying to achieve? 
Dr Khan has been working to establish links between the School of Forensic Mental Health 
(SoFMH) Scotland and the Pakistan Psychiatric Society http://www.jpps.com.pk/pps.html, to 
develop and deliver (educational material and create ongoing teaching and training links that allow 
the use of technology to ensure the sustainability of these educational initiatives. 
 

https://www.samaa.tv/news/2019/03/schizophrenic-death-row-convict-khizar-hayat-passes-away-in-lahore/
https://www.samaa.tv/news/2019/03/schizophrenic-death-row-convict-khizar-hayat-passes-away-in-lahore/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2014_Peshawar_school_massacre
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2014_Peshawar_school_massacre
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hanging
http://www.jpps.com.pk/pps.html
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In his interactions with various sections of the society in Karachi in 2018, Dr Khan realised the need 
to address issues of knowledge and awareness about capacity and Human Rights, not only in 
professionals but also in those working in related fields.  
 

Overall goal 

To train Pakistani mental health and criminal justice system professionals as well as those within 
Human Rights and voluntary organisations on mental disorder, offending and the law. 

Aims 

 To establish links between the School of Forensic Mental Health (SoFMH) and the Pakistan 
Psychiatric Society (PPS). 

 To develop interactive teaching materials on mental disorder, offending and the law using 
the Scottish Approved Medical Practitioner courses as examples. 

 To deliver the developed educational programme twice yearly to mental health and criminal 
justice professionals, and those working in related voluntary and Human Rights 
organisations. 

 To create ongoing teaching and training links that allow the use of technology to ensure the 
sustainability of these educational initiatives. 

 To support the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Pakistan (CPSP) to develop 
Forensic Psychiatry as a super specialty in near future.  

 To help Sindh Mental Health Authority to embed the Sindh Mental Health Act 
 To facilitate the discussion to legislate for a Pakistan Capacity Act by promoting awareness 

and knowledge of Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000. 
 To address the sensitive issues of blasphemy and sexuality which are currently punishable 

under Pakistani legislation and may lead to psychiatric assessment.  
 To support via education and training the Pakistan Commission of Human Rights to 

promote the role of Article 5 and Article 8 in Psychiatric practice.  
  

Outcomes 

 Improved outcomes for mentally disordered offenders (MDOs) in Pakistan 
 Improved knowledge of mental health and legal professionals, and those from relevant 

voluntary and Human Rights organisations on mental disorders offending and the law 
 Reduced inequalities in the treatment of MDOs in Pakistan  
 Better equipped Pakistani Psychiatrists and mental health professionals, and Solicitors 

about issues on the interface of mental disorder/offending and law. This will help the 
Pakistani courts to discharge their duties more satisfactorily. 

 Longer term development of forensic mental health services in Pakistan. 
 The spread of Mental Health legislation from Sindh Province to the other 3 provinces in 

Pakistan to remove attempted suicide as a punishable offence. 
 Greater understanding of issues around blasphemy and sexuality.  

What did they do? 

Initial links 
Dr Khan visited Pakistan in October 2018 and held a number of meetings with human rights 
activists as well as the Psychiatric fraternity. He delivered lectures in Dow University of Medical 
Sciences and Jinnah Post Graduate Medical Centre in Karachi. He was approached by the 
President of the Pakistan Psychiatric Society, Professor Iqbal Afridi with a request to develop a two 
day program to teach health/justice professionals about the issues of mental disorder, offending 
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and law. This programme will be delivered twice a year and has been designed not only for mental 
health and legal professionals but also for those working in related voluntary and Human Rights 
Organisations to promote awareness about of legal rights and responsibilities. 
 
Obtaining Project Support 
Dr Khan has had the project formally supported by the State Hospitals Board for Scotland, the 
Forensic Mental Health Services Managed Care Network and the School of Forensic Mental Health.  
 
Development of Teaching Materials 
The programme is designed as an interactive PowerPoint presentation with discussions, case 
examples and quizzes sprinkled throughout. This presentation is 90 slides long and will be delivered 
over two days discussing issues such as Human Rights, Capacity Assessments, Mental Health Act, 
Interface between mental and criminal justice systems, helping the courts to avoid miscarriage of 
justice in mentally disordered offenders’ cases and improving knowledge about the link between 
mental disorder and offending.  
 
A full section in the presentation is dedicated to the issues of Capacity Assessment and its 
implications for people with mental and physical health disorders. Pakistan does not have a Mental 
Capacity Act and a case is going to be put forward to learn from the Adults with Incapacity 
(Scotland) Act 2000 with a view to legislating for Pakistan’s own Mental Capacity Act. The School of 
Forensic Mental Health will be able to facilitate this along with Pakistan Psychiatric Society under 
the auspices of Sindh Mental Health Authority. 
 
Evaluation Plan 
The participants in the course will receive a certificate of attendance and competency achieved 
signed by SoFMH and PPS. Completion of this course will allow the psychiatrists in Pakistan to 
legally administer the compulsory treatments and act as an Approved Psychiatrist under Sindh 
Mental Health Act 2013. SoFMH will evaluate the quality of the course by utilizing standardized 
methods as used in other aspects of training programmes. 
 
Course Delivery 
This course was conducted on 3rd and 4th of October 2019 (Dr Khan will travel to Karachi to facilitate 
the teaching) and twice yearly after that. Number of participants was around 150. 
 
What impact or results did it have? 
Dr Khan’s efforts to engage with various professionals in Pakistan since 2018 has created a formal 
link between the Scottish educational institution SoFMH and the Pakistan Psychiatric Society. Dr 
Khan arranged a number of sessions individually and in groups with Pakistani professionals to 
explain the workings of Scottish medico-legal system and the teaching programme to equip mental 
health and criminal justice professionals to interact smoothly at the interface between the two 
systems for the benefit of the patients. Dr Khan also arranged case-based discussions with 
psychiatrists in various teaching hospitals. He also interacted with mental health charity organization 
“Taskeen” https://en-gb.facebook.com/taskeenteam/, and attended educational awareness 
programmes facilitated by Alizeh Waljee (twitter.com/AlizehValjee ) in primary and secondary 
schools to promote mental health awareness.  
 
Dr Khan was successful in raising the awareness that the challenge to embed the Sindh (Pakistan) 
Mental Health Act, which was enacted in 2013, can be achieved by designing a teaching 
programme similar to Scottish Approved Medical Practitioner programme. This programme teaches 
professionals about the application of the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003 
as well as Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995. The current problem in Pakistan is that the Act 
is not well used and only exists in one of four provinces. Dr Khan has had immediate impact in 
raising awareness of these problems and had provided a solution which will come formally into use 
in October 2019. 

https://en-gb.facebook.com/taskeenteam/
https://twitter.com/AlizehValjee
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The importance of this work is emphasized by our colleagues in Pakistan is shown below. 

On behalf of Pakistan Psychiatric Society, we are very thankful to Dr. Khuram Khan and his NHS 
State Hospital, Scotland, for collaborating and providing services to understand, promote and 
implement the Mental Health Act of Sindh to reduce the gap between law and mental health in 
Pakistan, and to develop and provide forensic psychiatric services which is one of the emerging sub 
specialty in Psychiatry in Pakistan.  This is done keeping in view the vision of NHS Scotland Global 
Citizenship Chapter of SG International Development Impact Report 2018-19. 

According to current provisional law “The Sindh Mental Health Act 2013”, the Sindh Mental Health 
authority (Government of Sindh) has to approve psychiatrists in order to fulfill and implement the law 
throughout province, to ensure proper care and services which will help in safeguarding the rights of 
Psychiatric patients and Psychiatrists. The two day training course that Dr. Khan and our team (Prof. 
Dr. M. Iqbal Afridi) is working on, will hopefully make the understanding of the mental health act easier 
not only for psychiatrists but also to other relevant authorities such as police department and judicial 
system etc. and lay down a path to smoothen the provided services. 

This will also give us a chance to understand the current effective systems of forensic psychiatry in 
Scotland and United Kingdom, which will in turn be an enormous help in future for developing forensic 
psychiatric services in Pakistan. 

Prof. Dr. Muhammad Iqbal Afridi  
M.B.B.S., M.C.P.S. Psych (Pak), F.C.P.S. Psych (Pak), F.R.C.P(Ireland)  
President, Pakistan Psychiatric Society. 
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8. HUMAN RESOURCES 
 

1. Gender mix currently: 58% female, 42% male.  
 

2. Attendance Management: April 5.54%, May 5.34%, June 5.56%, July 5.13%, August 6.10%  
 
- Highest reason: stress anxiety & other psych illness 
- Highest absence groups: Estates 16.8%,  HR 14.4%, Nursing 10.0%, Security 8.0%  
- Lowest absence groups: CEO Office 0%, Medical 0%, Facilities 0.1%, Clinical 

Psychology 0.7% Finance 0.3% 
 
Absence % Trends for previous 5 years: 

 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

2015/16 6.78 6.91 6.94 8.58 9.90 9.75 7.73 8.47 7.87 8.51 6.04 6.66 

2016/17 6.46 6.56 8.00 8.75 8.83 8.42 9.34 9.23 10.32 9.46 7.38 7.26 

2017/18 7.89 7.93 7.81 8.89 9.64 8.07 8.53 8.13 9.23 10.06 6.92 7.94 

2018/19 8.87 9.73 9.84 9.90 8.27 6.83 8.88 8.93 7.30 9.25 6.06 6.34 

2019/20 5.55 5.34 5.56 5.13 6.10        

 
3. Suspension - 1 / Conduct - 9 /  D.A.W – 3 / Whistleblowing – 0 / Grievances – 5 

 
4. Vacancies  

 
Quarterly Position w.t.e.  Mid-Year Position w.t.e. 

Total    580 wte in post against 610 wte 583 wte in post against 610 wte 
    
     

 
Opportunities:  

 TSH as a pilot site for ‘end to end’ tools Health & Care Staffing Scotland Bill (passed May 
2019 awaiting Royal Assent). Contacted made with CNO Scotland team to offer TSH as pilot 
site – meeting scheduled in December 2019. Good progress is being made internally for the 
enactment of the legislation. Workforce lead is in post; workload tools will have been run in 
all wards by the end of November. Baseline tools for Lewis Hub aligned against high level 
benchmarking intelligence from NHS England High and Medium Secure service benchmark 
staffing models. These baseline modelling outcomes have been factored into the 
establishment assumptions for the new Clinical Model  
 

 Aim to establish modern apprenticeship programme from April 2020 – youth employment 
priority for NHS Boards  

 
 Aim to train circa 5 HCSW per annum to support career development, employee prospects, 

and retention. TSH have developed a positive relationship with OU, we currently have x7 
Healthcare Assistants undertaking programmes of higher education to become registered 
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nurses. This is a strong example of developing career progression and pathways for new 
and existing staff at The State Hospital. 

 
 Healthy Working Life – remains at gold standard within The State Hospital 

 
 Sturrock Review – Progress continues, embedding redesign principles into the 

implementation process for the Clinical Model. This will run from January to March 2020. 
 
 TSH 3030: 41 projects received from staff and teams across the organisation focused on 

quality improvement. TSH 3030 will run throughout the month of November. Proven 
concepts of good practice and quality improvement initiatives will be embedded into service 
change post evaluation.  

 
 On target to take workforce plan to Board in December 2019 will share with MH Directorate 

once concluded.  
 
 Proactive engagement with local higher education establishments; key aim is to offer posts 

prior to graduation and registration, particularly for I.D. trained staff.  
 
 The State Hospital held its first Staff Excellence Awards ceremony on 24 October 2019. A 

presentation of long service awards was undertaken to celebrate staff who have achieved 
20, 30 and 40 year service within the National Health Service in Scotland. Seven specific 
awards, voted for by staff and patients were also given out in the following categories: 

 
- Outstanding Award voted for by patients 
- Outstanding Individual Clinical 
- Outstanding Individual Non-Clinical 
- Outstanding Team Clinical 
- Outstanding Team Non-Clinical 
- Outstanding Volunteer 
- Outstanding Care 
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9. FINANCE 
 
Summary – Underspend position of £0.165m to 30 September 2019  

 

The annual budget of £37.619m is primarily the Scottish Government Revenue Resource Limit 
allocation provided to the Board, together with some additional recurring allocations. 
 
In addition, some funding has been provided in 2018/19 towards part of the pay settlement 
consequential to the outcome of the case of Locke v British Gas – “payment as if at work” / “PAIAW” 
relating to additional holiday pay due to staff in regular receipt of historic overtime payment.  The 
funding received, however, does not fully compensate the board for the liability in 2018/19 – with the 
excess noted below as a financial pressure for the year. 
 
The Board is reporting an under spend position of £0.165m to 30 September 2019, the table below 
shows analysis by expenditure type. 
 

Spend Type Annual Budget £’000k YTD Budget £’000k YTD Actual £’000k YTD Variance £,000 

Pay 31,567 15,563 15,517 46 
Non Pay 4,964 2,446 2,287 159 

Capital Charges 2,857 1,429 1,423 5 
Purchase of Healthcare 792 381 360 21 

Savings* (1,375) (73) 0 (73) 
HCH Income (603) (365) (355) (10) 

Other Oper’g Income (582) (291) (307) 16 
 37,619 19,090 18,925 165 
*Savings aligned to actual months 
 
The in-month favourable variance for September was £0.053m, with the below table noting the 
progression of monthly variances in each month of the year. 
 
In-month 
variance 
£’000 

April May June July August September 
 

(39) 
 

(28) 
 

76 
 

38 
 

65 
 

53 
    
At this mid-year stage in prior years, the board has reported overspends of £(0.380)m [2018], 
£(0.174)m [2017] and £(0.129)m [2016].  The position for 2019 therefore represents an 
improvement on recent recurring performance. 
 
In previous years, TSH have had improved Ward Nursing variances in the summer months which 
have then significantly worsened through autumn into winter – usually from August / September.  
The key differential for 2019/20 is that August and September have this year continued at the 
improved level.  Focus now must be on sustaining the current level of spend through October-March 
and indeed continuing to look for ways to reduce further.  An important aspect of this will be the 
implementation of the new Clinical Model, currently in the post-evaluation stage and due to be 
implemented for April 2020. 
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Key areas of current financial pressure / potential benefits: 
 
There are a number of specific financial pressures currently noted for 2019/20 and being addressed 
by the board – as follows:  

 
1 – while an element of this liability has been supported by additional allocation, there remains an unfunded period – in part payable in 
December 2019 – for which the board is liable.  In addition, there is the possibility of further claims being made in relation to earlier 
financial years, which would also require to be funded directly by the board. 
2 – there remain historic staff rebanding reviews arising from outcomes being agreed after lengthy processes, requiring payments of 
arrears from any increased banding arising. 
3 – while the initial appraisal of the preferred option for the clinical model review does not identify an increase in nurse staffing costs, 
until the full review process is completed there remains the risk of other departmental or implementation costs being identified which 
will require mitigation. 
4 – legal fees are high in the current year to date due to certain specific cases, and advisory work required on the perimeter project 
tender and contract award. 
5 – evaluation will be undertaken in late 2019/20 of the impact of any staff within this category. 
6 – while there are no costs currently identified, this will remain a focus until the process is complete to ensure awareness of any direct 
consequences. 
7 – this is now expected to be included in our final capital sum, on the basis of recent assurances, but until the final contract signing 
and work is underway it should continue to be notes as a potential risk. 
8 – since the hospital applied charges to territorial boards for patients under exceptional circumstances, only one board to date has 
settled the due payment.  The other relevant boards are being addressed as a priority. 
9 – supported by external advisors, the recovery of an element of VAT paid on utilities continues to be progressed.  HMRC has settled 
in our favour to reduce VAT on utilities to 5% from 20% – for which the Electricity aspect is nearly concluded, and we are still awaiting 
details on Oil and Gas. 
 
In addition, a further pressure for 2020/21 has been identified with the pending upgrade required to 
the patient electronic record system (RiO).  This will have significant requirements for both financial 
cost and the level of resource necessary to deliver the project.  Due to this expected scale, the 
scope of which is currently being evaluated, it is intended that a separate case for funding will be 
submitted in this regard. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Current year financial pressures Risk Estimate £'000k 
1 Holiday Pay (& possible retrospection) – Locke v British Gas    High 210 
2 Rebandings arrears High tbc 
3 Clinical Model Review High tbc 
4 Legal Fees High 103 
5 3 yr up for opt out sup'an Nov 19 (approx 100 staff not sup'an) Med tbc 
6 EU Exit (may get guidance from sub group) Low tbc 
7 Perimeter Fence FBC – additional staff (capital pending) Low 193 
 Potential benefits Risk 

 8 Exceptional Circumstance Patients (recharging host boards) Med 290 
9 VAT element on Utilities in our favour (v HMRC)  Low 120 
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Savings 
The principal challenge for the current year savings remains the level as yet unidentified for the 
remainder of the year. 

 
(Savings split into twelfths) 

 
This issue continues to be thoroughly addressed at every individual monthly directorate budget 
review meeting, with steps taken towards plans being more clearly identified through the mid-year 
reviews during October.  Current reviews have highlighted strong savings contributions from across 
all directorates, with the phasing of other spending, for example research projects, enabling further 
contribution in the second half of the year.   
 
However, with a strong emphasis on non-recurring savings, and with pressures expected to 
continue, at least at current levels if not higher, into 2020/21 and beyond, the focus on future years’ 
savings requires to be addressed strongly on recurring elements which will include detailed 
appraisal of the expected benefits to arise from the April 2020 implementation of the revised Clinical 
Model. 
 
The board continues to contribute to the National Boards’ £15m savings target, currently at the level 
of £220k in line with 2018/19. 
 
 
Forecast 
The board continues to forecast a break-even outcome for the year ending 31 March 2020, with full 
achievement of savings for the year, including the contribution of £220k towards the National 
Boards’ recurring target of £15m collaborative savings. 
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THE STATE HOSPITAL ANNUAL REVIEW 
  
PROGRESS IN 2017-18 (ARISING FROM SEPTEMBER 2017 ANNUAL REVIEW 
 

Action Points Planned Actions Timescale Position as at end March 2018 and ongoing work required 

1.  The State Hospital to keep 
Health Directorates up to date 
on progress in partnership 
working. 
 
 

Further expansion of staff 
pool. 

 
Reinvest savings from OT 
spend to substantive 
workforce. 

 
Reduce Sickness absence by 
3%. (see 4 below). 

 
Staff consultation on Clinical 
Model 

 
Joint staff side / management 
½ day session to potential 
identify issues resulting in 
informal action and adverse 
publicity. 

Early 2019 
 
 

Early 2019 
 
 
 

March 2019 
 
 

Dec 2018 
 
 

Dec 2018 
 

The State Hospital has continued to work in partnership and deliver 
key outcomes e.g. restructuring of Nursing and AHP services, 
Values and Behaviours programme, WF Transitions group and 
Partnership Forum. 
 
However, there have been significant challenges which have 
concerned management and staff side representatives including: 

 Staff availability due to high level of sickness absence 

 Safety concerns relating to limited staff availability, 
increased clinical activity and consequent movement of staff 
to areas of greatest demand. 

 
Achievements 
Steps have been taken in partnership to increase staff availability, 
improve attendance / wellbeing and review safety; specifically  

 

 Recruitment to a staff pool (~10 WTE x 0.6 WTE) to provide 
an additional, more flexible dimension to the workforce.   

 Capping overtime to 23 hrs per week to reduce staff fatigue 
and potential issues of ill- health 

 Establishing an Attendance Management Task Group. 

 Safety review and specific visits by Senior Management to 
hotspots (e.g. ID) to identify potential solutions with teams 
and to inform new Clinical Model. 

 
All of these achievements enhance workforce capacity and 
consequently support TSH to supplement the delivery of safe, 
effective and person-centred care.  
 
Challenges  
Recent informal action and adverse publicity has created further 
concern and plans are in place to review and enhance future 
partnership working. 
 

2.  The State Hospital to keep 
the Health Directorates up to 
date on improving the 

 Review frequency and 
staffing of Slim and Trim 
Group. 

Early 2019 
 
 

The percentage of patients that have an unhealthy BMI has 
decreased to 75.75% from 85.5% in June 2017.  This is positive 
and supported by a concurrent reduction in those overweight from 
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physical wellbeing of patients, 
particularly on work to support 
patients in relation to diet and 
obesity.  
 
 

Obtain CLO advice on 
enforcement of health and 
wellbeing plans. 
 
Pilot use of iPads for 
external purchases by 
patients. 
 
Update visitor food and 
fluid advice list. 
 
Monitor food items 
received by parcel or 
courier. 
 
Monitor unplanned time in 
rooms. 
 
Promote and monitor 
physical activity. 

 

January 2019 
 
 
 
Commenced  
 
 
 
In place  
 
 
Ongoing  
 
 
 
Ongoing  
 
 
Ongoing  
 

34.6% (June ’17) to 27.7% in Dec ’17.   Despite this, levels of those 
obese remain stable at 55.3%, having been 56.5% (Dec ‘17).  
 
The updates from the Supporting Choices Implementation Plan 
include: 
 

 A physical activity booklet has been produced which will be 
prescribed to patients with a BMI over 30 by the Clinical 
Teams.  Copies will also available in the patient’s library, 
sports and fitness department and through the Slim and 
Trim group as a motivational booklet for all patients.   

 A new information sheet has been developed and is now 
included within each Carer Welcome Pack. 

 An electronic CTM pilot commenced in Lewis on 16/04/2018 
and has now been implemented across the hospital. The 
new format will prompt discussion of physical activity and 
LDP targets. 

 Healthy eating, healthy living, and slim and trim are up and 
running.  The Frequency of these meetings is dependent on 
the number of referrals and staffing resources. 

 The implementation of the Healthy Retail Standards to the 
shop has reduced a patient’s choice of unhealthy items by 
80% but the change has had little or no impact on individual 
purchasing habits.  

 Shop staff continue to feel that they are unable to challenge 
amounts purchased by individuals given Health and 
Wellbeing Plans are not in place. 

 External food procurement ceased on 31/10/2017 

 Agreement has been reached that iPads will be used to 
create opportunities for patients to browse online for non 
food items with support of nursing staff. Patients will not be 
able to purchase directly from a website, this process will 
remain as is through procurement.  Two iPads have been 
purchased and are currently being configured by e-health.  
These will be installed on Arran ward to allow for testing  

 The updated Visitors food and fluids list will be included in 
the carer welcome pack as of August 2018. 

 Food/fluid items are being sent via post/courier. The current 
understanding is that volumes are low; however, there may 
be an increase in this practice, as a result of the cessation 
of external supermarket procurement.   This issue requires 
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careful consideration as there are potential legal 
implications in respect of restricting access to patients’ mail. 
SHCIG to make recommendations to Medical Director who 
will seek advice from CLO prior to SMT SBAR. 

 At the June SMT, money was allocated for the purchase of 
two further exercise bikes for the wards. This comes on the 
back of a successful pilot of having exercise bikes on a 
ward in Arran and Lewis. Physical activity data shows that 
the relocation of these bikes from the hub gym to the ward 
has led to improved use. The additional bikes were placed 
on Iona and Mull 

 Pieces of exercise equipment have been relocated to the 
central grounds where more patients go on grounds access. 

 New menu will be introduced in May 2018. PPG and 
Catering have been involved in the process. 

 Recent staff shortages have led to patients spending more 
times in their rooms and being provided with high calorific 
finger food more often such as fish and chip, burgers and 
chips.  This has happened 4 times over the past two months  

 Following the successful implementation of the electronic 
recording of patient’s physical activity levels using Rio in 
December 2017 and a outcomes report submitted to the 
Clinical Governance Group in January 2018, where it was 
agreed to increase the Local Delivery Plan target from 60% 
to 80% of patients participating in 90 minutes of moderate 
physical activity per week as the Hospital has developed  
systems to improve the monitoring and provide more 
accurate information around patients physical activity.   

 
Main Challenges 
 
Effective  
Healthy eating, healthy living, and Slim and Trim group are up and 
running.  The frequency of these meetings is dependent on the 
number of referrals and staffing resources. 
 
Person Centred  
Shop staff continue to feel that they are unable to challenge 
amounts purchased by individuals given Health and Wellbeing 
Plans are not in place. 
 
Food/fluid items are being sent via post/courier.  The current 
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understanding is that volumes are low; however there may be an 
increase in this practice, as a result of the cessation of external 
supermarket procurement.  This issue requires careful 
consideration as there are potential legal implications in respect of 
restricting access to patients’ mail.  SHCIG to make 
recommendations to Medical Director who will seek advice from 
CLO prior to SMT SBAR. 
 
Main Achievements 
 
Effective  
A physical activity booklet has been produced which will be 
prescribed to patients with a BMI over 30 by the Clinical Teams.  
Copies will also available in the patients’ library, sports and fitness 
department and through the Slim and Trim group as a motivational 
booklet for all patients. 
 
An electronic Clinical Team Meeting pilot commenced in Lewis on 
13/04/20018 and has now been implemented across the hospital.  
The new format will prompt discussion of physical activity and LDP 
targets. 
 
External food procurement ceased on 31/10/2017. Agreement has 
been reached that iPads will be used to create opportunities for 
patients to browse online for non food items with support of nursing 
staff.  Patients will not be able to purchase directly from a website, 
this process will remain as is through procurement.   
 
Person Centred  
 
Two further exercise bikes have been purchased for the wards.  
This comes on the back of a successful pilot of having exercise 
bikes on a ward in Arran and Lewis.  Physical activity data shows 
that the relocation of these bikes from the hub gym to the ward had 
led to improved use.  
  
Pieces of exercise equipment have relocated to the central grounds 
where more patients go on grounds access. 
 
A new menu will be introduced in May 2018.  PPG and Catering 
have been involved in the process. 
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3.  The State Hospital to keep 
Health Directorates up to date 
on action to address reducing 
the levels of aggressive 
incidents by patients. 
  
 

Review of staff and patient 
safety within the Hospital with 
report and action plan. 
 
Roll out of work of the ‘clinical 
pause’ model across all 
wards.   
 
Review of personal protective 
equipment available for staff 
in higher risk care situations, 
such as seclusion events.   
 
Improve compliance with 
mandatory prevention and 
management of violence and 
aggression training.  
 
Embedding the use DASA (a 
dynamic risk assessment tool) 
to inform shift by shift 
assessment of patient risk of 
aggression, and linked to 
tableau for reporting to clinical 
teams.  
 
Roll out of trauma informed 
care training for staff.  
 
Develop proposals for 
enhanced support for staff 
post incident. 

December 2018 
 
 

 
March 2019 

 
 
 

March 2019 
 
 
 

 
March 2019 

 
 
 

 
March 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

During 2019 
 
 

March 2019 
 

All incidents of violence and aggression are recorded via the DATIX 
system, with 270 incidents reported during 17/18 in the assault and 
attempted assault categories. 
 
Assault – 100 
Attempted assault – 170  
 
This has increased from the figure reported in 16/17, when there 
were 52 assaults reported, and 112 attempted assaults. 
 
In 2017, two patients assaulted staff eleven and twelve times 
respectively and that accounted for 56 % of all assaults in that year. 
Overall three patients in 2017/18 were significantly more 
assaultative than others.       
 
All high graded incidents are reviewed by the Senior Management 
Team on a monthly basis. There was one high graded incident 
related to assault during this period which resulted in a Category 1 
review.   
 
Monitoring of all incidents is via the Clinical Governance 
Committee, who receive a quarterly incidents report, and also via 
the Health, Safety and Welfare Committee. Our Local Clinical 
Forums also receive a quarterly clinical outcomes monitoring report 
which includes data on assaults and attempted assaults.  
   
Staff training and development is critical to ensuring a focus on 
reducing levels of violence and aggression. Within the State 
Hospital, the training is Prevention and Management of Violence 
and Aggression (PMVA), with a strong emphasis on prevention and 
a rights based approach to practice. Training is delivered at 2 
levels, with level 1 focused on personal safety, and level 2 being in 
depth training that all front line clinical staff undertake. Details of 
training delivery are: 
    
Level 1 PMVA Training 
18 training courses were delivered during 2017-18.  
Total of 202 staff attended. 
Capacity uptake on training places was 93.5%. 
At 31 March 2018, a total of 92.2% of staff within the target group 
were compliant with Level 1 PMVA training requirements. 
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Level 2 PMVA Training 
16 training courses were delivered during 2017/18. 
Total of 134 staff attended. 
Capacity uptake on training places was 69%. 
At 31 March 2018, a total of 79.9% of staff within the target group 
were compliant with PMVA Level 2 training requirements. 
 
The Board continues to drive improvement in this area through the 
Scottish Patient Safety Programme, with a focus on ensuring 
compliance with risk assessment completion, improving 
communication at handovers (including patients who are being 
cared for off-site in district general hospitals) and ensuring support 
and learning through post incident debrief. 
 
Achievements 
 
Effective 
Our reporting and monitoring of incidents is becoming more 
sophisticated, with increased use of trend data.  
 
Safe  
DASA has been introduced to all wards.  
 
Through SPSP, we can evidence compliance with risk assessment 
completion which informs our care approach.  
 
Compliance with PMVA level 1 training remains high.  
 
Person Centred 
Our analysis of data demonstrates that the majority of assaults on 
staff related to a very small number of patients. Highly 
individualised plans were implemented for these patients balancing 
safety with rights based care.     
 
Challenges 
 
Safe  
Staff release for PMVA level 2 training can be challenging where 
backfill of staff is requirement.  
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Safe 
The number of assaults on staff has increased during the reporting 
period.  
 

4.  The State Hospital to keep 
Health Directorates up to date 
on action to improve 
performance in relation to 
sickness absence and on 
further work on value and 
behaviours.   
 
 

CEO and HRD to meet with 
Directors to monitor and 
discuss sickness absence 
performance. 
 
Staff engagement through 
focus groups and CEO staff 
meetings to understand 
issues/ consider impact of 
sickness absence. 
 
Learnpro Module 
development and completion 
to enhance staff / managers 
understanding of policy. 
 
Support Managers implement 
policy via enhanced HR 
support, checklists, provision 
of data, monitoring of 
compliance, etc. 
 

Wef Oct 2018 
 
 
 
 

Oct / Nov 18 
 
 
 
 
 

Oct – Dec 2018 
 
 
 
 

Wef Sept 2018 

An Attendance Management Improvement Working Group was re-
convened in August 2018 due to the significant rise in  sickness 
absence levels (June 18 - 9.80%, source ISD).  The group 
established an Action Plan with an aim to reduce sickness absence 
by 3% by March 2019.  Four areas of focus were identified: 
 

 Leadership 

 Training & Support 

 Policy Compliance 

 Monitoring performance. 
 
Achievements  
A sickness absence level of 6.83% was achieved in Sept 2018; 
delivering in 2 months, the 3% target reduction.  It is recognised 
that the focus must continue to sustain/ further improve this level. 
 
Challenges  
It is recognised that the challenge is to maintain the focus on 
attendance management to sustain/further improve on the level of 
sickness absence.  

5.  The State Hospital to 
continue to keep Health 
Directorates up to date on all 
matters relating to media 
activity and any 
correspondence with patients 
and families and/or carers 
which may require 
government officials and/or 
Ministers to become involved. 
 

Keeping Health Directorates 
up to date with media activity 
continues as per existing 
routine operational practice. 
 
Working in partnership, lines 
to be taken are shared / 
discussed / agreed as 
appropriate to the benefit of 
both organisations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The news media continues to be a significant influential audience 
for The State Hospital.  Due to the nature of the business, contact 
with the broadcast media is usually reactive and contact with 
healthcare journals / trade press is mostly proactive.   
 

 Media Enquiries – 22 media enquiries were received in 
2017/18: 
 
3 x Supreme Court Judgement 
3 x Staff Assault 
3 x Patient Transfers 
2 x Smoking 
1 x Patient Conviction 
1 x Personal Attack Alarm (PAA) Malfunction 
1 x Chicken Therapy 
1 x Razor Attack 



 

 9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Patients and families and/or 
carers 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Patients and 
families and / or 
carers 
 

1 x Sickness Absence 
1 x Forensic Network Report 
1 x Siren Activation 
1 x Documentary 
1 x Financial Pressures 
1 x Patient Facebook Page 
1 x Patient Incident 
 

• Media Releases - One Media Release was issued to the local 
press in December 2017.  This was entitled ‘A Fond Farewell to 
State Hospital Chaplain’. 

 
• Media Features – None in 2017/18. 

 
• Media Leaks – Five ‘media leaks’ (by a State Hospital source / 

insider) were reported through Datix during 2017/18. 
 

• Freedom of Information (FOI) requests – There were 46 
requests made in total; 45 were answered and one was 
withdrawn before completion.  FOI is applicant blind therefore it 
cannot be determined how many were from the media. 

 
• Academic Articles Published - The Research Committee’s 

Annual Report 2017/18 notes 14 publications. 
 
 
During the year, there were no matters relating to media activity 
and any correspondence with patients and families and / or carers 
which may require government officials and / or Ministers to 
become involved. 
 

6.  The State Hospital to liaise 
with the Health Directorates 
on succession planning for 
key senior roles. 
 
 

Per summary in column to 
right 

Ongoing The current CEO and Chair met formally with SG sponsors; Penny 
Curtis & Andrew Scott, on 8th March 2018 to advise of the planned 
retirements and arrangements for recruitment. 
 
The State Hospital Board has been updated monthly on recruitment 
progress. 
 
Challenges 
The seamless transition of staff into new senior roles is vital to 
ensure leadership stability in TSH and critical to maintain and 
improve the delivery of safe, effective, person centred care across 
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the Board.  
 

 
 



Patients will 
be engaged in 
psychological 
treatment.

THE STATE HOSPITAL

AT A GLANCE 2017/18

RESULT  94.4%G

Target 85%

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)
GREEN (G) - Achieved / Exceeded
AMBER (A) - Working Towards
RED (R) - Needs Improvement

Patients will be offered an 
annual physical health review.

Target 90%

Target 100% Patients requiring 
primary care services 
will have access within 
48 hours.

RESULT  100%G

RESULT  100%G

Patients will commence 
psychological therapies   
<18 weeks from referal 
date.

Target 100% Target 100% Patients have 
their clinical risk 
assessment reviewed 
annually.

RESULT  100%G RESULT  99.1%G

Patients transfered 
/ discharged using 
the Care Programme 
Approach (CPA).

Target 100%

RESULT  99%G



Patients will have 
a healthier Body 
Mass Index (BMI).

RESULT  15.8%R
Target 25% Target 5%

Sickness absence 
(National HEAT 
stardard is 4%). RESULT  8.52%R

Patients will be 
engaged in off-hub 
activity centres.

Target 90%

RESULT  78.7%R

Staff have an 
approved Personal 
Development Plan 
(PDP).

Target 100%
RESULT  84.7%A

Patients have their 
care and treatment 
plans reviewed at six 
monthly intervals.

Target 100%

RESULT  95.4%A

..........  AT A GLANCE 2017/18

SUMMARY

11 x Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

Of these:  6 x green, 2 x amber and 3 x red
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 1. Foreword
In the introduction to the Foreword of last year’s Annual 
Report, Jim Crichton and I described ourselves as the 
outgoing Chief Executive and Chairman. Indeed Jim has 
now retired but I remain in post. You will be aware of the 
Review of Forensic Services which is now underway. 
Given this, the Cabinet Secretary was keen for continuity 
in the senior leadership team through the review and 
invited me to continue as Chair for a further twelve 
months. I wish to thank Jim for the significant contribution 
which he made during his four years as Chief Executive of 
The State Hospital.

As always our top priority is to provide high quality patient 
care. Whatever the actions that have brought them here, 
our patients are entitled to the best we can do to help 
them recover their mental health and wellbeing. We must 
also pay great attention to their physical health. The 
Mental Health Strategy states that ‘’there should be parity 
of esteem between physical and mental health’’ and we 
wish to realise this aim for patients.

We rely on our committed and highly professional staff 
to assist our patients on the road to recovery. I offer 
sincere thanks to them for their tremendous efforts, often 
delivered in difficult circumstances. We must always be 
prepared to involve and listen to all our stakeholders. 
The feedback which we receive through ’iMatter’ (staff 
experience continuous improvement model) continues 
to give encouragement and at the same time positive 
suggestions for continuous improvement. In this regard, 
we piloted the TSH3030 quality improvement project 
during the year. With over 100 staff participating, this was 
a great example of how a simple quality improvement 
idea can focus the attention of staff and make an early 
impact.

We have attained the Gold Award in Healthy Working 
Lives for the 11th successive year. Many congratulations 
to everyone involved in this great accomplishment.

Once again we achieved financial balance during the 
year and I am grateful to all staff who worked diligently 
to provide high standards of care within a tight financial 
framework. 

It would be remiss of me not to refer to the ongoing 
challenges which we have with staff absence levels. 
The impact of this is felt throughout the Hospital and will 
continue to constrain our development potential. The 
effect is particularly severe on staff who have to provide 
cover and I thank them for their support. However we 
cannot rely on that forever. We are working hard to 
resolve this problem across a range of areas and on a 
more positive note, recent figures are showing a marked 
reduction in absence levels. I hope that this will turn out 
to be a sustained improvement which will be maintained 
through close partnership working.

I will conclude by recognising the number of senior staff 
changes which have occurred during 2018/19. Following 
Jim Crichton’s retirement, Gary Jenkins has taken over 
as Chief Executive from 1 April 2019. David Walker was 
appointed Director of Security, Facilities and Estates in 
December 2018 following the retiral of Doug Irwin, and 
Kay Sandilands took over from John White in October 
2018 as Interim HR Director. 

Elizabeth Carmichael retired after serving as a Non-
Executive Director for five years and was succeeded 
by David McConnell on 1 December 2018. Anne Gillan, 
our Employee Director, retired in March 2019 and was 
succeeded by Tom Hair.

My sincere thanks to all who have moved on and a warm 
welcome to the new appointees. 

Terry Currie, Chairman
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 Other NHS
  Hospitals

 Prisons

 Courts

 Patient Death

 Other

Staff Headcount as at 
31 March 2019 (653)

 Administrative Services

 Allied Health Profession

 Medical / Dental

 Nursing / Midwifery

 Other Therapeutic

 Senior Managers

 Support Services

 2. The State Hospitals Board for Scotland

Patient Discharges 2018/19 (33)

Located in South Lanarkshire in central Scotland, The 
State Hospital is the high secure forensic mental health 
resource for patients from Scotland and Northern Ireland. 
The principal aim is to rehabilitate patients, ensuring safe 
transfer to appropriate lower levels of security.

There are 144 high-secure beds for male patients 
requiring maximum secure care: 12 beds specifically for 
patients with a learning disability, and four for emergency 
use. Wards are in four units (hubs and clusters) with each 
unit comprising three 12-bedded areas (i.e. 36 beds per 
hub). 

A range of therapeutic, educational, diversional and 
recreational services including a Health Centre is 
provided.

Patients

• Patients are admitted to the Hospital under The Mental 
Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003 / 
2015 and other related legislation because of their 
dangerous, violent or criminal propensities. Patients 
without convictions will have displayed seriously 
aggressive behaviours, usually including violence.

• During 2018/19 there were 34 patient admissions and 
33 patient discharges.

• The majority of admissions were from Courts and 
Prisons.

• The majority of discharges were to Other NHS 
Hospitals and Prisons.

• 75.2% of the patients are ‘restricted’ patients within 
the jurisdiction of Scottish Ministers.  That is a 
patient who because of the nature of his offence 
and antecedents, and the risk that as a result of his 
mental disorder he would commit an offence if set at 
large, is made subject to special restrictions without 
limit of time in order to protect the public from serious 
harm.  This number also includes patients undergoing 
criminal court proceedings who are also subject to the 
supervision of the Scottish Ministers.

• All patients are male, with an average age of 41. The 
most common primary diagnosis is schizophrenia. 
The current average length of stay is six years, with 
individual lengths of stay ranging from less than one 
month to over 30 years.

Staff

• As at 31 March 2019, 653 staff worked at The State 
Hospital.

Patient Admissions 2018/19 (34)

 Prisons

 Other NHS 
    Hospitals

 Courts
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2020 Vision

Triple Aim Quality of Care Health of the
Population

Value and
Financial

Sustainability

Quality
Outcomes

Independent
living

Services are safe

Engaged
workforce

Positive
experiences

Healthier living
Effective

resource use

2020 Vision / Quality Ambitions
Safe, effective and person-centred care which supports people

to live as long as possible at home or in a homely setting.

 3. Standards and Guidelines of Care
NHS Boards are expected to abide by national service 
standards and guidelines. This includes meeting Local 
Delivery Plan (LDP) standards. The LDP sets out the 
strategic plan for the Board and is the product of an 
inclusive planning process with integration of risk 
management with service, financial and workforce 
planning.  Success is measured against a set of Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) which are reviewed on 
an annual basis and are considered in connection with 
the Corporate Risk Register for any matters requiring 
inclusion. Most LDP standards are former ‘HEAT’ 
targets, with HEAT being an acronym relating to four key 
objectives:

• Health Improvement.
• Efficiency and Governance Improvements.
• Access to Services.
• Treatment Appropriate to Individuals. 

The only national LDP standards directly relevant to The 
State Hospital are Psychological Therapies Waiting Times, 
GP Access, and Sickness Absence. 

The LDP has been replaced by an Annual Operational 
Plan for 2018/19 focusing primarily on performance, 
finance and workforce - drawing together key planning 
assumptions which reflect local priorities. 

Performance targets have been aligned with the three 
Quality Ambitions in the national NHSScotland Healthcare 
Quality Strategy: person centred, safe and effective. 
Outcomes are measured against agreed targets, and 
achieved through an incremental continuous improvement 
approach by way of the existing governance structure, 
e.g. Board and Committee Structures / Executive 
Appraisal. This annual report is structured around the 
three quality ambitions.
 
This report also covers work relating to the NHSScotland 
2020 Workforce Vision:

“We will respond to the needs of the people we care 
for, adapt to new, improved ways of working, and work 
seamlessly with colleagues and partner organisations. We 
will continue to modernise the way we work and embrace 
technology. We will do this in a way that lives up to our 
core values. Together, we will create a great place to 
work and deliver a high quality healthcare service which 
is among the best in the world.”
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 4. Our Vision, Values, Aims and Strategy

Vision

“To excel in the provision of high secure forensic mental 
health services, to develop and support the work of the 
Forensic Network, and to strive at being an exemplar 
employer.”

Values and Aims

The State Hospital has adopted the core values of 
NHSScotland which are:

• Care and compassion.
• Dignity and respect.
• Openness, honesty and responsibility.
• Quality and teamwork.

Primary twin aims are:

• Provision of high quality, person centred, safe and 
effective care and treatment.

• Maintenance of a safe and secure environment that 
protects patients, staff and the public.

Strategic Priorities and Objectives

A strategy session takes place annually to review and re-
confirm or amend the long-term direction of the Hospital. 
Following the 2017 session, a three year Service Strategy 
(2017/20) was developed, identifying three strategic 
priorities critical to the success of the organisation and 
ensuring high quality care:

• Health Inequalities.
• Staff attendance and resilience.
• Efficient use of our resources.

A set of strategic objectives (aligned to State Hospital 
Quality Ambitions) has been established to support these 
three strategic priorities:

• Reduce obesity and increase physical activity.
• Complete implementation of the “Patients’ Day” 

project.
• Reduce the use of additional hours.
• Optimise efficiency in clinical practice and clinical 

service delivery.
• Transform services to optimise efficiency whilst 

maintaining quality.
• Identify ways of generating more income.
• Promote attendance and reduce sickness absence.
• Support a forward looking culture.

• Create conditions for supporting quality assurance, 
quality improvement and change.

• Look at ways of better utilising technology to support 
the national digital agenda.

• Explore more cost effective stewardship of assets and 
resources.

• Develop effective workforce and succession planning 
strategies and measures that will address identified 
rapid turnover in the future.

• Explore options for effective shared services and 
resilience building through enhanced collaborative 
working both internally and externally.

• Ensure opportunities to develop the whole workforce 
are maximised; focussing on leadership development 
and the review of workforce models to ensure a 
sustainable, skilled and competent workforce.

State Hospital’s Clinical Model

Care and treatment in the Hospital follows a well-
established Clinical Model based on nine principles: 

• Integration. 
• Patient-Focused Care. 
• Individualised Care Pathways. 
• Positive Therapeutic Milieu. 
•~ Supporting Staff. 
• Strengthen Multi-Disciplinary Working. 
• Violence Risk Assessment and Management. 
• Comprehensive Mental & Physical Health Care and 

Treatment. 
• Clinical Governance Strengthens and Informs Care. 
 
Safety data were reviewed during July and August 2018, 
building on from a readiness to change survey that was 
carried out with staff in May 2018. Data analysis was 
undertaken to: understand more fully staff feedback on 
safety, to explore trends in data, and to consider further 
exploration of the delivery of the Clinical Model.

A stakeholder engagement exercise on the Clinical Model 
principles in October 2018 identified the principles as 
remaining relevant to the care delivered. However there 
was a view that the model for care delivery / the patient 
pathway through the Hospital, should be reviewed to 
ensure that it was safe, effective and person-centred. To 
this end, further stakeholder engagement took place in 
January and February 2019 resulting in the development 
of options for changing the delivery of clinical care. 
Engagement surrounding these options continues into 
2019/20.
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 5. Safe

“There will be no avoidable injury or harm to people from healthcare they receive, 
and an appropriate clean and safe environment will be provided for the delivery of 
healthcare services at all times.”

5.1 HIGH QUALITY PATIENT CARE
 AND TREATMENT

Clinical Governance

Clinical governance covers activities that help sustain 
and improve high standards of patient care. It provides a 
system through which clinicians and managers are jointly 
accountable for patient safety and quality care. 

The Clinical Governance Committee oversees clinical 
governance arrangements, and assures the Board that 
effective clinical governance mechanisms are in place.

The Clinical Governance Annual Report for 2018/19 
provides a comprehensive overview of clinical 
governance activity. 

The Clinical Forum continues to act as a professional 
advisory group.

Clinical Governance Group

The Clinical Governance Group has a quality assurance 
/ improvement remit. Key areas of focus in 2018/19 
included:

• Leading on the Staff and Patient Safety project.
• Progressing the 15 recommendations of the 

Supporting Healthy Choices workstream.
• Improving the patients’ care pathway through clinical 

outcome measures.
• Review and implementation where relevant of national 

standards and guidelines.
• Monitoring progress of the Patients Day Project.
• Implementing dynamic assessments of patient risk on 

a daily basis.
• Supporting quality improvement and assurance, and 

realistic medicine.
• Overseeing monitoring reports for the Clinical 

Governance Committee.
• Overseeing the work of the Mental Health Practice 

Steering Group.



7

Risk Management 

In 2018/19 quarterly risk management reports provided 
an overview of risk management activity across incidents, 
enhanced reviews, complaints and claims.

The Risk, Finance and Performance group was 
established in August 2018 with the aim of monitoring 
corporate risks, finance and performance information. The 
group met on three occasions during the reporting period.

In 2018/19 there were 2,345 incidents; a slight increase 
from 2,310 in 2017/18. At 1,095 Health and safety 
incidents remained the highest category of reported 
incidents throughout the year.

Three Category 1 investigations and nine Category 2 
investigations were commissioned over the 12 months 
(Enhanced Adverse Event Reviews).

The number of Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and 
Dangerous Occurrences Regulations (RIDDORs) reduced 
from 37 in 2017/18 to 28 in 2018/19.

The Hospital’s risk register process was reviewed 
in February 2018 with the 10 recommendations for 
improvement being progressed in 2018/19. 

Resilience priorities during the year related to a review of 
the updated NHS Standards for Organisational Resilience 
(2018) and EU exit planning.

Steady progress continued to be made across all five of 
the agreed national workstreams relating to the Scottish 
Patient Safety Programme for Mental Health (SPSP-MH). 
Successful initiatives undertaken in 2018/19 included:

• A qualitative case study, a quantitative research 
paper, a GAP analysis, and a number of pilot projects 
in support of the Improving Observation Practice (IOP) 
workstream.

• The introduction of Patient Support Plans together 
with an individually tailored guide promoting 
person centred care (Communication at Transition 
workstream).

• The implementation of the electronic PRN Form across 
all wards (Safer Medicines Management workstream).

• Roll-out to all Hubs of the Clinical Pause (Least 
Restrictive Practice workstream). 

• Programme of Leadership Walkrounds.
• Alignment of existing work with the five new national 

Safety Principles launched in February 2018. 
• Continued production of a Patient Safety 12 monthly 

update report. 

Child and Adult Protection

During the 2018/19 reporting period work continued in an 
inter-agency manner to promote the safety and wellbeing 
of children, both within the Hospital led by the Child and 
Adult Protection Forum, and as part of South Lanarkshire 
Council’s Multi-Agency Child Protection Framework. 

Six patients (parents of children) had some form of child 
contact, 56 children were approved to have some form of 
contact with a State Hospital patient, and 82 child visits 
took place.

The State Hospital supported national Adult Protection 
Day on 20 February 2018 to help raise awareness of adult 
protection issues, and to ensure that staff were fully aware 
of their responsibility to report adult protection concerns. 

Clean Environment

During the year, protocols continued to be deployed to 
ensure a safe and clean environment. As a result, the 
Hospital achieved an above 95% compliance / satisfaction 
rate for both national audit systems for cleanliness and 
estate monitoring; a 5% increase from 90% in 2017/18.

Infection Control

Infection prevention and control practices are 
embedded within policy and procedure to maintain a 
safe environment for everyone by reducing the risk of 
the potential spread of disease. Around 200 Infection 
Control audits take place each year to ensure a clean and 
safe environment. These audits are varied and include 
everything from hand washing, to clinical waste and 
sharps, to Health and Safety eControl book. 

In 2018/19:

• Healthcare waste pertaining to sharps was consistent 
at 100%. 

• Compliance relating to the safe management of linen 
required improvement. 

• In terms of hand hygiene, the Health Centre 
consistently achieved 100% compliance, ward 
nursing staff constantly attained over 95%, and raising 
compliance levels within the Skye Centre patient 
activity areas remained a priority.

• There was an increase in the uptake of flu vaccinations 
for Nursing staff.

• An audit of the Uniform Policy was undertaken in 
August 2018 with positive results.
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• Amendments were made to the Acute Boarding Out 
Leave (ABOL) Protocol to include Dynamic Appraisal 
of Situational Aggression (DASA) which is a tool 
to assess the likelihood that a patient will become 
aggressive within a psychiatric inpatient environment.

• Blood Borne Virus (BBV) testing was incorporated into 
admission blood screening, resulting in a high uptake 
by patients.

The State Hospital has a three year Healthcare Acquired 
Infection (HAI) Education Training Plan which is reviewed 
every six months.

Information Governance 

The Data Protection Act 2018 and the EU’s General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR) came into force in May 
2018. In support of this: 

• Privacy Notices were issued to all individuals having 
personal information processed by the Hospital.

• Personal data breaches were recorded and the 
Information Commissioner’s Office was notified as 
appropriate.

• A single point of contact for Information Governance 
and Data Protection matters was made available on 
The State Hospital’s website.

Additionally in 2018/19:

• The Hospital ensured compliance and development of 
Information Governance overall through the work of its 
well established Information Governance Group. 

• Representation on various national NHS information 
governance groups was maintained, thus promoting 
alignment across Scotland for privacy matters.

• Bulk shredding to securely destroy obsolete records 
took place on two occasions, furthering the Records 
Management Plan. 

• Procedures relating to Subject Access Requests 
and Health Records were updated to reflect the new 
statutory requirements.

• Freedom of Information (FOI) and Subject Access 
Requests were monitored; with compliance rates for 
both increasing to 94%.

• Privacy and Caldicott issues, including incident 
report monitoring and relevant training for staff, were 
attended to.

Information Technology

Key eHealth projects completed in 2018/19 included:

• Development and rollout of the Business Intelligence 
platform and the Records Management Plan.

• Pilot for Patient Internet Shopping.
• Ground work for Data Centre upgrade.

Major developments to RiO (Electronic Patient Record) 
include new modules to support:

• Dynamic Appraisal of Situational Aggression (DASA)
• Health and Wellbeing Plans
• Clinical Team Meetings (CTMs)
• Psychology Formulation
• Anthropometric Monitoring
• Observation Plan
• Clinical Pause
• Integration of the Social Work Service
 
The Information Team has also carried out significant work 
to support nursing resource utilisation and has contributed 
to national projects including Excellence in Care and the 
procurement of an eRostering system.

Security 

The Hospital’s secure environment is provided by physical
security, procedural security and relational security. 

The Hospital has its own Security Standards, which are 
aligned to the national High Secure Care Standards 
produced by the Forensic Network and adopted as national 
policy. Compliance with Security Standards is audited by 
the Forensic Network and an external advisor. The most 
recent audit took place in April 2018. A small percentage 
of non-compliant areas were identified and have since 
been addressed. None presented any significant risk to the 
security or safety of the Hospital. 

During the year:

• Planned upgrades to Hospital’s security systems 
commenced through a tendering process by Public 
Contracts Scotland.

• Policies and procedures continued to be reviewed and 
updated.

• Police Scotland were assisted with negotiator training on 
three occasions, with excellent feedback being received 
from both students and tutors alike.

• A pilot of a new search technique was conducted, with 
focus groups planned for 2019/20.

• A project was initiated to make improvements to Modified 
Safe Rooms (MSRs). 

• A new Director of Security, Facilities and Estates was 
appointed, establishing links with the three English 
Special Hospitals, Police Scotland and the Scottish 
Prison Service.

Forensic Medium and High Secure 
Care Standards

Every three years, The State Hospital is assessed against the 
Forensic Medium and High Secure Care Standards relating 
to assessment, care planning and treatment, physical health, 
risk management, physical environment & teams, and skills 
& staffing. The last assessment took place in April 2018.
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 6. Effective

“The most appropriate treatments, interventions, support and services will be 
provided at the right time to everyone who will benefit, and wasteful or harmful 
variation will be eradicated.”

6.1 EFFICIENT AND EFFECTIVE USE
  OF RESOURCES

Corporate Governance and 
Accountability

The State Hospitals Board for Scotland is accountable to 
Scottish Ministers, through the Scottish Government, for 
the quality of care and the efficient use of resources. The 
Board consists of a Chair, four Non-Executive Directors, 
Executive Directors and a number of other individuals 
who regularly attend Board meetings.

The role of the Board is to provide strategic leadership, 
direction, support and guidance to the Hospital and 
promote commitment to its core values, policies and 
objectives. The Chair has a particular duty to ensure that 
Board members are provided with timely, accurate and 
clear information in order to fulfil their duties, as well as 
facilitating effective contributions from Non-Executive 
Directors.

The main functions of the Board are to establish strategic 
direction, aims and values, ensure accountability to the 
public and assure that the Hospital is managed with 
integrity. The Board allocates resources, delegates 
operational matters to management, monitors 
organisational and executive performance, and oversees 
senior management arrangements and appointments. 

Corporate governance arrangements are set out in 
Standing Orders, Standing Financial Instructions and the 
Scheme of Delegation. 

The Board is supported by a Board Secretary and 
a number of Committees to advise and help carry 
out its duties.  Clinical governance, staff governance 
and corporate governance is overseen by the 
Clinical Governance Committee, Audit Committee, 
Staff Governance Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee.  Risk management and performance 
management bring all the elements together.
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The Board met six times during the year to progress 
strategy and review performance.  Board meetings 
were all held in public.  Public notices advertising Board 
Meetings are placed on The State Hospital’s website 
alongside Board agendas, papers and minutes. 

See Appendix 1 for Board Members’ and Senior 
Managers’ Interests 2018/19.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee oversees arrangements for 
internal and external audit of the Board’s financial and 
management systems and considers the Board’s overall 
systems of internal control. 

The Internal Audit Plan from RSM for 2018/19 was 
approved in June 2018. The plan, which was kept under 
constant review, was designed to target priority issues 
and structures to allow the Chief Internal Auditor to 
provide an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of 
internal controls to the Committee, the Chief Executive (as 
Accountable Officer) and the External Auditors. 

Details of activity can be found in the Annual Report of the 
Audit Committee 2018/19. 

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee seeks to support the 
Board’s aim to be an exemplar employer with systems 
of corporate accountability for the fair and effective 
management of all staff.

The Remuneration Committee Annual Report 2018/19 
outlines the key achievements and key developments 
overseen by the Committee.  The stock-take also includes 
the Committee’s Terms of Reference, reporting structures 
and work programme which is largely determined by the 
requirement to implement Executive and Senior Managers’ 
pay with reference to relevant Scottish Government 
instruction and performance appraisal. In addition, 
oversight of the application and award of discretionary 
points is a routine consideration of the Committee as is 
consideration of ad-hoc issues relating to remuneration.

Financial Targets

The Board operates within three budget limits:

• A revenue resource limit - a resource budget for 
ongoing operations.

• A capital resource limit - a resource budget for capital 
investment.

• A Cash requirement – a financing requirement to fund 
the cash consequences of the ongoing operations 
and the net capital investment.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Board 
was within all three of its statutory financial targets and 
reported a carry-forward of £12k on its revenue resource 
limit.  

The table below illustrates the Board’s performance 
against agreed financial targets.  The limit is set by the 
Scottish Government Health & Social Care Directorates.

Limit
As Set

Actual
Outturn

Variance
(Over) /
Under

£000 £000 £000

Revenue Resource Limit
- Core
- Non Core

32,818
 1,729

32,806
 1,729

12
 -

Capital Resource Limit
- Core

 303  299  4

Cash Requirement 33,133 33,133  -

Revenue Resources 

The Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 
provides analysis in the annual accounts between clinical, 
administration and non-clinical activities. Excluding the 
effect of annually managed expenditure, net expenditure 
in 2018/19 increased by £916k from the previous year.

Capital Resources

The Board’s Capital Programme for 2018/19 focused on 
improving Hospital security, maintenance of the estate 
and improvements to eHealth systems.

Collaborative Working 

NHSScotland national Boards are required to work 
together to identify ways to collectively standardise and 
share services to reduce operating costs by £15m (a 
recurring target from 2018/19) so this can be reinvested 
in frontline NHSScotland priorities.

Management Centre
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The work in delivering the target has focused on four key 
workstreams: 

• Transformation to deliver quality improvements and 
efficiencies across NHSScotland to support the Health 
and Social Care Delivery Plan.

• Delivery of reduced operating costs through a critical 
review of support services to deliver sustainable 
savings. 

• Delivery of cash releasing efficiency savings for 
territorial Boards.

• Management of non-recurring spend and collaborative 
initiatives to deliver the target for 2018/19 whilst 
the work plans in the first two bullets deliver more 
sustainable quality improvements and reduced costs. 

Sustainable Economic Growth 

The Board is committed to the continuous delivery of a 
high quality professional service based on the principles 
of sustainable development and their relevance to State 
Hospital activity.  As in previous years, an equitable 
balance continued to be sought between meeting the 
needs of patients, staff and the community; delivering 
value for money; and minimising environmental impacts 
and ensuring protection of environmental resources within 
the Hospital’s sphere of control. 

Efficiency and Productivity 

The Hospital is committed to supporting the drive for 
efficiency and productivity. Savings targets have been 
met in each of the recent years. 

In future years, it is very likely that the Hospital will have 
increasing difficulty generating the same level of cash 
releasing savings. In order to ensure that service delivery 
can continue to improve and develop, the focus will need 
to move to improvements in operational productivity. This 
will require new approaches to driving and monitoring 
efficiency and productivity. 

The Hospital’s vision is to incorporate the essential 
elements of the Sustainability & Value Programme, 2020 
Vision, and the Health and Social Care Delivery Plan. 
Current challenges include: 

• Physical health inequality of our patients. 
• Redeployment of resources to meet the needs of 

patients and drive out inefficiencies. 
• Requirements for recurring savings. 
• Excessively high levels of staff sickness. 
• High proportion of staff reaching retirement age. 
• Proactively support the national strategy in relation to 

national Boards through collaborative working. 

Fraud

The State Hospital continues to take a zero-tolerance 
approach to fraud.  In 2018/19 the Hospital reviewed 
its top ten fraud risks, completed a Counter Fraud 
Assessment Tool, and saw the e-learning fraud module 
being completed by 178 staff.

Annual Review 

Every year an annual review of performance is undertaken 
by the Scottish Government. The Board completes and 
submits a composite assessment report to the Scottish 
Government. A review meeting between the Board and 
the Scottish Government then takes place. Members of 
the general public can attend if they so wish. 

The State Hospital’s Annual Review for 2017/18 took 
place on 14 January 2019. This was a ministerial review. 
The date of the 2018/19 Annual Review has not yet been 
advised. 

Annual Review self-assessments and feedback letters are 
placed on the Board’s website.

Mental Welfare Commission (MWC) 
Annual Meeting

The annual meeting with the Mental Welfare Commission 
for Scotland was held on 14 December 2018 providing 
an opportunity to share information on key issues for the 
MWC both locally and nationally.
 
6.2 HIGH QUALITY PATIENT CARE
  AND TREATMENT

Clinical Quality Strategy

The year’s highlight was the launch of a quality 
improvement initiative called TSH3030 across the site.  
TSH3030 encouraged staff to spend 30 minutes a day for 
30 days working on a quality improvement project within 
their area:

• 23 teams registered with 21 completing the four 
weeks.

• 111 members of staff across all disciplines were 
engaged.

• 30 patients were in teams or worked on projects.
• 20 different quality improvement methods were used 

across the teams.
• Eight of the 23 projects resulted in improved and 

meaningful therapeutic engagement.
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• Over half of the projects continued to develop past the 
30 days with many spreading to other departments.

• Project teams commented on excellent morale as a 
consequence of being involved.

• The process was effective in engaging teams in QI 
and increasing awareness. 

Clinical Supervision and Values Based 
Reflective Practice (VBRP) for Ward-
based Nurses

A review of ward based nursing staff uptake of clinical 
supervision was undertaken in April 2018 highlighting an 
average uptake of 12% across the Hospital. 

An improvement project with new processes for nurses 
for 1:1 clinical supervision and Values Based Reflective 
Practice (VBRP) was subsequently introduced as a pilot 
in one hub. The results were positive showing an increase 
in uptake from 25% to 72.5% for 1:1 clinical supervision 
over a six month period. When VBRP was introduced 
and given protected time 92% of sessions planned went 
ahead. 

Clinical Audit

Clinical Audit is a quality improvement process that 
seeks to improve patient care and outcomes through 
systematic review of care against explicit criteria and the 
implementation of change. During the year, 25 audits 
were undertaken (17 in 2017/18). 

Standards and Guidelines

In 2018/19, 206 publications (pieces of guidance / 
reports / standards) were issued setting out the priority 
areas for quality improvement in health and social care 
(284 in 2017/18). Of these, 58 had some relevance to 
the Hospital and four underwent a full evaluation with 
identified areas for improvement being embedded within 
relevant workstreams. 

Research

During the year, emphasis continued to be on the 
implementation and dissemination of a wide range of 
research and evaluation conducted by staff, with 12 
research studies completed and a further 28 ongoing at 
year end.

There was also a renewed focus on addressing the aims 
outlined in the Hospital’s Research Strategy 2016/20. 
Highlights included the ongoing popularity of both 
The State Hospital Research & Clinical Effectiveness 
conference and the national Forensic Network Research 
conference.

The Research Committee and Research Funding 
Committee Annual Report 2018/19 notes 19 published 
journal articles and the delivery of 45 presentations.

Eat Safe and Healthy Living Awards

The Hospital has achieved a number of major awards:

• Eat Safe Award for Excellence in Food Hygiene.
• Healthyliving Award Plus for Promoting Healthy Eating.
• Healthy Working Lives Gold Award.

The Hospital had its annual Healthyliving Award Plus 
inspection in November 2018 resulting in the award being 
retained for the 10th consecutive year. The award criteria 
expects all catering establishments to promote healthy 
eating and to ensure that 75% of the items sold meet the 
criteria. 

In February 2019, the Hospital attained a Long Term 
Achievement Award which was presented by Gary 
Maclean, Masterchef Professionals Champion & 
Scotland’s National Chef at an Awards Ceremony in 
Glasgow. 

Also in February 2019, an inspection was undertaken by 
the Environmental Health Officer (EHO) - resulting in an 
exemplary report – and EHO students visited the Hospital 
in May 2019 to see the Hospital’s hygienic and well run 
catering establishment.

The Eat Safe Award for Excellence in Food Hygiene was 
also retained for the 10th year running. 

In December 2018, the Staff Dining Room became the 
first NHS Staff Dining Room to operate a totally plastic 
free service, using plant based packaging only.

Campus showing wander path
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Outside Gyms

 7. Person Centred

“Mutually beneficial partnerships between patients, their families and those 
delivering healthcare services which respect individual needs and values and 
which demonstrate compassion, continuity, clear communications and shared 
decision making.”

7.1 ACCESS TO SERVICES

Referrals, Admissions and Transfers

The Care Programme Approach (CPA) is a structured 
process for the management of risk and the care and 
treatment planning of patients. There is a target of 100% 
of all discharges and transfers from The State Hospital 
to be managed by the CPA process which includes 
transfer / discharge, CPA meetings, CPA Reviews and 
CPA Contingency Planning meetings. Furthermore, there 
is a need for the transfer pathway and risk management 
arrangements to be facilitated by the CPA process and / 
or Multi-Agency Public Protection Agency (MAPPA) for a 
relatively small number of high profile patients.

Overall in 2018/19:

• 36 meetings were held. Of these, six were Pre-CPA 
meetings (to discuss victim issues, police matters, or 
other such sensitive information in advance of the CPA 
meeting) and 30 were CPA meetings. 

• 87% of patients attended their transfer / discharge 
CPA meeting; a slight increase from the previous year. 

• Improved working arrangements were established to 
support carer attendance at patient CPA meetings.

• Partnership working between The State Hospital and 
South Lanarkshire Council was strengthened through 
Social Work input to the development of the Electronic 
Patient Record (EPR). Patient progress notes and 
most Social Work reports are now on RiO with work 
continuing into 2019/20 to complete the migration. 

A CPA / MAPPA 12 monthly update report is produced 
annually. 
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Key Performance Indicator (KPI)
Patients are transferred / discharged using CPA. 

In 2018/19, 97% of patients were discharged / transferred 
using CPA against a target of 100%, which is a slight 
decline on last year’s performance of 99%. The one 
patient who was not discharged using CPA was 
discharged to hospice care. This transfer was handled 
successfully with State Hospital staff supporting hospice 
staff for a number of days post transfer.

Appeals Against Excessive Levels of 
Security

The Mental Health Tribunal gives patients the right of 
appeal against being detained in excessive security. In 
2018/19 there were 13 appeals: nine successful, two not 
upheld and two cancelled / withdrawn.

7.2 HIGH QUALITY PATIENT CARE
 AND TREATMENT

Care and Treatment Planning

Treatment planning processes within the Hospital are well 
established. There is a co-ordinated approach to annual 
and intermediate reviews, the Care Programme Approach 
(CPA), clinical risk assessments, Integrated Care 
Pathways (ICPs), and to ensuring that the Hospital meets 
national guidance and legislation relating to treatment 
planning and discharge processes. 

Within a safe and secure setting, expert and high quality, 
care and treatment is delivered by multi-disciplinary 
teams comprising psychiatry, nursing, occupational 
therapy, pharmacy, psychology, activity and recreation, 
social work and security.

Key Performance Indicator (KPI)
Patients have their care and treatment plans reviewed at 
six monthly intervals. 

Performance improved in 2018/19 with 96.9% of patients 
having their care and treatment plans reviewed at 
six monthly intervals compared to 95.4% achieved in 
2017/18. The target is 100%.

Key Performance Indicator (KPI)
Patients will have their clinical risk assessment reviewed 
annually. 

At 99% in both 2017/18 and 2018/19, performance was 
only slightly below the 100% target. 

Attendance by Clinical Staff at Case 
Reviews

In addition to multi-disciplinary clinical teams all patients 
are assigned a Key Worker on admission to the Hospital. 
The Key Worker is an experienced Registered Nurse 
who, in collaboration with the patient, is responsible for 
the assessment, planning, implementation and evaluation 
of the day to day care of the patient. As the identified 
practitioner for a small group of patients, the Key 
Worker will develop a positive, caring, and therapeutic 
relationship over time with each of their patients and 
their family or carers. The Key Worker is supported by an 
Associate Worker.

Key Performance Indicator (KPI)
Attendance by clinical staff at case reviews. 

Attendance at Case Reviews
by Clinical Staff Target 2017/18 2018/19

Responsible Medical Officer 
(RMO) 90% 94.8% 90.9%

Key Worker (KW) / Associate 
Worker (AW) 80% 75.2% 63.6%

Occupational Therapy (OT) 80% 65.5% 64.2%

Skye Activity Centre n/a 1.0% 1.1%

Pharmacy 60% 57.2% 59.4%

Psychology 80% 69.6% 84.5%

Security 60% 59.8% 41.2%

Social Work 80% 79.9% 80.8%

Dietetics n/a 3.0% 23.6%

Hospital Wide n/a 57.9% 56.6%

Medicines Management

Pharmacy services continue to be provided from NHS 
Lothian which includes medicine supply from St John’s 
Hospital, Livingston plus a specialist onsite Clinical 
Pharmacy service. 

The Hospital’s Medicines Committee is well established. 
Workstreams focus on medicines management, the 
safe use of medicines, clinical effectiveness, and 
patient safety. Over the last 12 months, 59 guidelines / 
standards were reviewed by the Medicines Committee. 
Of these, 54 were deemed to be either not relevant or 
were covered by a similar guideline. The remaining five 
guidelines / standards had varying degrees of relevancy 
to medication services within The State Hospital and were 
sent out for information purposes.
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Key pieces of work through Pharmacy and the Medicines 
Committee in 2018/19 included:

• Introduction of a pharmacist prescriber to support the 
review of chronic physical health conditions as part of 
the Health Centre team.

• Formation of a specific Medication Incident Review 
Group for more robust learning from medication 
incidents.

• EU Exit resilience planning around medicine supplies.
• Preparing to comply with falsified ‘fake’ medicine 

regulation checks.
• Extensive clinical audit programme of work – both 

national and local.
• Policy and guidance updates, including use of 

intramuscular medication, high dose antipsychotic 
monitoring, and access to non-approved medicines.

An exciting development that has also been explored 
in 2018/19 in collaboration with NHS Lothian, is the 
opportunity for development of electronic prescribing 
within the Hospital in line with Scottish Government 
eHealth Strategy. Work will continue into 2019/20.

Psychological Therapies Service (PTS)

Within The State Hospital psychological interventions are 
designed around the underlying needs of the patients 
rather than their diagnosis or problems. Psychological 
interventions take place both on and off the ward, 
in groups and on a 1:1 basis. Some psychological 
interventions have specially adapted versions for patients 
with intellectual disabilities or specific cognitive deficits 
(for example, acquired brain injury).

In 2018/19, on average 94% of patients were engaged 
in psychological interventions at any one time over the 
year, with no patients waiting longer than 18 weeks for an 
intervention.

The Psychological Therapies Service delivered 12 
presentations at national conferences during the year 
including:

• A case study of complex trauma and its effects on 
personality development. 

• Neuropsychological differences between violent 
and non-violent offenders: A Systematic Review 
and Meta-Analysis. Conference presentation: British 
Psychological Society Division of Forensic Psychology 
Conference, Newcastle, UK 

• MBT-informed structured clinical care – a case study.  
Conference presentation.  Forensic Lead Nurse 
Conference, SPSC Polmont, UK.

Additionally, numerous research studies were ongoing 
and published in peer reviewed journals. For example:

• Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) for psychosis 
and personality disorder in a high secure forensic 
setting: An evaluation of the impact of an integrated 
treatment programme using a mixed method design. 

• An exploration into how forensic mental health nurses 
predict and cope with violence and aggression in a 
high-security setting. 

• An investigation into behavioural stability in forensic 
mental health units - a comparison of the predictive 
validity of instruments to identify violence risk.  

• Mirror, mirror on the ward... are our reflective practice 
groups effectively supporting nurses to do their 
‘BEST’? 

• Childhood psychopathic traits, Attention Deficit 
Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and Oppositional 
Defiant Disorder (ODD) among twins – what does 
maltreatment add to the equation?  

Quality improvement projects are being developed to 
enhance the efficiency of group delivery and improve the 
quality and consistency of assessment and formulation.

A Psychological Therapies Service 12 month update 
report (January to December) is produced each year.

Key Performance Indicator (KPI)
Patients will be engaged in psychological therapies.

Performance over the course of the year was consistently 
above target with 92.8% of patients being engaged in 
psychological treatment compared to a target of 85%. 
The 2017/18 figure was 94.4%. All but one patient 
commenced psychological therapies in less than 18 
weeks from referral date in 2018/19.

Rehabilitation Therapies

The Skye Centre has four patient activity centres and 
an Atrium area which consists of a cafe, library, bank 
and shop – all of which patients use on a regular basis.  
There are also a variety of other groups facilitated 
in this environment including the Patient Partnership 
Group (PPG), Christian Fellowship, Multi-faith services, 
Psychological Therapy groups, Allied Health Professions 
group and individual sessions. 

At the end of March 2019, 89 patients (84%) were 
attending placements in the Skye Centre.
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The patient shop was audited against the Healthcare 
Retail Standard in March 2019 with positive results; 100% 
compliance in drink products and 84% compliance in 
food products.

Accomplishments during 2018/19 include:

• Redesign of the Woodwork Centre.
• Arts Therapies review.
• Patient Active Day project.
• Review and update of Patient Menus following 

feedback from patients. 
• Activity scheduling – patient timetable on RIO.
• Development of Skye Centre induction for new 

admissions.
• Implementation of ONELAN information system (digital 

visual communication technology).

Key Performance Indicator (KPI)
Patients will be engaged in off-hub activities. 

This indicator has seen an improvement from 78.7% in 
2017/18 to 81.7% in 2018/19 against a 90% target. 

7.3 PERSON CENTRED
 IMPROVEMENT

Person Centred Improvement Service 
(PCIS)

Stakeholder involvement and engagement, volunteering, 
equality and diversity, and spiritual and pastoral care 
workstreams are embedded within the Annual Operating 
Plan (AOP) ambitions, closely aligned to fulfilling the 
person centred aspirations within the NHSScotland 
Healthcare Quality Strategy.

The Person Centred Improvement Steering Group (PCISG) 
met regularly during the year to ensure compliance with 
legislative requirements and to support the service to 
respond to national drivers and enhance local practice. 
The group has a comprehensive work plan, which 
includes a wide range of quarterly monitoring reports: 

• Patient and Visitor experience.
• ‘What Matters to You’ Action Plans.
• Volunteering input.
• Spiritual and Pastoral Care input.
• Equality Outcomes. 
• The State Hospital’s British Sign Language (BSL) 

Action Plan.
• Advocacy input.
• Health equalities.
• Learning from Feedback (including Complaints).

The bullets below highlight the key pieces of work 
undertaken during the year:

• Delivery of the person-centred ‘What Matters to You?’ 
initiative.

• Development of the Accessible Information version of 
The State Hospital’s Clinical Model to support patient 
engagement in the consultation process.

• Facilitation of the patient Clinical Care Model review 
workshop. 

• Facilitation of carers’ event as part of national Carers’ 
Week.

• Development of The State Hospital’s British Sign 
Language (BSL) Action Plan.

• Development of the new Visitor Information Pack and 
the new Volunteer Induction / Welcome Pack.

• Development of the new structured Spiritual and 
Pastoral Care Handover Tool and the Volunteer 
Impact Assessment Tool.

• Baseline assessment of the new Triangle of Care self-
assessment.

• Support to the Patient Partnership Group (PPG) to 
contribute to the development of individually tailored 
Healthy Living Plans and Physical Activity and 
Wellbeing Workbook.

• Development of tailored Meal Feedback system for 
patients with an Intellectual Disability.

• Provision of 1:1 support to ensure that robust Equality 
Impact Assessments were included with all policies 
submitted to the Senior Management Team for 
approval.

Stakeholder Feedback

The Board is committed to ensuring that the views of 
patients, carers and volunteers are actively sought to 
inform ongoing service improvement. Complaints and 
other forms of feedback for improvement are encouraged.

The table below provides a breakdown of the 395 sources 
of feedback received in 2018/19; a slight increase from 
347 in 2017/18. Complaints accounted for 15% (61) of 
overall feedback compared to 35% (121) in 2017/18.

 



17

Formal complaints can be made in person, by phone, 
by email or in writing. Overall, the number of formal 
complaints received decreased by 50%, however the 
number of formal complaints by carers increased from 
50% (eight complaints by two carers) in 2017/18 to 26% 
(16 complaints by nine carers) in 2018/19.

The principal reasons for complaints remained consistent 
with previous years, with the two most common reasons 
being Staff Attitude / Behaviour (16 complaints in 2018/19 
compared to 27 in 2017/18) and Clinical Treatment (nine in 
2018/19 compared to 17 in both 2017/18). Communication 
Oral / Written, Policy / Procedures, and Staff Shortages / 
Availability were also recurring issues throughout the year, 
albeit a reduction compared to last year’s figures.

The State Hospital has adopted NHSScotland’s two-
stage complaints procedure: Stage one (Early, Local 
Resolution within five working days or less), and Stage 
two (Investigation within 20 working days unless there is 
clearly a good reason for needing more time). Of the 62 
complaints closed in 2018/19, 58% (36) were closed at 
Stage one and 42% (26) at Stage two. 

Of the 62 complaints closed 50% (31) were upheld, 3% (2) 
partially upheld, and 47% (29) not upheld. 

Complaints and Feedback training for staff continued 
to be delivered via six e-learning modules with positive 
results.

7.4  HEALTH IMPROVEMENT 

The Board recognises that the relationship between 
physical health, mental health and nutritional status 
is unequivocal. The State Hospital is a smoke free 
environment.

The therapeutic, vocational, social and physical wellbeing 
needs of patients is met through a range of on-site 
therapies and activities, including a Health Centre, which 
meets the primary healthcare needs of patients.

Patients are encouraged and supported to adopt a 
healthy lifestyle particularly in relation to smoking, activity, 
and nutrition. As in previous years, the management of 
levels of obesity and physical activity remain a significant 
challenge.

The Supporting Healthy Choices initiative undertaken at 
The State Hospital was presented as a workshop at the 
RCPsych Forensic Faculty Conference in March 2019 in 
Vienna. A summary of the work and future direction was 
captured in a YouTube video for easy access by staff.

Mental Health 

Over the last 12 months, 36 guidelines / standards were 
reviewed by the Mental Health Practice Steering Group 
(MHPSG). Of these, seven were deemed to be either 
not relevant or were covered by a similar guideline. Of 
the remaining 29 guidelines / standards, 26 had varying 
degrees of relevancy to mental health services within The 
State Hospital and were sent out for information purposes. 
Further review regarding compliance is being conducted 
for the remaining three guidelines / standards in relation to 
Personality Disorder / Borderline Personality Disorder and 
Post Traumatic Stress Disorder.

Physical Health 

The physical health of patients continues to be a major 
area of concern. 

In the group’s reporting period (1 October 2017 to 30 
September 2018) activity related to the following six key 
areas: 

1. Primary Care Service (including long term conditions)

All patients are offered an Annual Health Review (AHR). 
This screening intervention has many dimensions and 
opportunities that promote health, identify early stages of 
disease and opportunities to manage and improve existing 
health conditions. Of the 93 eligible patients in 2018/19, 
83 attended, seven declined, and three had their review 
rescheduled.

The number of patients accepting the Seasonal Flu 
Vaccination rose to 77; a slight increase of 4% compared 
to 66% the previous year. Twenty eight of the 37 patients 
who fall into the additional “at risk” group consented to 
flu vaccination. This is a significant rise from last year and 
meets uptake targets for the ‘65 years and over’ group, 
and the under 65s ‘at-risk’ population of 75%, in line with 
World Health Organisation (WHO) targets. 

The year saw a good update of Colorectal Screening. In 
September 2018, 29 patients were identified as aged 50-
74, and of these, 18 (62%) participated in bowel screening 
within the two year screening period. The most recent 
Scottish figures (2017) report an uptake of screening 
for males in Lanarkshire as 52.3% and within the most 
deprived areas uptake of below 50%.

As of March 2018, there were 17 patients (15.5%) with 
Diabetes, 11 (10%) with Asthma and six (5.5%) with 
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD).
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Key Performance Indicator (KPI)
Annual Physical Health Review and Access to Primary 
Care. 

The Health Centre consistently meets its targets. In 
2018/19, 93% of patients were offered an annual physical 
health review within 12 months of their last review. The 
48-hour access statistics are based on contact with 
an appropriate healthcare professional. Currently this 
would include the Practice Nurse, General Practitioners, 
Physiotherapist, Optician, and NHS24. All patients 
requiring primary care services had access within 48 
hours in both 2017/18 and 2018/19.

Key Performance Indicator (KPI)
Healthier BMI. 

On average over the year, the percentage of patients who 
had a healthier BMI decreased from 15.8% in 2017/18 to 
13.7% in 2018/19. The target is 25%. There was a notably 
dip in Quarter 3 (October to December 2018) when 
patients with healthy BMIs were discharged and patients 
with unhealthy BMIs were admitted.

2. Weight Management and Food, Fluid and Nutritional
 (FFN) Care 

The Physical Health Education Plan continues to be 
delivered, and the roles of the Physical Health Steering 
Group and Health Champions are well established. 

Obesity figures, despite much ongoing intervention, are 
over 20% higher than the national average. At December 
2018, 31.5% of patients were overweight (27.7% the 
previous year). The number of obese patients remained 
relatively stable at 55.8% (56.5% in December 2017). 

Ongoing input and review supporting the Food, Fluid and 
Nutritional Care standards (2014) highlighted a positive 
approach to supporting care in this area. An audit of 
Nutritional Screening Tools (NSTs) and Nutritional Care 
Plans (NCPs) took place in July 2018; 99% of patients had 
a NST and 96.1% had an NCP which is a slight decline in 
the previous year’s figures of 100% and 99% respectively. 
Health and Wellbeing Plans are replacing NCPs.

3. Physical Activity 

The Board sees physical activity as an extremely 
important part of overall physical healthcare. 

Key Performance Indicator (KPI)
Patients will undertake 90 minutes of exercise each week. 

The average figure for 2018/19 was 80% against a target 
of 90%; a slight improvement on the previous year’s figure 
of 78.7%.  Per week, 56.3% of patients were engaged in 
90 minutes or more of physical activity against a target 
of 60%. This is an improvement on the 2017/18 figure of 
48.7%. 

4. National Clinical Guidelines and Standards 

Over the last 12 months, 93 guidelines / standards were 
reviewed by the Physical Health Steering Group. Of these, 
82 were deemed to be either not relevant or were covered 
by a similar guideline. The remaining 11 guidelines / 
standards had varying degrees of relevancy to physical 
health services within The State Hospital and were sent 
out for information purposes.

5. Training 

A slight increase in staff training was noted over the year. 
The ‘Guide to Healthy Eating’ online training module was 
completed by 40 staff (38 previously), and the ‘Healthy 
Eating in a Forensic Setting’ online training module by 28 
staff (18 the previous year).

6. Education and Patient Learning

Patient learning can significantly contribute to care, 
treatment and longer-term rehabilitation. 

Within The State Hospital learning provision includes 
accredited and non-certificated programmes and the 
Hospital has ‘approved centre’ status with a number of 
qualification awarding bodies.

The Patient Learning Annual Report 2018/19 details 
service activity levels and key achievements. During 
the year, 72 patients were engaged in formal learning 
programmes, 77 formal qualifications were attained 
including 39 core skill qualifications, 36 vocational 
qualifications, and two Open University qualifications. 

In support of improvement in patients’ educational 
attainment and life skills through enhancement of literacy 
and numeracy skill levels, during 2018 there were nine 
core skill progressions. 

The Patient Learning Achievement Awards took place in 
March 2019.

Ward Garden
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Campus

 8. Workforce

“We will respond to the needs of the people we care for, adapt to new, improved 
ways of working, and work seamlessly with colleagues and partner organisations. 
We will continue to modernise the way we work and embrace technology. We will 
do this in a way that lives up to our core values. Together, we will create a great 
place to work and deliver a high quality healthcare service which is among the 
best in the world.”

2020 Workforce Vision

Everyone Matters is the workforce policy for 
NHSScotland.  It supports the 2020 Vision for Healthcare 
in Scotland and the NHSScotland Healthcare Quality 
Ambitions of person centred, safe and effective.

The 2020 Workforce Vision Everyone Matters sets out the 
core values of NHSScotland which are:

• Care and compassion.
• Dignity and respect.
• Openness, honesty and responsibility.
• Quality and teamwork.

The five priorities within the implementation plan are:

• Healthy organisational culture.
• Sustainable workforce.
• Capable workforce.
• Integrated workforce.
• Effective leadership and management.

The implementation plan for the 2020 Workforce Vision 
continues to inform the planning process for the Staff 
Governance action plan which focuses on corporate 
priorities including the five priorities of the implementation 
plan of Everyone Matters 2020 Vision. 
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Staff Governance 

The Board recognises that its most valuable resource is 
undeniably its staff, and acknowledges the importance 
of staff governance as a feature of high performance 
which ensures that all staff have a positive employment 
experience in which they are fully engaged with both their 
job, their team, and their organisation.

The Staff Governance Standard sets out what each 
NHSScotland employer must achieve in order to 
improve continuously in relation to the fair and effective 
management of staff.  It highlights the need for staff 
to be valued, shows that investment in staff is a direct 
investment in patient care, and specifies that staff are 
entitled to be:

• Well informed. 
• Appropriately trained. 
• Involved in decisions which affect them. 
• Treated fairly and consistently. 
• Provided with an improved and safe working 

environment. 

Measurement of organisational success is against the 
elements of the Standard through iMatter and the use 
of the national Annual Monitoring Return. The Return for 
2018/19 will be submitted to the Scottish Government 
in line with process, and forms part of the annual review 
arrangements for 2018/19.

Fitness to practice governance arrangements are in place 
for professional registration, continuous professional 
development, and clinical supervision.

Key achievements in 2018/19 are highlighted below:

• The Values and Behaviours group continued to meet 
regularly. The focus was on embedding the NHS 
/ organisational values. This was supported by an 
organisational conversation over several months and 
plans to develop a staff recognition framework. Work 
was also delivered to improve staff engagement 
and to support a healthy work-life balance (Healthy 
organisational culture).

• A Nursing Resource Utilisation Project was underway 
to look at various analyses of workforce and nursing 
resource utilisation to better understand and address 
areas of concern. In particular to: (1) Put in place 
resilient systems that collect and report information on 
workforce and nursing resource utilisation and support 
its management, and (2) Deliver Business Intelligence 
reporting solutions that will provide data analysis 
and visualisation via interactive dashboards, and 
the dissemination of information across the Hospital 
(Sustainable workforce).

• During October and early November 2018 the 
Chief Executive held a number of staff meetings 
(during weekdays and at weekends) to share 
information, with as many staff as possible, about 
current challenges within the service including staff 
absence and to engage with staff regarding their 
ideas and suggestions for change. The focus was 
on empowering staff to influence the direction and 
effectiveness of the organisation in tackling these key 
issues and for management to respond to those ideas. 
In total, 138 staff attended (Healthy organisational 
culture / Effective leadership and management).

• Leadership development is supported at all levels 
across the organisation, with a particular emphasis 
in the past year on more senior leaders e.g. Project 
Lift, ‘New Horizons’ programme, Senior Charge Nurse 
(SCN) development programme, new executive level 
appraisal documentation, Board Assessment Tool 
and 360 degree appraisal (Effective leadership and 
management).

• The Transition Group, Sustainability & Transformation 
Group, HR and Healthy Working Lives continued to 
support the organisation through a challenging period.  
A review of care delivery and staff rostering / shift 
arrangements commenced to support this agenda 
(Sustainable workforce).

• The focus has been on working across boundaries, 
sharing learning and good practice.  This has 
been achieved through the annual learning plan 
underpinned by Organisational Development (OD), 
investment in our Personal Development Planning 
and Review (PDPR) process and Turas appraisal 
system as well as encouraging a collegiate approach 
to learning through initiatives like Greatix, staff 
recognition and TSH3030 (Capable workforce).

• The State Hospital supported work around more 
effective collaboration between national and regional 
NHS Boards. Collaborative working with the other 
national Boards to develop joined-up approaches 
continues e.g. leadership development, OD plan, 
HR, procurement. The organisation already works 
closely with other Boards to deliver some essential 
services e.g. primary care and social work (Integrated 
workforce).

• Awareness of NHS Staff Benefits continued to be 
promoted, Flu Vaccination Clinics took place in 
October and November 2018, and two staff pamper 
days took place (one specifically for Nursing staff) 
(Healthy organisational culture).
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Sharing Knowledge and Building 
Relationships

In support of the Global Citizenship Programme (Scottish 
Government) formally launched in June 2018, links 
between The State Hospital, School of Forensic Mental 
Health (Forensic Network), and Pakistan Psychiatric 
Society (PPS) were established. In November 2018, 
Dr Khuram Khan, Consultant Forensic Psychiatrist at 
The State Hospital visited Pakistan (in his role as State 
Hospital Champion for the global citizenship programme) 
to deliver lectures to mental health professionals on 
the interface between mental disorder and offending in 
Pakistan. A request has since been made by the PPS 
to develop a programme for Pakistan’s mental health 
and criminal justice professionals similar to the Scottish 
Approved Practitioners Course. This work is ongoing 
currently and the programme is expected to run in 
October 2019. Dr Khan will, in due course, visit Pakistan 
to facilitate the teaching with video conferencing planned 
for other Psychiatrists from The State Hospital to take part 
in the teaching.

A 10-day PMVA instructor training programme was 
delivered to staff employed by the Ministry of Health and 
Prevention in the United Arab Emirates (UAE).

Three presentations on The State Hospital were delivered 
in response to requests from the local community.

Workforce Strategy 

During 2018/19, the Board met its Workforce Plan 
targets. It is recognised that workforce planning is an 
iterative process and The State Hospital’s Workforce Plan 
requires to be updated in line with the: 

• Revised Clinical Model.
• Common Staffing method defined by the Health and 

Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Bill.

As the development of The State Hospital’s revised 
Clinical Model is expected to be complete in May 
2019, and the outcomes from The State Hospital’s 
application of the Common Staffing Methods proposed 
to be available from July 2019, the update to The State 
Hospital’s Workforce Plan will be timed in line with these 
developments. It is anticipated that a new Workforce Plan 
should be produced by September 2019.

The interdependency of these three workstreams: Clinical 
Model, Common Staffing Method, and Workforce Plan 
should be noted. Time delays in either the Clinical Model / 
Common Staffing Method will have a knock on effect and 
ultimately delay production of the Workforce Plan.

Attendance Management

During 2018 a number of measures have been put in 
place to manage sickness absence and support staff 
which has resulted in a reduction of the absence figures.  
The principal reasons for absence remained consistent 
with the previous year, with the two most common 
reasons for absence being anxiety / stress / depression 
and musculoskeletal conditions.

Despite every effort, absence continued to be above the 
national target of 5%, negatively impacting on spend, 
safe staffing levels and patient care. 

Key Performance Indicator (KPI)
Sickness absence. 

The 2018/19 the rate of absence was 8.26% compared to 
8.52% in 2017/18. The target is 5%. 

Staff Experience (iMatter and Dignity 
at Work)

The Health and Social Care Staff Experience Report 2018 
describes how NHSScotland performed on iMatter, the 
Staff Experience survey.  

Overall, The State Hospital compared favourably with 
NHSScotland colleagues. The average response rate 
for NHSScotland was 59% for 2018 (63% in 2017/18), 
below the required 60% to produce a national report.  The 
State Hospital’s response rate for 2018 was 77% (78% 
in 2017/18); a very positive result, scoring the 5th highest 
across NHSScotland.  Additionally, The State Hospital 
achieved the 4th highest Employee Engagement Index 
(EEI) score of 77%; up a point from last year’s score of 
76%.  The national average EEI score in 2017/18 was 
75%.

In 2018/19 there were three Dignity at Work cases and no 
Whistleblowing cases.
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Values and Behaviours

The Values and Behaviours Group continued to support 
the organisation in communicating and embedding the 
values site wide.  

In 2018/19, the group led a series of conversations 
that took place across the organisation to provide a 
forum to discuss values and what they do and don’t 
mean in practice.   Managers played a key role in these 
conversations ensuring team members had their say and 
understood what made the values meaningful for staff and 
patients. Patients worked with the Art Therapist during 
their conservations to capture their thoughts through 
illustration.

Knowledge and Skills Framework (KSF)

All staff covered by Agenda for Change (AfC) - 
modernised NHS pay system - are required to take part 
in an annual review against a KSF post outline. As at 31 
March 2019, 96% of posts had a validated KSF outline, 
80.9% of staff had a live Personal Development Plan 
(PDP) in place, and 69.2% of staff completed a review on 
the new Turas Appraisal system.

Key Performance Indicator (KPI)
Staff have an approved PDP. 

The PDR compliance level at 31 March 2019 was 80.9% 
against a target of 100%. The 2018/19 average monthly 
completion rate was 71.6% compared to 84.5% in 
2017/18. 

Mandatory and Statutory Training 

Organisational compliance levels for statutory and 
mandatory training at 31 March 2019 were 91.8% 
compliance for statutory training and 81.3% for 
compliance for mandatory training. 

Fitness to Practise

In 2018/19 one member of staff had a lapse in their 
registration.

Leadership

The Board undertook a self-assessment survey in March 
2019 as part of the Corporate Governance Blueprint. An 
action plan for improvement will be launched in 2019/20.

Members of the Senior Management Team commenced 
a 360 degree feedback exercise where they receive 
feedback from a range of people on their leadership style 
and how it might be developed.

Many staff were availed of external opportunities through 
NHSScotland’s Project Lift initiative whereby they 
completed a self-assessment and ensured they were 
linked into national leadership development programmes.  
Meanwhile, in-house leadership development 
opportunities were also offered through the corporate 
calendar.

Partnership Working

The State Hospital’s Staff Partnership Forum is well 
established. Respective roles and responsibilities are 
recognised as are shared values and common purpose.  
These elements provide the basis for a continually 
improving partnership which has led to long-term 
solutions that work both for staff and, more importantly, for 
patients.

During 2018/19 a number of issues were progressed in 
partnership with staff representatives including Agenda 
for Change, Attendance Management, iMatter Action 
Plans, National Boards Collaboration, Nursing Pool, 
Personal Development Planning & Review, Staffing 
Levels, Scottish Terms and Conditions Committee (STAC) 
and Working Time Directive.

The Human Resources and Partnership Working Group 
(comprising a range of operational managers, Staff-
Side representatives and HR staff) continued to work 
closely with Partnership Forum colleagues to develop 
and approve policies relating to staff governance.  ‘Once 
for Scotland’ policies are being developed and will be 
launched across all NHSScotland Boards from 2019/20.
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Healthy Working Lives (HWL) 

The State Hospital has achieved and continued to 
maintain the Healthy Working Lives Gold Award since 
2008 thanks to the efforts of the Healthy Working Lives 
Group and staff across the organisation who support the 
ethos of Healthy Working Lives. Through the dedication 
of its multi-disciplinary working group, numerous events 
and initiatives across the organisation are supported and 
delivered. 

The Healthy Working Lives Group provides a forum where 
health, safety and wellbeing issues can be identified, and 
strategies put in place to create improvements that result 
in a happier, healthier and highly engaged workforce. The 
ultimate aim is to improve the health, safety and wellbeing 
of all staff, particularly those supporting mental health 
awareness and education, improving physical health and 
promoting links / networking within and outside of the 
organisation.

Occupational Health Service

The Occupational Health Service is well established. In 
2018/19 the range of services offered related to:

• First aid.
• Fitech fitness and lifestyle assessments.
• Health surveillance and monitoring. 
• Hepatitis B immunisation programme. 
• Influenza immunisation (seasonal) programme, and 

other immunisations.
• Links with other organisations, e.g. Time for Talking 

and The Keil Centre in Edinburgh.
• Night worker assessments. 
• Pre-placement health assessment.
• Screening for fitness for participation in Prevention 

and Management of Violence and Aggression (PMVA) 
training.

• Traumatic incident follow up.
• Treatment services. 
• Vision testing.

There were 246 management referrals made in 2018/19 
compared to 193 the previous year.  Above that, 145 
referrals were made to the Physiotherapy Service in 
2018/19 (an increase from 123 in 2017/18).

Carer Positive Scheme

In 2018/19, The State Hospital remained accredited at 
Level 1 (Engaged) of the Carer Positive Scheme:

• The organisation has awareness of carers within the 
workforce and has made a commitment to support 
carers through workplace policies / working practices.

• There is some evidence that systems and processes 
have been developed to support this.

• Carers are supported to identify themselves as carers 
and can access support within the organisation 
to help them manage their work and caring 
responsibilities.

The next step is to work towards achieving Level 2 
(Established). 

Disability Confident Scheme

During 2018/19, 1.53% of staff declared that they had a 
disability. 

The State Hospital has achieved Level 2 of the Disability 
Confident Scheme (which demonstrates that the Hospital 
is positive about employing people with a disability) and 
is working towards achieving Level 3.

Campus showing part of Skye Centre 
(patient activities and therapies) and Islay 

(Staff Development and Conference Centre)
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NAME INTEREST

T Currie
Chairperson Deputy Lieutenant, Lanarkshire

W Brackenridge
Non Executive None

E Carmichael
Non Executive 
to November 2018

National Council Member, Scottish Association for the Study of Offending
Board Member, Corra Foundation (previously Lloyds TSB Foundation Trust) 

A Gillan
Employee Director None

N Johnston
Non Executive 

Chief Executive, Educational Competencies Consortium Ltd
Trustee and Vice Chair, Abertay University Dundee Students Association

D McConnell
Non Executive 
from December 2018

None

M Whitehead
Non Executive None

J Crichton
Chief Executive Non-Executive Member, SACRO

D Irwin
Security Director 
to 13 November 2018

None

R McNaught
Finance & Performance Management 
Director 

Member, Audit Committee, Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland

M Richards
Director of Nursing & AHPs Professional Advisor to Scottish Public Services Ombudsman 

K Sandilands
Interim HR Director
from 1 October 2018

None

L Thomson
Medical Director

Professor of Forensic Psychiatry, University of Edinburgh
Director, Forensic Mental Health Services Managed Care Network

D Walker
Security Director 
from 3 December 2018

None

J White
Interim HR Director 
to 30 September 2018

None
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x 
1

Board Members’ and Senior Managers’ 
Register of Interests 2018/19
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CLINICAL GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Membership Role

N Johnston, Non-Executive (Chair)
E Carmichael, Non-Executive (to 
November 2018)
M Whitehead, Non-Executive 

To ensure that clinical governance mechanisms are in place and effective 
throughout the Board, and to ensure that the principles and standards of clinical 
governance are applied to the health improvement activities of the Board. It met four 
times during 2018/19.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Membership Role

E Carmichael, Non-Executive (Chair 
to November 2018)
D McConnell, Non-Executive (Chair 
from December 2018) 
W Brackenridge, Non-Executive 
A Gillan, Employee Director
M Whitehead, Non-Executive 

To oversee arrangements for external and internal audit of the Board’s financial and 
management systems and to advise the Board on the strategic processes for risk, 
control & governance. It met five times during 2018/19.

STAFF GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Membership Role

W Brackenridge, Non-Executive 
(Chair)
A Gillan, Employee Director
N Johnston, Non-Executive
M Whitehead, Non-Executive
D Speirs, Lay Member, Royal 
College of Nursing
A Blackwood (part), Lay Member, 
Prison Officers’ Association
T Hair, Lay Member, UNISON 
B Paterson, Clinical Operations 
Manager

To ensure that the Board has an effective system of consistency of policy and equity 
of treatment of staff, including remuneration issues, where they are not already 
covered by existing arrangements at national level. And to encourage, support and 
monitor partnership working. It met four times during 2018/19.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Membership Role

T Currie, Non-Executive (Chair)
W Brackenridge, Non-Executive 
E Carmichael Non-Executive (to 
November 2018)
A Gillan, Employee Director
N Johnston, Non-Executive 
M Whitehead, Non-Executive
D McConnell, Non-Executive (from 
December 2018)

To consider performance-related pay in respect of Senior Managers and employees 
of the Board, to consider and agree appraisal outcomes of Executive Directors to 
be submitted to the national Performance Management Committee, and to consider 
and approve the award of Consultants Discretionary Points. It met three times during 
2018/19.

Board Governance Committees 2018/19
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THE STATE HOSPITAL

AT A GLANCE 2018/19
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

GREEN (G) - Achieved / Exceeded
AMBER (A) - Working Towards
RED (R) - Needs Improvement

Patients have their 
care and treatment 
plans reviewed at six 
monthly intervals.

Target 100%

RESULT  96.9%G

Patients will 
be engaged in 
psychological 
therapies.

RESULT  92.8%G

Target 85%

Patients will be engaged in 
off-hub activity centres.

Target 90%

RESULT  81.7%A

Patients will be offered an 
annual physical health review.

Target 90%

RESULT  93%G

Patients will undertake 90 
minutes of exercise each 
week (Annual Audit).

RESULT 

56.3%A

Target 60%

Patients will have 
a healthier Body 
Mass Index (BMI).

RESULT  13.7%R

Target 25%
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Staff have an 
approved Personal 
Development Plan 
(PDP).

Target 100%

RESULT  80.9%R

..........  AT A GLANCE 2018/19

SUMMARY

12 x Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs)

Of these: 7 x green, 
2 x amber and 3 x red

PLUS

Responsible Medical Officer (RMO)
Key Worker (KW) / Associate 
Worker (AW)
Occupational Therapy (OT)
Skye Activity Centre*
Pharmacy
Psychology
Security
Social Work
Dietetics*
Hospital Wide

* Only attend Annual Reviews

Target

90%

80%
80%
n/a
60%
80%
60%
80%
n/a
n/a

2018/19

90.9%G

63.6%R
64.2%R
1.1%
59.4%G
84.5%G
41.2%R
80.8%G
23.6%
56.6%

Attendance at Case Reviews 
by Clinical Staff

Target 5%

Sickness 
absence 
(National HEAT 
stardard is 4%).

RESULT  8.26%R

Target 100% Patients will have 
their clinical risk 
assessment reviewed 
annually.

RESULT  99%G

Patients are transferred 
/ discharged using 
the Care Programme 
Approach (CPA).

Target 100%

RESULT  97%G

Target 100% Patients requiring 
primary care services 
will have access within 
48 hours.

RESULT  100%G

Patients will commence 
psychological therapies <18 
weeks from referal date.

Target 100%

RESULT  98.5%G
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PERFORMANCE REPORT  
 
NHS Health Boards are required to prepare a Performance Report as per the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual (FReM).  This provides information on the Board, as well as its main objectives and 
strategies and the principal risks that the Board faces.   
 
The Performance Report has been prepared in accordance with the FReM and complies with best 
practice. 

 
1. Overview 

 
The State Hospitals Board for Scotland was established and legally became part of the NHS in 
1995 and shares in the overall national objective to promote the provision of a sufficient and 
effectively co-ordinated range of services.     
 
The State Hospital provides treatment and care, in conditions of high security, for male patients 
with mental disorder who, because of their dangerous, violent or criminal propensities, cannot 
be cared for in any other setting. It is a national service for Scotland and Northern Ireland. 
 
Care in the State Hospital is underpinned by the rights based principles which underpin the 
Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003.  Since May 2006, patients have been 
able to appeal against being detained in excessive levels of security in the State Hospital.   
 
The Board’s Operational Plan looks forward to the following year. The Operational Plan sets out 
a delivery agreement between Scottish Government Health & Social Care Directorate 
(SGHSCD) and the Board, based on Ministerial targets.  The national approach supports the 
Scottish Government National Outcomes Framework (Scotland Performs).   
 
The service has established a reputation for providing world class forensic mental health care.  
Visitors to the service both from home and abroad have been hugely positive about the patient 
centred approach and focus on recovery.  Working with partners in our Forensic Network, we 
have established a reputation for high standards of care, innovative research and education and 
wish to maintain that in 2019/20. 
 
Addressing health and social inequalities for our patient group is a major challenge.  As a no-
smoking facility and illicit drug and alcohol free area, the twin challenges of smoking and 
substance misuse are areas of existing success.  Our primary challenge is patient obesity and 
its related physical health problems.  The Board is building on existing measures to promote 
healthier choices for patients and will be delivering an agreed programme of initiatives over the 
coming year to improve the physical wellbeing of our patients.   
 
Many of our patients have limited educational attainment linked to a range of factors in their 
lives prior to admission.  This can lead to social exclusion and difficulty attaining employment.   
Patients benefit from access to recreational and educational facilities on site and are supported 
to develop their skills and educational attainment during their stay.  We are committed to 
maintaining and improving opportunities for our patients to access both physical and educational 
activities.  
 
The service has embraced the ambitions of the Scottish Patient Safety Programme and has 
been a key contributor to improvements in patient safety both locally and on the national stage.  
Work undertaken to introduce post-incident debriefing, for example, has led to a significant 
reduction in incidents of violence or aggression.  We will be further developing our programme 
of patient safety work over the next year and investing in our staff’s access to training in 
improvement methodology. 

  

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/About/scotPerforms
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PERFORMANCE REPORT continued 
 
The State Hospitals Board for Scotland is fully committed to the principles, values and objectives 
articulated in Everyone Matters: 2020 Workforce Vision.  We continue to set out our commitment 
to our staff to implementing this vision and making real improvements to the health of our 
organisation as a whole, and to the health of the people who work within it.  We recognise that 
it is the people in our organisation who deliver the service and that the support and contribution 
of our employees will be crucial in delivering the objectives in this plan.  We will be working in 
partnership to put a significant emphasis on maintaining and improving staff health and 
wellbeing and ensuring that our NHS values and behaviours are clearly visible to everyone who 
is part of our service.  The introduction of the EASY service (Early Access to Support for You, a 
sickness support tool) in 2018 is helping us direct staff who are unwell to sources of help and 
support quickly and efficiently. 
 
The State Hospitals Board for Scotland’s vision is to excel in the provision of high secure forensic 
mental health services, to develop and support the work of the Forensic Network and to strive 
at being an exemplar employer. 
 
The aims are to provide a high quality, person centred, safe and effective care and treatment 
and maintain a safe and secure environment that protects patients, staff and the public. 
 
The financial landscape continues to be extremely challenging, and realising the continuous 
improvement that we are ambitious to achieve will mean working effectively not just as a local 
team, but across NHS Scotland.  National Boards are now focussed on improving collaborative 
arrangements across Boards and ensuring that we are deploying our resources as effectively 
as we can to meet our patients’ needs, driving out inefficiencies and improving quality.  Our plan 
for 2019/20 builds on a shared vision with our staff about our key priorities and how we wish to 
achieve these now and in the future. 

 
2. Performance Analysis  

 
NHS Boards are required to meet 3 financial targets in-year.  These targets are: 
 

• Revenue resource limit -  a resource budget for ongoing operations; 
• Capital resource limit -  a resource budget for net capital investment; and 
• Cash requirement – a financing requirement to fund the cash consequences of the 

ongoing operations and the net capital investment. 
 

The Revenue and Capital Resource limits are further analysed into Core and Non-Core where 
Non-Core represents items of expenditure which are of a technical accounting nature, details of 
which can be found on the Statement of Resource Outturn  
 
Health Boards are expected to contain their net expenditure within these targets, and will report 
on any variation from the targets as set.  During the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the 
Board was within all three of its statutory financial targets. 
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PERFORMANCE REPORT continued 
 
 Limit as 

set by 
SGHSCD 

Actual 
Outturn 

Variance 
(deficit) / 
surplus 

 £000 £000 £000 
    
Core Revenue Resource Limit 32,818 32,806 12 
Non core Revenue Resource Limit 1,729 1,729 - 
Total Revenue Resource Limits 34547 32,535 12 
    
Core Capital Resource Limit      303      299 4 
Total Capital Resource Limits 303 299 4 
    
Cash Requirement                                                33,133 
 
 

   

 
MEMORANDUM FOR IN YEAR OUTTURN 
 

£000 

Reported Surplus in 2018-19  12 
 
Approved Carry-forward Surplus from 2017-18 

  
                  5 

    
Surplus against in year total Revenue Resource Limit                   7 

 
 
The Board is reporting a carry forward surplus of £12k into 2019/20.  This was achieved through 
a combination of recurring and non-recurring initiatives. Engagement with budget holders 
resulted in over achievement of £1.792m savings target by £0.027m. 
 
Pressures on nursing activity expressed in 2017/18 continued in 2018/19, with certain modified 
nursing practices ensuring that the required year-end break-even outturn was achieved. 
 
The Board is sighted on the essential requirement to manage the organisation on a sustainable 
financial base and – through an extensive and consultative review of the Hospital’s Clinical 
Model – are in the process of developing and agreeing a set of actions to be implemented in 
2019 to ensure this is achieved on an ongoing basis. 
 

 Future development 
 
There is no recurringly-identified resource for property – the significant capital item forthcoming 
is the Perimeter Security and Enhanced Internal Security Systems Project in 2019/20 to 2021/22 
– estimated at c£8.6m.  At 31 March 2019, this was at the final tender evaluation stage with an 
expected tender award in June 2019.  The associated projected level of available revenue 
resource required for contractor escorting and project management will continue to present a 
major challenge for implementation of the Property and Asset Management Strategy, together 
with regular estates and security work, and IM&T (Information Management and Technology) 
equipment replacement programmes.  Further work has taken place internally to re-examine 
security threats to the hospital and additional work commissioned to establish how those threats 
may be mitigated, including review of CCTV requirements, which are reflected in the approved 
business case. 
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PERFORMANCE REPORT continued 
 
The Hospital is committed to supporting the drive for efficiency and productivity.  The Hospital’s 
savings targets have been met in each of the recent years.   
 
In future years, it is very likely that the Hospital will have increasing difficulty generating the 
same level of cash releasing savings.  In order to ensure that service delivery can continue to 
improve and develop, the focus will need to move to improvements in operational productivity.   
This will require new approaches to driving and monitoring efficiency and productivity. 
 
The Hospital will continue to provide a significant opportunity to improve care and ultimately the 
outcomes of the work that is done. In order to achieve this we will continue to:  
 

• Assess, admit, treat, manage and discharge patients using care programme approach 
and integrated care pathways.  

• Tailor care to the needs of patients in terms of range, timing and the least restriction 
necessary.  

• Robustly ensure risk assessment and management plans are responsive to the 
changing needs of each patient.  

• Employ modern technology and solutions that improve security and manage risk.  
• Provide access to health and wellbeing activities that promotes engagement, recovery 

and hope in the future.  
• Ensure that staff are trained and supported to adopt new ways of working that are based 

on need, rather than historical practices.  
• Deliver clinical leadership by confident well equipped people who develop their teams 

and make use of performance management information.  
 
There are a number of pressures facing the Hospital over the coming year: 
 

• Workforce Plan Numbers and Skill mix – due in part to the fall in staff turnover, it has not 
yet been fully possible to achieve the planned workforce numbers.  The issues relate 
mainly to Nursing costs.  The full workforce plan is currently under review. 

• Pressure from any unfunded element of increased payroll costs, e.g. executive pay. 
• Anticipated increases in rates and the apprenticeship levy. 
• Potential level of non-capital associated costs related to the Perimeter Security and 

Enhanced Internal Security Systems Project beginning in 2019 – e.g. cost of staff 
escorting contractors. 

• Increased Employer’s Superannuation costs – 6% uplift from 14.9% to 20.9%. 
• Payroll impact from the expected outcome of the legal case “Locke vs British Gas” and 

the potential liability for additional shift payments required. 
• The requirement for the eight collective National Boards to provide additional savings of 

£15m (plus any unachieved savings carried forward from 2018/19) on a recurring basis 
in 2019/20. 

• A number of costs associated with the Hospital estate, which are monitored closely and 
outturns adjusted accordingly.    Ongoing evaluation of this impact over the coming years 
is assessed in order that budgetary pressures can be controlled. 

 
 Performance against key non financial targets 
 

The Board measures its progress towards achieving the Scottish Government’s national health 
and wellbeing outcomes and the improvement priority areas identified in the draft Operational 
Plan using a suite of performance indicators.  The LDP Standards relevant to the State Hospital 
are as follows: Psychological Therapies Waiting Times; GP access; Sickness Absence and 
Financial Performance.   
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PERFORMANCE REPORT continued; 
 

 
A number of Key Performance Indicators are set towards achieving those outcomes.  The Board 
also measures itself against the financial targets set by the Scottish Government Health and 
Social Care Directorate.  Performance against these targets is monitored by the management 
team and reported to the Board on a regular basis. 

 
As explained in more detail in the Governance Statement, the Board has a formal system of risk 
identification evaluation embedded throughout the organisation which seeks to manage risk and 
uncertainty.  The Audit Committee reviews and monitors all risks which are identified to it, and 
produces an annual report.  This highlights corporate risks which the Board manage and mitigate 
to ensure the achievement of objectives. 
 
The Hospital’s KPIs are reviewed on an annual basis and are considered in connection with the 
Corporate Risk Register for any matters requiring inclusion.  The Hospital’s Corporate Risk 
Register is subject to a biennial workshop review by the Board and senior management, which 
was completed in 2018 and will next be undertaken in early 2020.    
 
Local KPIs are reported to the Board as detailed below.  
 

• 98.5% of patients commenced psychological therapies in less than 18 weeks from 
referral date in both 2018/19. 

• All patients requiring primary care services had access within 48 hours in both 2018/9 
and 2017/18. 

• 93% of patients were offered an annual physical health review within 12 months of their 
last review. 

• The sickness absence performance for the year ended March 2019 is 8.26% (compared 
to the March 2018 performance of 8.52%). The national target is 4%, The State Hospital 
target is 5%.   

• The Board operated within allocated funds and ensured value for money. 
• 96.9% of patients’ care and treatment plans were reviewed at 6 monthly intervals 

compared to a target of 100% and against 95.4% achieved in 2017/18. 
• 92.8% of patients were engaged in psychological treatment compared to a target of 85%, 

a slight decrease to the 94.4% achieved in 2017/18. 
• Patients engaged in off-hub activity centres were 81.7% in 2018/19 compared to 78.7% 

in the previous year against a 90% target (attendance averaged over the year). 
• 13.7% (on average over the year) of patients have a healthy BMI compared to the 25% 

target. 
• 80.9% of staff had a personal development plan review against a 100% target. 
• 97% of patients were discharged / transferred using the Care Programme Approach 

(CPA). 
• 99% of patients had their clinical risk assessment reviewed annually in both 2017/18 and 

2018/19 against a target of 100%. 
• 56.3% of patients were engaged in 90 minutes or more of physical activity per week, 

against a target of 60%.  This compares to 48.7% in 2017/18. 
 

Payment policy 
 
The State Hospitals Board for Scotland is committed to supporting the Scottish Government in 
helping businesses during the current economic situation by paying bills more quickly.  The 
intention is to achieve payment of all undisputed invoices within 10 working days, across all 
public bodies. 
 
The target has been communicated to all non-departmental public bodies, who are working 
towards the accelerated payment target of 10 working days. 
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PERFORMANCE REPORT continued 
 

Prior to this, the Board did endeavour to comply with the principles of The Better Payment 
Practice Code (http://www.payontime.co.uk/) by processing suppliers’ invoices for payment 
without unnecessary delay and by settling them in a timely manner.   

 
• In 2018/19 the average credit taken was 9 days (in 2017/18, 9 days) 
• In 2018/19 the Board paid 96% of its invoices by volume and 99% of its invoices by value 

within 30 days (in 2017/18, 97% by volume, 99% by value) 
• In 2018/19 the Board paid 85% of its invoices by volume and 98% of its invoices by value 

within 10 days (in 2017/18, 85% by volume, 97% by value) 
 

Pension liabilities 
 

The accounting policy note for pensions is provided in Note 1 and disclosure of the costs is 
shown within Note 16 and the remuneration and staff report. 
 
Social Matters 
 
The Board strives to continually improve inclusiveness by creating a work environment that not 
only welcomes individuals of all backgrounds, but actively highlights and celebrates the unique 
mix of people and patients who work for us and use our services.  We produce reports and 
statistics to reflect this such as reporting progress on mainstreaming the public sector equality 
duty, publish equality outcomes and report progress, assess and review policies and practice, 
gather and use employee information and publish in a manner that is accessible.  
 
The Board has an appointed whistle blowing champion who is available for all staff to report any 
issues to across the Board.  No reportable matters have been raised under the whistle blowing 
or anti-bribery legislation during 2018/19. 

 
 Sustainability and environmental reporting 
 

The Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 set outs measures adopted by the Scottish 
Government to reduce emissions in Scotland by at least 80% by 2050. In 2015, an Order was 
introduced requiring all designated Major Players (of which The State Hospital is one) to submit 
an annual report to the Sustainable Scotland Network detailing compliance with the climate 
change duties imposed by the Act. The information returned by the Board is compiled into a 
national analysis report, published annually and superseding the prior requirement for public 
bodies to publish individual sustainability reports.   
 
Further information on the Scottish Government’s approach can be found in the Climate 
Change Plan 2018-2032 while national reports can be found at the following resource:  
 
https://sustainablescotlandnetwork.org/reports  

 
         

Chief Executive: 
Gary Jenkins 

 
.……………………………… 

 
   20 June 2019  

 
 

 
  

https://sustainablescotlandnetwork.org/reports


THE STATE HOSPITALS BOARD FOR SCOTLAND 
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 
  

 - 8 -  

ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT – CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
 
NHS Health Boards are required to prepare an Accountability Report as per the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual (FReM).  This provides information on the Board’s disclosures to meet key 
accountability requirements. 
 
This report explains the composition and organisation of the Board’s governance structures and how 
they support the achievement of the Board’s objectives. 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
 Date of Issue 

  
 The Accountable Officer authorised these financial statements for issue on 20 June 2019. 
 
 Appointment of auditors 
 

The Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 places personal responsibility on the 
Auditor General for Scotland to decide who is to undertake the audit of each health body in 
Scotland.  The Auditor General appointed Scott-Moncrieff to undertake the audit of the State 
Hospitals Board for Scotland.  The general duties of the auditors of health bodies, including their 
statutory duties, are set out in the Code of Audit Practice issued by Audit Scotland and approved 
by the Auditor General. 

 
 Board membership 
 

Under the terms of the Scottish Health Plan, The State Hospitals Board for Scotland is a board 
of governance whose membership is conditioned by the functions of the Board. Members of 
Health Boards are selected on the basis of their position or the particular expertise which 
enables them to contribute to the decision making process at a strategic level.   
 
The Board has collective responsibility for the performance of the local NHS system as a whole, 
and reflects the partnership approach, which is essential to improving health and health care. 
 

 During 2018/19 the Board met six times.  The members of the Board for the year were: 
 

 Name    Title      No. of Board  
           Meetings attended 

          
 T Currie   Chairperson      6 
 W Brackenridge  Non Executive Director     3 
 E Carmichael    Non Executive Director     4 
     to November 2018     
 N Johnston   Non Executive Director     6 
 M Whitehead   Non Executive Director    6 
 D McConnell   Non Executive Director    2 
                from December 2018     
 J Crichton   Chief Executive     6 
 R McNaught   Finance & Performance     6 
      Management Director   
 M Richards   Nursing & AHP Director    6 
 L Thomson   Medical Director     6 

A Gillan   Employee Director     4 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued 
 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT continued 
 

Statement of Health Board Members’ Responsibilities in Respect of the Accounts 
 

Under the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978, the Health Board is required to prepare 
accounts in accordance with the directions of Scottish Ministers which require that those 
accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Health Board as at 31 March 2019, 
and of its operating costs for the year then ended.  In preparing these accounts the Directors 
are required to: 

 
• Apply on a consistent basis the accounting policies and standards approved for the 

NHSScotland by Scottish Ministers. 
 

• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent. 
 

• State where applicable accounting standards as set out in the Financial Reporting Manual 
have not been followed where the effect of the departure is material. 

• Prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 
the Board will continue to operate. 

 
The Health Board members are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are 
maintained which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Board and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the National Health Service 
(Scotland) Act 1978 and the requirements of the Scottish Ministers. They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the Board and hence taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
of fraud and other irregularities. 

 
The Board members confirm they have discharged the above responsibilities during the financial 
year and in preparing the accounts. 

 
 Board Members and Senior Managers Interests 
 
 The interests of the Board and senior managers for the year were: 

 
T Currie 
Chairperson  

Deputy Lieutenant, Lanarkshire 

W Brackenridge 
Non Executive 

None 
 

  
E Carmichael 
Non Executive 
(to 30 November 2018) 
 

National Council Member, Scottish Association for the 
Study of Offending 
Board Member, Corra Foundation (previously Lloyds TSB 
Foundation Trust  

  
A Gillan 
Employee Director 

None 

N Johnston 
Non Executive  

Chief Executive, Educational Competencies Consortium Ltd 
Trustee and Vice Chair, Abertay University Dundee 
Students Association 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued 
 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT continued 
 

D McConnell 
Non Executive  
(from 1 December 2018) 
 

None 

M Whitehead 
Non Executive  
 

None 

J Crichton 
Chief Executive 
 

Non-executive Member, SACRO 

D Irwin 
Security Director  
(to 13 November 2018 
 

None 

R McNaught 
Finance & Performance 
Management Director  
 

Member, Audit Committee, Mental Welfare Commission for 
Scotland 
 

M Richards 
Director of Nursing & AHP 

Professional Advisor to Scottish Public Sector Ombudsman  

  
K Sandilands 
Interim HR Director  
(from 1 October 2018) 
 

None 
 
 

L Thomson 
Medical Director 
 

Professor of Forensic Psychiatry, The University of 
Edinburgh 
Director, Forensic Mental Health Services Managed Care 
Network 

D Walker 
Security Director  
(from 3 December 2018 
 

None 

J White 
Interim HR Director  
(to 30 September 2018) 

None 

  
  
 Remuneration for non audit work 

  
There was no remuneration paid to auditors in respect of any non audit work carried out on 
behalf of the board. 
 
Value of land 
 
The total value of land included in the Statement of Financial Position is £907k of which £190k 
relates to non operational land valued at open market value.   
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued 
 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT continued 
 

Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 
 
Sections 31 and 32 of the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 impose new duties on 
the Scottish Government and listed public bodies to publish information on expenditure and 
certain other matters as soon as is reasonably practicable after the end of each financial year. 
 
 The board meets the requirements of the above Act by publishing the information on the 
 board’s website via the following link. 
 
 http://www.tsh.scot.nhs.uk 

 
Personal data related incidents reported to the Information Commissioner 

 
There have been 2 personal data incidents during 2018/19 that required to be reported to the 
Information Commissioner. 
 
Disclosure of information to auditors 

 
The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far 
as they are each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Board’s auditors are 
unaware; and each director has taken all the steps that they ought reasonably to have taken as 
a director to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
Board’s auditors are aware of that information. 
 

  

http://www.tsh.scot.nhs.uk/
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued 
 
STATEMENT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RESPONSIBILITIES AS THE ACCOUNTABLE 
OFFICER OF THE HEALTH BOARD 
 
Under Section 15 of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act, 2000, The Principal 
Accountable Officer (PAO) of the Scottish Government has appointed me as Accountable Officer of 
The State Hospitals Board for Scotland. 
 
This designation carries with it, responsibility for: 

• the propriety and regularity of financial transactions under my control;  

• the economical, efficient and effective use of resources placed at the Board’s disposal; and 

• safeguarding the assets of the Board. 

In preparing the accounts I am required to comply with the requirements of the Government’s Financial 
Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
 

• observe the accounts direction issued by the Scottish Ministers including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent 
basis 

 
• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 

 
• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government’s Financial 

Reporting Manual have been followed and disclose and explain any material departures 
 

• prepare the accounts on a going concern basis. 
 
I confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole are fair, balanced and reasonable and take 
personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts and the judgements required for determining 
that it is fair, balanced and understandable. 
 
I am responsible for ensuring proper records are maintained and that the Accounts are prepared under 
the principles and in the format directed by Scottish Ministers. To the best of my knowledge and belief, 
I have properly discharged my responsibilities as accountable officer as intimated in the Departmental 
Accountable Officers’ letter to me of 19 March 2019. 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued 
 
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  
 
Scope of Responsibility 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining an adequate and effective system of 
internal control that supports compliance with the Board’s policies and promotes achievement of the 
Board’s aims and objectives, including those set by Scottish Ministers.  I am also responsible for 
safeguarding the public funds and assets assigned to the Board. 
 
Purpose of Internal Control 
 
The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify, prioritise and 
manage the principal risks facing the Board.  The system aims to evaluate the nature and extent of 
risks, and manage risks efficiently, effectively and economically. 
 
The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
the organisation’s aims and objectives.  As such, it can only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance. 
 
The process within the Board accords with guidance from Scottish Ministers in the Scottish Public 
Finance Manual (SPFM) and supplementary NHS guidance, and has been in place for the year up to 
the date of approval of the annual report and accounts. 
 
The SPFM is issued by Scottish Ministers to provide guidance to the Scottish Government and other 
relevant bodies on the proper handling and reporting of public funds.  The SPFM sets out the relevant 
statutory, parliamentary and administrative requirements, emphasises the need for efficiency, 
effectiveness and economy, and promotes good practice and high standards of propriety. 
 
Governance Framework 
 
The Board meets regularly to consider the performance, plans and strategic direction of the 
organisation.  The Board is comprised of the Chairman, five non Executive Members (including the 
Employee Director) and four Executive Board Directors. 
 
It is supported in this work by a number of committees: 

• Clinical Governance  
• Audit 
• Staff Governance 
• Remuneration  
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued 
 
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT continued 
 
The structure of these committees is set out as follows: 
 

Clinical Governance Committee No. of meetings  
Membership attended Role 
N Johnston (Chair) 
E Carmichael (to November 18) 
M Whitehead  
 

4 
3 
3 
 

To ensure that clinical governance 
mechanisms are in place and 
effective throughout the Board, and to 
ensure that the principles and 
standards of clinical governance are 
applied to the health improvement 
activities of the Board.  It met four 
times during 2018/19. 

 
Audit Committee No. of meetings  
Membership attended Role 
E Carmichael (Chair to November 18) 
D McConnell (Chair from December 18) 
W Brackenridge  
A Gillan  
M Whitehead  
 

3 
2 
3 
3 
3 
 

 

To oversee arrangements for 
external and internal audit of the 
Board’s financial and management 
systems and to advise the Board on 
the strategic processes for risk, 
control & governance.  It met five 
times during 2018/19. 

 
Staff Governance Committee No. of meetings  
Membership attended Role 
W Brackenridge (Chair) 
A Gillan  
N Johnston 
M Whitehead 
 
 

3 
4 
3 
4 
 
 
 

To ensure that the Board has an 
effective system of consistency of 
policy and equity of treatment of staff, 
including remuneration issues, where 
they are not already covered by 
existing arrangements at national 
level. And to encourage, support and 
monitor partnership working.  It met 
four times during 2018/19. 

 
Remuneration Committee No. of meetings  
Membership attended Role 
T Currie (Chair) 
W Brackenridge  
E Carmichael (to November 18) 
A Gillan  
N Johnston  
M Whitehead 
D McConnell (from December 18) 
 

3 
2 
1 
3 
3 
3 
2 

 
 

To consider performance-related pay 
in respect of Senior Managers and 
employees of the Board.  It met three 
times during 2018/19. 

The Staff Governance Committee together with the Remuneration Committee, Clinical Governance and 
Audit Committees forms the full Governance framework of the Board.  A Hospital Partnership Forum is 
established to focus on operational staff governance compliance issues. 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued 
 
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT continued 
 
Operation of the Board 
 
The Board complies with the Scottish Public Finance Manual (SPFM) which sets out a number of key 
components for effective board practice.  It is based on the underlying principles of all good governance: 
accountability, transparency, probity and focus on sustainable success. 
 
The Board continues to ensure its on-going effectiveness through a range of improvement activities, 
including the development of the Board’s Operational Plan and Workforce Planning 
Workshops.  Further training and development sessions continue to be planned for the Board.  The 
Board continues to review and monitor its performance.  All Board members are subject to an annual 
appraisal by the Chair (for Non-Executive Members and the Chief Executive) and the Chief Executive 
(for Executive Members).  The committees of the Board undertake an annual self-assessment of their 
performance and report this to the Board. 
 
During the year the Board:  

• reviewed and updated the Standing Financial Instructions, Scheme of Delegation, 
Standing Orders and Terms of Reference of Committees  

• supported the development of the National Boards Joint Delivery Work Streams by 
contributing to the overall savings required from Nation Boards of £15m 

• reviewed service transformation and long term sustainability planning 
• reviewed the Skye Centre Annual Report  
• reviewed and approved the Workforce Plan for 2016-2021 
• reviewed implementation of the Fairer Scotland Duty into governance arrangements 
• reviewed eHealth Annual Report 
• reviewed the Communications Annual Report 
• reviewed Patients Advocacy Annual Report 
• reviewed Patients Learning – 12 monthly Report 
• developed a Full Business case for the Perimeter Security and Enhanced Internal 

Security Systems Project 
• hosted a visit from Counter Fraud Services 
• hosted a Ministerial and Scottish Government Annual Review  
• approved the report to Scottish Government on the Implementation of Specified 

Persons Regulations 
• reviewed implementation of the Supporting Healthy Choices Policy for patients 
• Implemented Duty of Candour legislation 
• Reviewed Quality Improvement initiatives through TSH3030 programme 
• Reviewed the work of the Clinical Forum in its first year of implementation 
• Reviewed preparations required for safe and effective care legislation 
• Held a Board Development Session to consider Corporate Governance Blueprint and 

associated improvement plan as part of a self-assessment process 
• Reviewed performance quarterly through performance reporting 
• Heard Patients’ stories of their experience of NHS services, as well as volunteers’ 

stories thereby ensuring a person centred approach 
• The Board welcomed a visit from clinical psychiatry colleagues from Sweden in 

September 2018 
• embedded the values of the 2020 Vision through discussions with staff on Values and 

Behaviours 
• reviewed progress made by the Attendance Management Improvement Task Group 
• reviewed staff engagement programme let by the CEO 
• produced a Records Management Plan in line with the Public Records (Scotland) Act 

2011 
• participated in a Weigh-to-Go! Workplace Programme  
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued 
 
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT continued 
 

• implemented GDPR legislation 
• completed the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) exercise 
• delivered presentations to local community groups on the service it provides to patients 
• made significant progress in updating out of date policies through clinical effectiveness 
• took part in Global Citizenship initiative through links with Pakistan Psychiatric 

Association 
• delivered international training 
• Reviewed progress on developing Business Intelligence and Tableau project 
• Reviewed and updated its Annual Operational Plan for 2019/20 

 
Review of Adequacy and Effectiveness 
 
As Accountable Officer, I am responsible for reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the system 
of internal control. My review is informed by: 
 

• executive and senior managers who are responsible for developing, implementing and 
maintaining internal controls across their areas 

• the work of the internal auditors, who submit to the Audit Committee regular reports 
which include their independent and objective opinion on the effectiveness of risk 
management, control and governance processes, together with recommendations for 
improvement 

• comments by the external auditors in their management letters and other reports 
 
The following processes are in existence to support the above: 
 

• a Board which meets bi-monthly to consider strategic direction and operational plans 
including financial targets and other performance reports 

• periodic reports from the Board’s sub-committees concerning any significant matters of 
governance and internal control 

• minutes from meetings and annual reports from all the governance committees 
• partnership meetings take place on a regular basis and are structured to include a 

review of performance and strategic issues 
• regular reports from managers on the steps they are taking to manage risks in their 

areas of responsibility including progress reports on key projects. 
 
The Board’s internal audit function operates to standards defined in the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards.  The work of internal audit is informed by an analysis of the risk to which the Board is 
exposed, and annual internal audit plans are based on this analysis.  
 
The Board’s Audit Committee endorses the analysis of risks and the internal audit plans. An annual 
internal audit report, which includes an independent opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Board’s system of internal financial control, is submitted to the Audit Committee. 
 
Best value 
 
In accordance with the principles of Best Value, the Board aims to foster a culture of continuous 
improvement.  As part of this, directors and managers are encouraged to review, identify and improve 
the efficient and effective use of resources. I can confirm that arrangements are in place to secure Best 
Value as set out in the Scottish Public Finance Manual.  We have an action plan to take forward any 
improvements that have been identified from the process.   
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued 
 
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT continued 
 
Risk Assessment 
 
All NHSScotland bodies are subject to the requirements of the Scottish Public Finance Manual (SPFM) 
and must operate a risk management strategy in accordance with relevant guidance issued by Scottish 
Ministers. The general principles for a successful risk management strategy are set out in the SPFM. 
 
The risk management process within the Board is comprised of a number of elements: 

• Proactive identification, assessment and management of risks, control systems and 
action plans to mitigate risk (risk register) 

• Proactive assessment of hazard warnings and policy requirements linking in with active 
management of the policy environment within the Board 

• Active review of incidents and near misses and other opportunities for learning such as 
critical incident reviews, complaints, comments, concerns and compliments. 

 
The corporate risk register is reviewed annually involving Board members, senior management, hospital 
managers and clinicians and staff reporting to The Senior Management Team.  The Risk, Finance and 
Performance Group – established in 2018 – receives quarterly reports on the risk register and acts as 
the operational Risk Management Committee overseeing risk issues, including incident reporting and 
review, critical incident review, risk register action plans and progress.  The three Governance 
Committees (Audit, Clinical Governance and Staff Governance) receive annual reports on corporate 
risks which fall within their remit.    
 
The Board manages its risk profile by regular review of the corporate risk register, together with a 
periodic workshop to consider all potential corporate and strategic risks – the most recent of which was 
in January 2018 and an updated Risk Register is now in place.  There are 9 current risks categorised 
as high.  All have up to date action plans in place and are reviewed monthly. 
 
The principal risks facing the Board for the coming period are:  

• Financial pressure from an increased savings requirement and the resultant budget 
pressures across all directorates 
 This is being addressed by detailed budgetary reviews across all directorates –  

setting individual savings targets – plus a long term sustainability review, now 
underway, to identify and implement the operational changes required to achieve 
increased recurring savings. 

• Workforce review and the management of organisational change, including effective 
communication and ensuring the optimum focus of skills and roles.  
 There are formal mechanisms to manage workforce review and any subsequent 

organisational change. These include the Partnership Forum, the Workforce 
Transition group and the boards Organisational Change Policy. 

 
Guidance on the use of the Board’s risk management system and processes is provided on an ongoing 
basis to operational staff.  Formal training programmes on particular aspects (e.g. health and safety, 
risk assessment, complaints management) are in place and reviewed annually. 
 
Information Risk is explicitly controlled by adherence to the Information Governance Framework and 
detailed supporting policies: Freedom of Information, Data Protection, Management of Records, and 
Information Security. All information incidents are reported in separate categories through the DATIX 
risk management system.  The Clinical Governance Committee is responsible for governance 
arrangements in this area.  The Information Governance Group and the Information Governance Sub 
Group are responsible for management review of progress against the Information Governance Action 
Plan and Risk Register. 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued 
 
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT continued 
 
More generally, the Board is committed to a process of continuous improvement, developing systems 
in response to any relevant reviews and developments in best practice.  
 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board has confirmed that there 
are robust processes to address any identified weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the 
controls system across the organisation.   
 
In 2017/18 there were some high recommendations made in internal audit reports, of which three were 
carried forward into 2018/19 and were completed. 
 
The audit report on Cyber Security identified six high recommendations which are summarised below: 

• Cyber Security & Data Protection risks are to be embedded within corporate risk assessment 
process 

• Management to consider implementation of an Information Security Management System to 
establish framework & governance of Cyber Security and consider processes outlined in steps 
4-10 of ISO27001:2013  

• Management to define and document Boards risk appetite 

During 2018/19, the significant control weaknesses or issues that have arisen and were identified by 
audit are detailed below.   
 
The audit report on Effective Rostering and Overtime Management Review identified nine high 
recommendations which are summarised below: 

• Protocol for recording Time Off in Lieu to be reviewed 

• Staff who undertake overtime to complete a Working Time Regulations ‘Opting Out’ form 

• Staff time in lieu records to be reviewed 

• Protocol for recording Time Off in Lieu to be made clear that where staff owe time, any 
additional hours worked  are to reduce negative balance 

• Management to consider streamlining process for creating and approving rosters 

• Discussions to be made with other Board's regarding how they compile and approve rosters 

 
The above recommendations have been completed during 2018/19. 
 
The audit report on Sickness and Absence Management identified three high recommendations which 
are summarised below: 
 

• Line managers to be reminded to complete a Return to Work form which should be passed to 
Human Resources. 

• Human Resources to monitor the "Return to Work" forms received to ensure compliance 

• Human Resources to reintroduce active monitoring & support to line managers in managing 
sickness absence 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued 
 
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT continued 

 

Resultant actions are as follows – 

• Regular updates will be provided to line managers to remind them of their responsibility to 
undertake and document return to work interviews. 

• The HR Team are moving towards electronic filing  

• Line Managers will be aligned with HR Advisors and regular one to one meetings will be initiated 
by HR. 

 
The audit on Patient Activity identified two high recommendation which are summarised below: 
 

• Staff must work on a fit for purpose single system of capturing all patient activity such that this 
can then be used by the eHealth team to inform reporting performance against the LDP targets 

• Patient Day Activity Clinical Model introduced three years ago to be fully implemented. 

All of these recommendations have been completed during 2018/19. 
 
Of the seven internal audit reports issued in 2018/19, there are three areas where a positive (either a 
substantial, reasonable or reasonable progress) assurance opinion was issued, and four areas where 
there was a negative (partial) assurance opinion (Patient Activity Audit, Sickness and Absence 
Management, Policy and Procedure Compliance and Patient Property). 
 
For the areas where partial assurance opinions were given, these were revisited by internal audit either 
through a bespoke follow up review such as in the areas of sickness absence and policy and procedure 
compliance, where 86% of the actions were found to be fully implemented; or through routine 
management action tracking work where progress has been made on addressing the weaknesses 
identified. 
 
Given this follow up, and the adequacy of the controls at the end of year, our internal auditors were able 
to give an overall positive opinion for 2018/19.  In addition, there was an awareness that the areas 
reviewed this year were inherently more risky areas and therefore more likely to yield a partial 
assurance.  This also contributed to the overall positive opinion, and this assessment of follow up will 
continue through 2019/20, encouraging the embedding of the controls implemented in these areas. 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT  
 
BOARD MEMBERS’ AND SENIOR EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION  
 
The Board is supported by a number of committees as mentioned in the Governance Statement on 
pages 13 to 19. 
   

Remuneration of board members and senior employees is determined in line with directions issued by 
the Scottish Government.  All posts at this level are subject to rigorous job evaluation arrangements 
and the pay scales applied reflect the outcomes of these processes.  All extant policy guidance issued 
by the SGHSCD has been appropriately applied and agreed by the Remuneration Committee. 
 
Performance appraisals for executive members are carried out in line with the guidance from the 
Scottish Government and overseen by the Remuneration Committee.  Annual pay rises for Executive 
Directors are dependent on achieving specified levels of performance. 
 
In accordance with the Financial Reporting Manual (FreM) and the Companies Act, publication of the 
‘pension benefits’ is required.  This calculation aims to bring public bodies in line with other industries 
in disclosing an assessed cumulative pension benefit for a standard 20 year period, which is the 
estimated life span following retirement. 
 
The ‘Total earnings in year’ column shows the remuneration relating to actual earnings payable in 
2018/19 and 2017/18.   
 
The tables on the following pages provide a breakdown of Executive and Non Executive Directors’ 
remuneration in 2018/19 and 2017/18 and have been audited by the Board’s auditors. 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT continued 
 
BOARD MEMBERS’ AND SENIOR EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION continued 
 
2018/19 Remuneration fell within the following bandings: 

 
 
 
 
Total Remuneration of: 
 

Gross salary 
(bands  

 of £5,000) 

Bonus 
payments  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Benefits 
in 

 kind 
£000 

Total 
earnings in 

year 
(bands  

 of £5,000) 

Pension 
benefits 

£000 

Total 
remuneration 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Executive Directors       
J Crichton 
Chief Executive  

100-105 - - 100-105 34 135-140 
 

L Thomson 
Medical Director  

165-170 
 

- - 165-170 
 

- 165-170 

R McNaught  
Finance & Performance Management 
Director (0.4wte seconded out from 1 
January 2018 up to 30/11/2018)* 

70-75 
 

- 5.4 70-75 29 105-110 

M Richards 
Director of Nursing & AHP                

85-90 
 

- 1.5 85-90 52 140-145 

     
Non Executive Directors     
T Currie 
Chairperson  

25-30 - 1.9 25-30 - 30-35 

W Brackenridge 
Non Executive  

5-10 - - 5-10 - 5-10 

E Carmichael  
Non Executive (Left 30/11/2018) 

5-10 - 0.1 5-10 - 5-10 

N Johnston 
Non Executive  

5-10 - 0.6 5-10 - 5-10 

M Whitehead 
Non Executive  

5-10 - 0.5 5-10 - 5-10 

D Mcconnell 
Non Executive (Started 1/12/2018) 

0-5 - - 0-5 - 0-5 

A Gillan 
Employee Director  

35-40 - - 35-40 0.5 35-40 

     
     
D Irwin 
Security Director (Retired November 
2018) 

55-60 - - 55-60 
 

- 55-60 

D Walker 
Security Director (from December 
2018) 

      

J White 
Interim HR Director (from 1 April 2017 
to September 2018) ** 

20-25 - - 20-25 - 20-25 
 

K Sandilands 
Interim HR Director (from 1 October 
2018) ** 

20-25   20-25 
 

 20-25 

Total  - - 10.0 - 116 - 

 
The Medical Director’s salary includes £36k in respect of Board duties. 
 
The Employee Director’s salary includes £8k in respect of Board duties. 
 
* The salary disclosed is for 0.6wte from 1 April 2018 to November 2018, and the full time equivalent 
earnings in year is in the band £95k - £100k. 
 
** The salary disclosed is for 0.25wte each of the HR Directors, and the full time equivalent earnings 
in year is in the band £90k - £95k. 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT continued 
 
BOARD MEMBERS’ AND SENIOR EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION continued 
 
2017/18 Remuneration fell within the following bandings: 

 
 
 
 
Total Remuneration of: 
 

Gross salary 
(bands  

 of £5,000) 

Bonus 
payments  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Benefits 
in 

 kind 
£000 

Total 
earnings in 

year 
(bands  

 of £5,000) 

Pension 
benefits 

£000 

Total 
remuneration 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Executive Directors       
J Crichton 
Chief Executive  

95-100 - - 95-100 - 95-100 

L Thomson 
Medical Director  

165-170 - - 165-170 - 165-170 
 

R McNaught  
Finance & Performance Management 
Director (0.4wte seconded out from 1 
January 2018)* 

85-90 - 4.6 85-90 24 105-110 

M Richards 
Director of Nursing & AHP                 

80-85 - 1.5 80-85 28 110-115 

     
Non Executive Directors     
T Currie 
Chairperson  

25-30 - 1.7 25-30 - 25-30 

W Brackenridge 
Non Executive  

5-10 - 0.9 5-10 - 5-10 

E Carmichael  
Non Executive 

5-10 - 0.2 5-10 - 5-10 

N Johnston 
Non Executive  

5-10 - 0.9 5-10 - 5-10 

M Whitehead 
Non Executive  

5-10 - 0.5 5-10 - 5-10 

A Gillan 
Employee Director  

35-40 - - 35-40 1 35-40 

     
     
D Irwin 
Security Director  

85-90 - - 85-90 7 90-95 

J White 
Interim HR Director (from 1 April 2017) 
** 

20-25 - - 45-50 - 45.50 

 K Sandilands  
Interim HR Director (from 1 October 
2018)** 
 

20-25 - - 45-50 - 45-50 
 

Total  - - 10.3 - 60 - 

 
The Medical Director’s salary includes £36k in respect of Board duties. 
 
The Employee Director’s salary includes £8k in respect of Board duties. 
 
*The salary disclosed fi for 0.6wte from 1 January 2018, and the full time equivalent earnings in year 
is in the band £90k - £95k. 
 
**The salary disclosed if for 0.25wte, and the full time equivalent earnings in year is in the band  
£90k - £95k. 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT continued 
 
BOARD MEMBERS’ AND SENIOR EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION continued 
 
2018/19 Pension values fell within the following bandings: 

 
 
 
 
Total Pension Values of: 
 

Total 
accrued 
pension 

 at age 60 
as at 31 
March 
2019 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Total 
accrued 

lump sum 
at age 65 
as at 31 
March 
2019 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Real 
increase in 
pension at 

age 60 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Real 
increase in 
lump sum 
at age 65 
as at 31 
March 
2019 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value 

(CETV) at 
31 March 

2018 
£000 

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value 

(CETV) at 
31 March 

2019 
£000 

Real 
increase in 
CETV  in 

year  
£000 

Executive Directors        
J Crichton 
Chief Executive  

50-55 150-155 0-2.5 5-7.5 1043 1112 55 

L Thomson 
Medical Director  

- - - - - - - 

R McNaught  
Finance & Performance 
Management Director  

10-15 0-5 0-2.5 0-2.5 115 145 30 

M Richards 
Director of Nursing & AHP                

40-45 0-5 2.5-5 0-2.5 511 561 50 

    
Non Executive Directors     
T Currie 
Chairperson  

- - - - - - - 

W Brackenridge 
Non Executive  

- - - - - - - 

E Carmichael  
Non Executive 

- - - - - - - 

N Johnston 
Non Executive  

- - - - - - - 

M Whitehead 
Non Executive  

- - - - - - - 

D Mcconnell 
Non Executive (started 
1/12/2018) 

- - - - - - - 

A Gillan 
Employee Director  

10-15 30-35 0-2.5 0-2.5 227 237 6 

    
     
D Irwin 
Security Director 

40-45 120-125 0-2.5 0-2.5 878 891 6 

J White 
Interim HR Director (from 1 
April 2017) * 

- - - - - - - 

K Sandilands 
Interim HR Director (from 1 
October 2018)* 

- - - - - - - 

Total      2774 2946 147 

 
 
* No pension information has been disclosed as this will be disclosed in the accounts of the NHS 
board that employs this secondee. 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT continued 
 
BOARD MEMBERS’ AND SENIOR EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION continued 
 
2017/18 Pension values fell within the following bandings: 

 
 
 
 
Total Pension Values of: 
 

Total 
accrued 
pension 

 at age 60 
as at 31 
March 
2017 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Total 
accrued 

lump sum 
at age 65 
as at 31 
March 
2017 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Real 
increase in 
pension at 

age 60 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Real 
increase in 
lump sum 
at age 65 
as at 31 
March 
2017 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value 

(CETV) at 
31 March 

2016 
£000 

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer 
value 

(CETV) at 
31 March 

2017 
£000 

Real 
increase in 
CETV  in 

year  
£000 

Executive Directors        
J Crichton 
Chief Executive  

40-45 120-125 0-2.5 0-2.5 794 824 16 

L Thomson 
Medical Director  

- - - - - - - 

R McNaught  
Finance & Performance 
Management Director  

5-10 0-5 0-2.5 0-2.5 88 114 26 

M Richards 
Director of Nursing & AHP                 

30-35 80-85 0-2.5 0-2.5 476 513 37 

    
Non Executive Directors    
T Currie 
Chairperson  

- - - - - - - 

W Brackenridge 
Non Executive  

- - - - - - - 

E Carmichael  
Non Executive 

- - - - - - - 

N Johnston 
Non Executive  

- - - - - - - 

M Whitehead 
Non Executive  

- - - - - - - 

A Gillan 
Employee Director  

5-10 25-30 0-2.5 0-2.5 192 201 6 

    
    
D Irwin 
Security Director  

30-35 95-100 0-2.5 0-2.5 627 661 22 

J White 
Interim HR Director (from 1 
April 2017) 

- - - - - - - 

Total  - - - - 2,177 2,313 107 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT continued 
 
BOARD MEMBERS’ AND SENIOR EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION continued 
 
Fair Pay Disclosure 
 
2018/19 
Range of Staff Remuneration (£000) 

 
8 – 161 

2017/18 
Range of Staff Remuneration (£000) 

 
8 – 160 

Highest earning Director’s total 
remuneration (£000) 

165-170 Highest earning Director’s total 
remuneration (£000) 

165-170 

Median Total Remuneration (£) 33,299 Median Total Remuneration (£) 34,859 
Ratio 5.03 Ratio 4.81 
 
 
Commentary 
 
The Board is required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest paid director 
and the median remuneration of the Board’s workforce.   
 
There are no significant changes in the ratio year on year. 
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related pay and benefits in kind.  It 
does not include pay arrears, severance payments or employer pension contributions or the cash 
equivalent transfer value of pensions.   
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT continued 
 
STAFF REPORT 
 
a) Number of senior staff by band. 
 
 2019 2018 
Bands of £10,000 Number Number 
 of Staff of Staff 
 
Employees whose remuneration fell within the following ranges:  

    
 Clinicians   
 £70,001 to £80,000 4 6 
 £80,001 to £90,000 2 1 
 £90,001 to £100,000 1 1 
 £100,001 to £110,000 1 1 
 £110,001 to £120,000 2 2 
 £120,001 to £130,000 2 2 
 £130,001 to £140,000 2 2 
 £140,001 to  £150,000 1 2 
 £150,001 to £160,000 1 - 
    
 Other 
 £70,001 to £80,000 1 1 
 £80,001 to £90,000 1 2 

 £90,001 to £100,000 - 2 
 £100,001 to £110,000 2 1 

    
    
    

b) Employee expenditure. 
         
  

Executive 
Board 

members 

Non 
executive 

Board 
members 

 
 

Permanent 
staff 

 
 

Inward 
secondees 

 
 

Outward 
secondees 

2019 
 
 

Total 

2018 
 
 

Total 

 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
         

Salaries and wages 293 76 23,203 - (1,106) 22,466 22,059  
Taxation and social   
security costs 

 
37 

 
4 

 
2,566 

 
- 

 
- 

 
2,607 

 
2,630 

 

NHS  scheme 
employers’ costs 

 
42 

 
1 

 
2,697 

 
- 

 
- 

 
2,740 

 
2,809 

 

Other employers’ 
pension costs 

 
- 

 
- 

 
2 

 
  -            

                  
                 - 

 
2 

 
1 

 

Inward secondees 226 -                  - 1,421                  - 1,647 1,511  
 

Total 
 

598 
 

81 
 

28,468 
 

1,421 
 

(1,106) 
 

29,462 
 

 
29,010 

 
 

      

Staff pension benefits are provided through the NHS Superannuation Scheme for Scotland.  Details of 
the scheme can be found in Note 16.  
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT continued 
 
c) Staff Numbers. 
 

  
Executive 

Board 
members 

 

Non 
executive 

Board 
members 

 
 

Permanent 
staff 

 
 

Inward 
secondees 

 
 

Outward 
secondees 

2019 
 
 

Total 

2018 
 

 
Total 

 

    Whole Time  
    Equivalent (WTE)   

 
       4 

 
6 

 
583 

 
24 

 
(12) 

 
605 

 
608 

 
       Included in the total staff numbers above were disabled staff 10 10 

 
d) Staff composition – an analysis of the number of persons of each sex who were directors and 

employees as at 31 March 2019 is detailed below: 
 
 

Category 
 

Male 
2019 

Female 
2019 

Total 
2019 

 Male 
2018 

Female 
2018 

Total 
2018 

        
Executive Directors 
 

3 1 4  3 1 4 

Non Executive Directors and 
Employee Director 

4 2 6  3 3 6 

        
Senior Employees 1 1 2  2 - 2 
        

Other Employees 272 392 664  274 370 644 
        

Total Headcount 280 396 676  282 374 656 
 
 
e) Sickness absence data. 
 

The sickness absence performance for the year ended 31 March 2019 was 8.26% compared to 
the 31 March 2018 performance of 8.5%. 

 
f) The following staff policies were applied during the financial year relating to the employment of 

disabled persons. 
 

• For giving full and fair consideration to applications for employment by the Board made by 
disabled persons, having a regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities - Equal Opportunities 
Policy and Recruitment & Selection Policy. 

 
• For continuing the employment of, and for arranging appropriate training for employees of the 

Board who have become disabled persons during the period when they were employed by the 
Board - Management of Employee Capability Policy and Redeployment Policy 

 
• Otherwise for the training, career development and promotion of disabled persons employed by 

the Board - Personal Development Planning & Review Policy 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT continued 
 
g) Other Employee Matters 
  
 The Board is committed to equality, diversity and human rights in employment and will ensure that 

arrangements are in place to support staff who have equality, diversity and human rights issues.  
The Equality Impact Assessment Screening Tool is completed by all policy authors as part of the 
submission process relating to the policy implementation governance processes. 

 
 Employees are consulted on new policies and changes to working practices. 
 
 The successful management of health and safety is a primary objective of The State Hospital and 

managing health and safety has been integrated into The State Hospital’s risk management 
strategy through the implementation of departmental Health and Safety Control Books. 

Staff are supported by a number of Staff-Side Representatives and the Board recognises the 
important role undertaken by our Staff-Side and has developed a Facility Time Policy for Union 
Representatives. 

The Board is committed to Personal Development of employees and managers are responsible 
for ensuring that annual review meetings are held with employees.  The Senior Management 
Team are regularly informed of progress in the completion of the Personal Development review 
meetings.  

h) Disclosure of Exit Packages 
 
       There were no exit packages in 2018/19 or 2017/18.  
 
i) Trade Union Regulations 
 
The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 came into force on 1 
April 2017. The regulations place a legislative requirement on relevant public sector employers to 
collate and publish, on an annual basis, a range of data on the amount and cost of facility time within 
their organisation.  The data is required to be published on a website maintained by or on behalf of 
the employer before 31st July each year. We intend to publish this data at the following link:  
http://www.tsh.scot.nhs.uk/ 
 
  

http://www.tsh.scot.nhs.uk/
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT – PARLIAMENTARY ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 
 
The Parliamentary Accountability report collates the key Parliamentary accountability documents into 
the annual report and accounts. 
 
Losses and Special Payments 
 
On occasion, the Board is required to write off balances which are no longer recoverable. 
Losses and special payments over £250k require formal approval to regularise such transactions and 
their notation in the annual accounts.  
 
The write-off of the following losses and special payments has been approved by the board: 
 
 No. of cases £000 
Losses 11 1 

 
In the year to 31 March 2019, there were no losses or special payments made in excess of £250,000.  
 
In 2018/19, the Board did not pay out any claims individually greater than £250,000 which were settled 
under the CNORIS scheme (2017/18: nil). Further details on the scheme can be found in Note 1 
(Accounting Policies) of these accounts.  
 
The Board is also required to provide for CNORIS claims notified to it and which will be settled at a 
future date; details of these provisions can be found in note 11. 
 
Fees and Charges 
 
As required in the fees and charges guidance in the Scottish Public Finance Manual, The State Hospital 
charges for services provided on a full costs basis, wherever applicable. 
 
The amount of income and full cost of the service are not material to the financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Chief Executive: 
Gary Jenkins 
 

 
 
 
 
.………………………………. 

20 June 2019  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE STATE HOSPITALS BOARD 
FOR SCOTLAND, THE AUDITOR GENERAL FOR SCOTLAND AND THE SCOTTISH PARLIAMENT  
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion on financial statements 
We have audited the financial statements in the annual report and accounts of the State Hospitals 
Board for Scotland for the year ended 31 March 2019 under the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 
1978. The financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the 
Statement of Financial Position, the Cash Flow Statement, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ 
Equity and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as 
interpreted and adapted by the 2018/19 Government Financial Reporting Manual (the 2018/19 FReM). 
 
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements: 
 
• give a true and fair view in accordance with the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 and 

directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers of the state of the board's affairs as at 31 
March 2019 and of its net expenditure for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as 
interpreted and adapted by the 2018/19 FReM; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service 
(Scotland) Act 1978 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers.  

 
Basis of opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs (UK)), as required by the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General for Scotland. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We were appointed by the Auditor General on 31 
May 2016. The period of total uninterrupted appointment is 8 years. We are independent of the board 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
the UK including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. Non-audit services prohibited by the 
Ethical Standard were not provided to the board. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern basis of accounting 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require 
us to report to you where: 
 
• the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is 

not appropriate; or 
• the board has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that 

may cast significant doubt about its ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. 

 
Risks of material misstatement 
We have reported in a separate Annual Audit Report, which is available from the Audit Scotland website, 
the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement that we identified and our conclusions 
thereon. 
  

http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2016/code_audit_practice_16.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/our-work/annual-audits
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE STATE HOSPITALS BOARD 
FOR SCOTLAND, THE AUDITOR GENERAL FOR SCOTLAND AND THE SCOTTISH PARLIAMENT 
continued 
 
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer for the financial statements 
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Chief Executive's Responsibilities as the Accountable 
Officer, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for such internal control as 
the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the board's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless deemed inappropriate. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements. 
 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. The capability of the audit to detect fraud and other irregularities depends on factors 
such as the skilfulness of the perpetrator, the frequency and extent of manipulation, the degree of 
collusion involved, the relative size of individual amounts manipulated, and the seniority of those 
individuals involved. 
 
We therefore design and perform audit procedures which respond to the assessed risks of material 
misstatement due to fraud. 
 
A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council's website www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities . This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
Other information in the annual report and accounts 
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information in the annual report and accounts. The 
other information comprises the information other than the financial statements, the audited part of the 
Remuneration and Staff Report, and our independent auditor’s report.  Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon except on matters prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland to the extent 
explicitly stated later in this report. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read all the other 
information in the annual report and accounts and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
  

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE STATE HOSPITALS BOARD 
FOR SCOTLAND, THE AUDITOR GENERAL FOR SCOTLAND AND THE SCOTTISH PARLIAMENT 
continued 
 
Report on regularity of expenditure and income 
 
Opinion on regularity 
In our opinion in all material respects the expenditure and income in the financial statements were 
incurred or applied in accordance with any applicable enactments and guidance issued by the Scottish 
Ministers. 
 
Responsibilities for regularity 
The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income.  We are 
responsible for expressing an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with 
the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. 
 
Report on other requirements 
 
Opinions on matters prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland 
In our opinion, the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 and directions made thereunder by 
the Scottish Ministers. 
 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit 
 
• the information given in the Performance Report for the financial year for which the financial 

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been 
prepared in accordance with the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 and directions made 
thereunder by the Scottish Ministers; and 

• the information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been 
prepared in accordance with the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 and directions made 
thereunder by the Scottish Ministers. 
 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We are required by the Auditor General for Scotland to report to you if, in our opinion: 
 
• adequate accounting records have not been kept; or 
• the financial statements and the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report are not in 

agreement with the accounting records; or 
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit 
• there has been a failure to achieve a prescribed financial objective. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 
 
Conclusions on wider scope responsibilities 
In addition to our responsibilities for the annual report and accounts, our conclusions on the wider scope 
responsibilities specified in the Code of Audit Practice are set out in our Annual Audit Report. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE STATE HOSPITALS BOARD 
FOR SCOTLAND, THE AUDITOR GENERAL FOR SCOTLAND AND THE SCOTTISH PARLIAMENT 
continued 
 
Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with the Public Finance 
and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other purpose. In accordance with paragraph 120 of 
the Code of Audit Practice, we do not undertake to have responsibilities to members or officers, in their 
individual capacities, or to third parties. 
 
 
 
 
 
Chris Brown (for and on behalf of Scott-Moncrieff Audit Services) 
Exchange Place 3 
Semple Street 
Edinburgh 
EH3 8BL 
 
 
 
 
Date:……………………………………………………… 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE  

    
    

2018   2019 
£000   £000 

    
30,219 Employee expenditure 3 30,568 
5,229 Other health care expenditure 3 5,795 

35,447 Gross Expenditure   36,363 
    

(2,056) Less: Operating Income  4 (1,828) 
    

33,391 Net Expenditure  34,535 
    

 
 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE 

    
2018   2019 
£000   £000 

    
(1,031) Net (gain) on revaluation of Property, Plant & Equipment 

 
 (1,043) 

    (1,031) Other Comprehensive Expenditure  (1,043) 
    
    

32,360 Comprehensive Net Expenditure  33,492 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Notes to the Accounts, numbered 1 to 19, form an integral part of these Accounts. 
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SUMMARY OF RESOURCE OUTTURN 
 
SUMMARY OF CORE REVENUE RESOURCE 
OUTTURN  £000 £000 
    

Net Expenditure   34,535 
Total Non Core Expenditure (see below)   (1,729) 
Total Core Expenditure   32,806 
Core Revenue Resource Limit   32,818 
Saving/(excess) against Core Revenue Resource 
Limit    12 
    
    

SUMMARY OF NON CORE REVENUE RESOURCE 
OUTTURN    
Depreciation/Amortisation    
Annually Managed Expenditure - Impairments  2,778  
Annually Managed Expenditure - Creation of Provisions  (1,115)  
  66  
Total Non Core Expenditure   1,729 
Non Core Revenue Resource Limit    1,729 
Saving/(excess) against Non Core Revenue 
Resource Limit   - 
    
    

SUMMARY RESOURCE OUTTURN Resource Expenditure 
Saving/ 

(Excess) 
 £000 £000 £000 
Core 32,818 32,806 12 
Non Core  1,729 1,729 - 
Total 34,547 34,535 12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Notes to the Accounts, numbered 1 to 19, form an integral part of these Accounts. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2019 
 

     
2018    2019 
£000  Note £000 £000 

     
 NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

81,547 Property, plant & equipment  6 81,251  
109 Intangible assets  5 84  

     81,656 Total non-current assets   81,335 
     
 CURRENT ASSETS    

70 Inventories  7 86  
563 Trade & other receivables  8 614  
19 Cash and cash equivalents  35  

     652    735 
     82,308 TOTAL ASSETS   82,070 
     
 CURRENT LIABILITIES    

(195) Provisions  11 (229)  
(2,035) Trade & other payables 10 (2,275)  

     (2,230) Total current liabilities   (2,504) 
     80,078 Non-current assets plus/less 

current assets / liabilities 
  79,566 

     
 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

(2,941) Provisions  11 (2,804)  
     (2,941) Total non-current liabilities   (2,804) 
          

77,137 ASSETS LESS LIABILITIES   76,762 
     
 TAXPAYERS EQUITY    

68,199 General fund SOCTE  67,099 
8,938 Revaluation reserve SOCTE  9,663 

     77,137 TOTAL TAXPAYERS EQUITY   76,762 
     

 
 

Adopted by the Board on: 
 

20 June 2019 

Finance and Performance 
Management Director 

 

Robin McNaught …………………………… 
  
Chief Executive:  
Gary Jenkins …………………………… 

 
 
 
 
 
The Notes to the Accounts, numbered 1 to 19, form an integral part of these Accounts. 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
     

2018    2019 
£000  Note £000 £000 

     
 CASHFLOW FROM OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES 
   

(33,391) Net expenditure SOCNE  (34,535) 
1,221 Adjustments for non cash transactions  2(a)  1,663 

- Interest payable recognised in net 
operating expenditure 

 2(b)                - 

(508) Movements in working capital  2(c)  54 
     

(32,678) Net cash outflow from operating 
activities 

  (32,818) 

     
 Cash flows from investing activities 

 
   

(545) Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (303)  
(62) Purchase of intangible assets                             -  

- 
 

- 

Proceeds of disposal of property, plant & 
equipment 
Proceeds of disposal of intangible assets           
 

             4          
 

            - 

 

     (607) Net cash outflow from investing 
activities 

  (299) 

          
 Cash flows from financing activities    

33,285 Funding  33,117  
7 Movement in general fund working capital  16  

33,292 Cash drawn down SOCTE  33,133 
- Interest paid  2(b)  - 
     33,292 Net financing   33,133 
          

7 Net Increase / (decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents in the period 

  16 

12 Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the period 

  19 

     19 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the period 

  35 

      
 

 Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in 
net debt/cash 

  

7 Increase/ (decrease) in cash in year  16 
12 Net debt/cash at 1 April  19 

    19 Net debt/cash at 31 March  35 
 
The Notes to the Accounts, numbered 1 to 19, form an integral part of these Accounts. 
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
    
  2019 2018 
  £000 £000 
Balance at 1 April  19 12 
Net change in cash and cash equivalent balances  16 7 
    Balance at 31 March  35 19 
    
Total cash – cash flow statement  35 19 
    

 
  2019 2018 
  £000 £000 
Government Banking Service account balance  28 14 
Commercial banks and cash in hand  7 5 
        
Balance at 31 March  35 19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Notes to the Accounts, numbered 1 to 19, form an integral part of these Accounts. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS’ EQUITY  
 

 
 
 

 
Note 

General 
Fund 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Total 
Reserves 

  £000 £000 £000 
Balance at 31 March 2018  68,199 8,938 77,137 

Retrospective Restatements for changes in accounting 
policy and material errors  

  - - - 

     Restated balance at 1 April 2018  68,199 8,938 77,137 
     
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018/19     
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation/indexation of property, 
plant & equipment 

  - 1,043 1,043 

Impairment of property, plant & equipment   - 1,115 1,115 
Revaluation & impairments taken to operating costs   - (1,115) (1,115) 
Transfers between reserves  318 (318)               - 
Net expenditure for the year  (34,535)  (34,535) 
     Total recognised income and expense for 2018/19  (34,217) 725 (33,492) 
     Funding     
Drawn down  33,133 - 33,133 
Movement in General Fund (Creditor) / Debtor  (16) - (16) 
     Balance at 31 March 2019 SOFP 67,099 9,663 76,762 
 
 

    

Prior Year  
Note 

General 
Fund 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Total 
Reserves 

 
  £000 £000 £000 

Balance at 31 March 2017  68,019 8,192 76,211 
Retrospective restatements for changes in accounting 
policy and material errors  

  - - - 

     Restated balance at 1 April 2018  68,019 8,192 76,211 
     
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017/18     
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation/indexation of property, 
plant & equipment 

  - 1,032 1,032 

Impairment of property, plant & equipment   - 1,532 1,532 
Revaluation & impairments taken to operating costs   - (1,532) (1,532) 
Transfers between reserves  286 (286) - 
Net expenditure for the year  (33,391) - (33,391) 
     Total recognised income and expense for 2017/18  (33,105) 746 (32,359) 
     Funding     
Drawn down  33,292 - 33,292 
Movement in General Fund (Creditor) / Debtor  (7) - (7) 
     Balance at 31 March 2018 SOFP 68,199 8,938 77,137 

 
 
The Notes to the Accounts, numbered 1 to 19, form an integral part of these Accounts. 
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NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
1.1 Authority 
 
 In accordance with the accounts direction issued by Scottish Ministers under section 19(4) of the 

Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 appended, these Accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by HM 
Treasury, which follows International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU), IFRIC Interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 to the 
extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the public sector. They have been applied 
consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.  
 

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of 
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, 
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are 
disclosed in section 1.27 below. 

 
 
(a) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective and early adopted in 2018/19 
There are two new standards, amendments or interpretations effective for the first time in 2018/19. 
Applications are not expected to have a material effect on the financial statements. 

 
- IFRS9 Financial Instruments (not effective until April 2018).  The standard is expected to be 

applied, through Government Financial Reporting Manual interpretation, in 2018/19.   
 

- IFRS15 Revenue from contracts with customers (not effective until April 2018).  The standard 
is expected to be applied, through Government Financial Reporting Manual interpretation in 
2018/19.   
 
 
(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not adopted in 2018/19 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards and 
interpretations which have not yet been applied were in issue but not yet adopted: 
 

- IFRS16 Leases.  The standard is expected to be applied, subject to EU adoption and 
consultation and through Government Financial Reporting Manual interpretation, in 2019/20.  The 
standard represents a significant change in lessee accounting by largely removing the distinction 
between operating and finance leases and introducing a single lessee accounting model.  The 
lessor accounting model is significantly unchanged.  Application of the standard is subject to 
ongoing analysis and review by HM Treasury and the other Relevant Authorities.  A cross 
government Technical Working Group has been formed to assist with the assessment.  The 
possible impact on the financial statements from applying this standard cannot yet be reasonably 
estimated. 

 
Management do not expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will have a material 
impact on the financial statements of the board in future periods. 

 
1.2 Consolidation 
  

In accordance with IFRS10 – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, the Board do not 
have any Endowment Funds and has no integration of health and social care services therefore 
there is no requirement to consolidate the financial statements. 
 

1.3 Retrospective restatements 
 
No retrospective restatements have been made to the accounts.  
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NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
 

1.4 Going Concern 
  

The accounts are prepared on the going concern basis, which provides that the entity will continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
 

1.5 Accounting Convention 
  
 The Accounts are prepared on a historical cost basis, as modified by the revaluation of property, 

plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories, available-for-sale financial assets and 
financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value. 

 
1.6 Funding 
 

Most of the expenditure of the Board is met from funds advanced by the Scottish Government 
within an approved revenue resource limit. Cash drawn down to fund expenditure within this 
approved revenue resource limit (RRL) is credited to the general fund. 

 
All other income receivable by the Board that is not classed as funding is recognised in the period 
in which it is receivable.  
 
Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in the following financial 
year, that income is deferred. 

 
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale 
have been met, and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract. 
 
Non discretionary funding outwith the RRL is allocated to match actual expenditure incurred for 
the provision of specific services identified by the Scottish Government. Non discretionary 
expenditure is disclosed in the accounts and deducted from operating costs charged against the 
RRL in the Statement of Resource Outturn. 

 
Funding for the acquisition of capital assets received from the Scottish Government is credited to 
the general fund when cash is drawn down. 

 
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been 
received, and is measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure except where it results in the 
creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment. 

 
1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment 
  
 The treatment of capital assets in the accounts (capitalisation, valuation, and depreciation) is in 

accordance with the NHS Capital Accounting Manual.  Title to properties included in the accounts 
is held by Scottish Ministers. 

 
1.7.1 Recognition 

 
 Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where: it is held for use in delivering services or for 

administrative purposes; it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service 
potential be provided to, the Board; it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

All assets falling into the following categories are capitalised: 

1) Property, plant and equipment assets which are capable of being used for a period which 
could exceed one year, and have a cost equal to or greater than £5,000.  
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NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
 

2) In cases where a new hospital would face an exceptional write off of items of equipment 
costing individually less than £5,000, the Board has the option to capitalise initial revenue 
equipment costs with a standard life of 10 years. 

3) Assets of lesser value may be capitalised where they form part of a group of similar 
assets purchased at approximately the same time and cost over £20,000 in total, or 
where they are part of the initial costs of equipping a new development and total over 
£20,000. 

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly 
different asset lives e.g. plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate 
assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.  

 
1.7.2 Measurement 
 
Valuation: 
 
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs 
directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

 
All assets are measured subsequently at fair value as follows: 

 
 Specialised NHS land, buildings, equipment, installations and fittings are stated at depreciated 

replacement cost, as a proxy for fair value as specified in the FReM. 
 
 Non specialised land and buildings, such as offices, are stated at fair value. 
 
 Valuations of all land and building assets are reassessed by valuers under a 5-year programme 

of professional valuations and adjusted in intervening years to take account of movements in 
prices since the latest valuation. The valuations are carried out in accordance with the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual insofar as these terms 
are consistent with the agreed requirements of the Scottish Government. 
 
Non specialised equipment, installations and fittings are valued at fair value.  The Board values 
such assets using the most appropriate valuation methodology available (for example, 
appropriate indices).  A depreciated historical cost basis serves as a proxy for fair value in respect 
of such assets which have short useful lives or low values (or both). 
 
Revaluation is only applied after recognition as an asset, therefore is not applicable to assets 
under construction.   The carrying amount of an asset under construction is reduced if it becomes 
apparent that fruitless payments have been incurred or other costs have been inappropriately 
capitalised. 
 
Indexation is not applied to assets under construction until the asset is brought into use. 
 
To meet the underlying objectives established by the Scottish Government the following accepted 
variations of the RICS Appraisal and Valuation Manual have been required: 
 

1) Specialised operational assets are valued on a modified replacement cost basis to take 
account of modern substitute building materials and locality factors only. 
 

2) Operational assets which are in use delivering front line services or back office functions, 
and surplus assets with restrictions on their disposal, are valued at current value in 
existing use.  Assets have been assessed as surplus, where there is no clear plan to 
bring the asset back into future use as an operational asset.  
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NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
 

3) Subsequent expenditure is capitalised into an asset’s carrying value when it is probable 
the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Board and the cost 
can be measured reliably. Where subsequent expenditure does not meet these criteria 
the expenditure is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. If part 
of an asset is replaced, then the part it replaces is de-recognised, regardless of whether 
or not it has been depreciated separately. 

 
Revaluations and Impairment: 

 Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, 
except where, and to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, in which case they are recognised as income. 

 Movements on revaluation are considered for individual assets rather than groups or 
land/buildings together. 

Permanent decreases in asset values and impairments are charged gross to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure. Any related balance on the revaluation reserve is transferred to 
the General Fund. 

 
Gains and losses on revaluation are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure. 
 
Temporary decreases in asset values or impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve to 
the extent that there is an available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. 

 
1.7.3 Depreciation 

 
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated to their estimated residual value over their 
remaining useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or 
service delivery benefits. 

 
Depreciation is charged on each main class of tangible asset as follows: 

 
1) Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated. 

2)  Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is brought into 
use. 

 
3)  Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on current value over the 

estimated remaining life of the asset, as advised by the appointed valuer.  They are 
assessed in the context of the maximum useful lives for building elements. 

 
4) Equipment is depreciated over the estimated life of the asset.  

 
Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis. 
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NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
 
The following asset lives have been used: 

 
Asset category/component Useful life 

Years 
Buildings – structure 15 – 80 
Buildings – engineering 12 – 40 
Buildings – finishes & fittings 8 – 40 
Office, short life medical & IT equipment 5 
Vehicles  7 
Long life IM&T installations 8 
Furniture and medium life medical equipment 10 
Engineering plant and long life medical equipment 15 
Security equipment 5 – 25 

 
1.8 Intangible Assets 

 
1.8.1 Recognition 

 
 Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being 

sold separately from the rest of the Board’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal 
rights. They are recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or 
service potential be provided to, the Board and where the cost of the asset can be measured 
reliably. 

 
Intangible assets that meet the recognition criteria are capitalised when they are capable of being 
used in a Board’s activities for more than one year and they have a cost of at least £5,000. 

 
The main classes of intangible assets recognised are: 

 Software: 
 Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as 

part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the 
operation of hardware e.g. application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. 

 
 Software licences: 

Purchased computer software licences are capitalised as intangible fixed assets where 
expenditure of at least £5,000 is incurred.  

1.8.2 Measurement 
 

 Valuation: 
 

 Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed 
to create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. 

 
 Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Where an active (homogeneous) 

market exists, intangible assets are carried at fair value. Where no active market exists, the 
intangible asset is revalued, using indices or some suitable model, to the lower of depreciated 
replacement cost and value in use where the asset is income generating. Where there is no value 
in use, the intangible asset is valued using depreciated replacement cost. These measures are a 
proxy for fair value. 
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NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
 

1.8.3 Amortisation 
 
Intangible assets are amortised to their estimated residual value over their remaining useful 
economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery 
benefits. 

 
Amortisation is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure on each main class 
of intangible asset as follows: 

 
1)  Software. Amortised over their expected useful life 
 
2) Software licences. Amortised over the shorter term of the licence and their useful 

economic lives. 

3)  Other intangible assets. Amortised over their expected useful life. 
 

Amortisation is charged on a straight line basis. 
 
The following asset lives have been used: 

 
Asset category/component Useful life 

Years 
Software 5 
Software licences 2-5 

 
1.9 Sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  
  
 Disposal of non-current assets is accounted for as a reduction to the value of assets equal to the 

net book value of the assets disposed. When set against any sales proceeds, the resulting gain 
or loss on disposal will be recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.  

 
1.10 Leasing 
 
 Operating leases 
 Leases other than finance leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged 

to expenditure on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives 
received are added to the lease rentals and charged to expenditure over the life of the lease. 

 
1.11 Impairment of non-financial assets 

 
Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. Where an asset is not held for the purpose of generating cash flows, 
value in use is assumed to equal the cost of replacing the service potential provided by the asset, 
unless there has been a reduction in service potential. For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffer an impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment. Impairment losses charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure are deducted from future operating costs to the extent that they are identified as 
being reversed in subsequent revaluations. 
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NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
 
1.12 General fund receivables and payables 
 

 Where the Board has a positive net cash book balance at the year end, a corresponding creditor 
is created and the general fund debited with the same amount to indicate that this cash is 
repayable to the Scottish Government Health & Social Care Directorate.  Where the Board has a 
net overdrawn cash position at the year end, a corresponding debtor is created and the general 
fund credited with the same amount to indicate that additional cash is to be drawn down from the 
Scottish Government Health & Social Care Directorate. 

 
1.13 Inventories 

 
 Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Taking into account the high 

turnover of NHS inventories, the use of average purchase price is deemed to represent current 
cost. Work in progress is valued at the cost of the direct materials plus the conversion costs and 
other costs incurred to bring the goods up to their present location, condition and degree of 
completion. 

 
1.14 Losses and special payments 

 
 Operating expenditure includes certain losses which would have been made good through 

insurance cover had the NHS not been bearing its own risks. Had the NHS provided insurance 
cover, the insurance premiums would have been included as normal revenue expenditure. 

 
1.15 Employee Benefits 
 

1.15.1 Short term employee benefits 
  

 Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the year in which the 
service is received from employees. The cost of annual leave and flexible working time entitlement 
earned but not taken by employees at the end of the year is recognised in the financial statements 
to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following year. 

  
1.15.2 Pension costs 

 
 The Board participates in the NHS Superannuation Scheme (Scotland).  This scheme is an 

unfunded statutory pension scheme with benefits underwritten by the UK Government.  The 
scheme is financed by payments from employers and those current employees who are members 
of the scheme and paying contributions at progressively higher marginal rates based on 
pensionable pay as specified in the regulations.  The Board is unable to identify its share of the 
underlying notional assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and 
therefore accounts for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme, as required by IAS 
19 ‘Employee Benefits’. As a result, the amount charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure represents the Board’s employer contributions payable to the scheme in respect of 
the year. The contributions deducted from employees are reflected in the gross salaries charged 
and are similarly remitted to the Exchequer. The pension cost is assessed every four years by 
the Government Actuary and this valuation determines the rate of contributions required.  The 
most recent actuarial valuation is published by the Scottish Public Pensions Agency and is 
available on their website. 

  
 Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except 

where the retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is 
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure at the time the Board commits itself 
to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 
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NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
 
1.16 Clinical and medical negligence costs 
 

 Employing health bodies in Scotland are responsible for meeting medical negligence costs up to 
a specified threshold per claim. Costs above this threshold are reimbursed to Boards from a 
central fund held as part of the Clinical Negligence and Other Risks Indemnity Scheme (CNORIS) 
by the Scottish Government.   

 
 The Board provides for all claims notified to the NHS Central Legal Office according to the value 

of the claim and the probability of settlement.  Claims assessed as ‘Category 3’ are deemed most 
likely and provided for in full, those in ‘Category 2’ as 50% of the claim and those in ‘Category 1’ 
as nil.  The balance of the value of claims not provided for is disclosed as a contingent liability.  
This procedure is intended to estimate the amount considered to be the liability in respect of any 
claims outstanding and which will be recoverable from the Clinical Negligence and Other Risks 
Indemnity Scheme in the event of payment by an individual health body.  The corresponding 
recovery in respect of amounts provided for is recorded as a debtor and that in respect of amounts 
disclosed as contingent liabilities are disclosed as contingent assets. 

 
The Board also provides for its liability from participating in the scheme.  The participation in 
CNORIS provision recognises the Board’s respective share of the total liability of NHSScotland 
as advised by the Scottish Government and based on information prepared by NHS Boards and 
the Central Legal Office.  The movement in the provisions between financial years is matched by 
a corresponding adjustment in AME provision and is classified as non-core expenditure. 

 
1.17 Related party transactions 
 

Material related party transactions are disclosed in Note 18 in line with the requirements of IAS 
24. Transactions with other NHS bodies for the commissioning of health care are summarised in 
Note 3. 

 
1.18 Value added tax 
 

Most of the activities of the Board are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does 
not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the 
relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of non current assets. 
Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

 
1.19 Provisions 
 

The Board provides for legal or constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount at 
the Statement of Financial Position date on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the 
estimated cash flows are discounted using the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury. 

 
1.20 Contingencies 
 
 Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed 

by one or more future events not wholly within the Board’s control) are not recognised as assets, 
but are disclosed in Note 13 where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in Note 13, unless the probability of a 
transfer of economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as: 
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NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
 

• possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or 

 
• present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of 

economic benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with 
sufficient reliability. 

 
1.21 Corresponding amounts 
 

Corresponding amounts are shown for the primary statements and notes to the financial 
statements. Where the corresponding amounts are not directly comparable with the amount to be 
shown in respect of the current financial year, IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, 
requires that they should be adjusted and the basis for adjustment is disclosed in a note to the 
financial statements. 

 
1.22 Financial instruments 
 

1.22.1 Financial assets 
 

 Classification 
The Board classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. The classification depends on 
the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.   
 
As at the Statement of Financial Position date the Board only has the following financial assets. 

 
Loans and receivables: 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities 
greater than 12 months after the Statement of Financial Position date. These are classified as 
non-current assets. Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash at 
bank and in hand in the Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Recognition and measurement  
Financial assets are recognised when the Board becomes party to the contractual provisions of 
the financial instrument. 
  
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired or have been transferred and the Board has transferred substantially all risks and rewards 
of ownership.  

 
Loans and receivables: 
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for 
impairment of loans and receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the 
Board will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables.  
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 
financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are 
considered indicators that the loan and receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  
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NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
 

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the 
amount of the loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. When a 
loan or receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure. 

 
1.22.2 Financial Liabilities 

 
Classification 
The Board classifies its financial liabilities in the following categories: at fair value through profit 
or loss, and other financial liabilities. The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
financial liabilities were issued. Management determines the classification of its financial liabilities 
at initial recognition.  
  
As at the Statement of Financial Position date the Board only has other financial liabilities. 
 
Other financial liabilities: 
Other financial liabilities are included in current liabilities, except for maturities greater than 12 
months after the Statement of Financial Position date. These are classified as non-current 
liabilities. The Board’s other financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Recognition and measurement  
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Board becomes party to the contractual provisions of 
the financial instrument. 
 
A financial liability is removed from the Statement of Financial Position when it is extinguished, 
that is when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

 
Other financial liabilities: 
Other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 

1.23 Segmental reporting 
 

The Board has agreed that the services operate under one segment only which is reported in a 
manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker, who 
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments. 
This has been identified as the senior management of the Board. 
 
The operating segment is unlikely to directly relate to the analysis of expenditure shown in Note 
3. 
 

1.24 Cash and cash equivalents 
  
 Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, cash balances 

held with the Government Banking Service (GBS) and balances held in its commercial bank. 
 
1.25 Foreign exchange 
 
 The functional and presentational currency of the Board is sterling. 
 
 A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency 

at the spot exchange rate on the date of the transaction.  



THE STATE HOSPITALS BOARD FOR SCOTLAND 
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 
  

 - 50 -  

NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued 
 

 Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-
translation at the Statement of Financial Position date) are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure as income or expenditure in the period in which they arise. 

 
1.26 Third party assets 
 
 Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised 

in the accounts since the Board has no beneficial interest in them. 
  
 However, they are disclosed in Note 19 to the accounts in accordance with the requirements of 

HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual. 
 
1.27 Key sources of judgement and estimation uncertainty 
 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
The Board makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The Board makes judgements 
in applying accounting policies. The estimates, assumptions and judgements that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the financial statements within the next financial year are addressed below. 

 
Early Retirement and Injury Benefit Provisions 
The Board has provided for the estimated future costs relating to early retirement and injury 
benefits.  Reliance is placed on information provided by other parties in order to establish the 
value of such provisions.  The Scottish Public Pensions Agency provides details of claimants and 
the amounts the Board is due to pay over.  Future payments are estimated on an annual basis 
using a discount rate provided by HM Treasury and the life tables provided by the Office for 
National Statistics (ONS).  Any future significant changes to the discount rate or the life tables 
could have a material impact on the level of provision required. 
 
Impairment charges 
The Board estimates the Indexation percentage used to calculate impairments.  The percentage 
is based on the most recent data available through: 
 
Agricultural Land – RICS/RAU Rural Land Market Survey H1 2018 & The Savills Farmland 
Market Report 2018 (published January 2019)  
Operational Land – In the absence of any formal indices for operational land the general 
economic background is taken into account for secondary locations to estimate the percentage. 
Buildings & Site Services - The Building Information Service (BICS)  
 
Figures supplied are based on a forecast submitted by BNP Paribas Real Estate. 

  



THE STATE HOSPITALS BOARD FOR SCOTLAND 
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 
  

 - 51 -  

NOTE 2 NOTES TO THE CASHFLOW STATEMENT 
 
NOTE 2(a)  Adjustments for non-cash transactions 

    
    

2018   2019 
£000  Note £000 

    
 Expenditure not paid in cash   
    

2,736 Depreciation 6 2,753 
17 Amortisation 5 25 

- Impairment on property, plant & equipment charged to SOCNE 6 - 
 

(1,532) 
Reversal of impairments on property, plant & equipment 
charged to SOCNE 

 
6 

 
(1,115) 

    
1,221 Total expenditure not paid in cash CFS 1,663 

 
 
 

   

NOTE 2 NOTES TO THE CASHFLOW STATEMENT continued 
 

  

NOTE 2(b)  Interest payable recognised in operating expenditure   
    

    
2018   2019 
£000  Note £000 

    
 Interest payable   
    
    

- Net interest payable CFS - 
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NOTE 2(c) Movement in working capital 
 

2018     2019 
Net 

Movement 
  

Note 
Opening 
balances 

Closing 
balances 

Net 
movement 

£000   £000 £000 £000 
      
 INVENTORIES     

10 Statement of Financial Position 7 70 86 (16) 
10 Net Decrease / (Increase)    (16) 

      
 TRADE AND OTHER 

RECEIVABLES 
    

(2) Due within one year 8 563 614 (51) 
      

(2) Net Decrease / (Increase)    (51) 
      
 TRADE AND OTHER 

PAYABLES 
    

(342) 
 

Due within one year 10 2,035 2,275  

(72) Less: property, plant & 
equipment (capital) included in 
above 

 (73) (181)  

(7) Less: general fund creditor 
included in above 

 (19) (35)  

   1,943 2,059            116 
(421) Net (Decrease)/ Increase                 116 

      
 PROVISIONS     

(95) Statement of Financial Position 11 3,136 3,033 (103) 
      

(95) Net (Decrease)/ Increase    (103) 
            
 

(508) 
NET MOVEMENT (Decrease)/ 
Increase 

    
(54) 
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NOTE 3 OPERATING EXPENSES 
 
NOTE 3(a)  Employee expenditure 
 

2018   2019 
£000   £000 

    
2,129 

17,759 
10,331 

Medical and Dental 
Nursing 
Other Staff 
 

 2,206 
17,683 
10,679 

30,219  SOCNE    30,568 
 
 
Further detail and analysis of employee expenditure can be found in the Remuneration and Staff Report, 
forming part of the Accountability Report. 
 
 
NOTE 3(b) Other Operating Expenditure  

     
 Other healthcare expenditure: 

 
   

1,344 Goods and services from other NHSScotland bodies                                       1,277 
3,836 Other operating expenses                      

 - Depreciation                          2,778  
 - Impairment                           (1,115)  
 - Utilities                                     729  
 - Rates                                       551  
            -     Other                                    1,527                          4,470 

48 External auditor’s remuneration – statutory audit fee                          48 
     5,228 Total Other Operating Expenditure                                                        5,795 

     
 During the year the Board did not purchase non audit additional services from its auditor. 

     
 

 
Note 4 OPERATING INCOME  

 
2018   2019 
£000  Note £000 

    
199 Income from Scottish Government  205 
957 Income from other NHS Scotland bodies  1,007 

- Profit on disposal of assets  - 
65 Contributions in respect of clinical and medical negligence 

claims 
 66 

 
    
 Non NHS   

835 Other income  550 
    

2,056 Total income SOCNE 1,828 
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NOTE 5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
       
    

Software 
Information 
Technology 

 
Assets under 

 

   Licences Software Development Total 
   £000 £000 £000 £000 
       
Cost or valuation as at 1 April 2018   56 720 - 776 
Additions   - - - - 
Disposals   - (90) - (90) 
       At 31 March 2019   56 630 - 686 
       
Amortisation at 1 April 2018   56 611 - 667 
Provided during the year   - 25 - 25 
Disposals   - (90) - (90) 
At 31 March 2019   56 546 - 602 
       Net book value at 1 April 2018   - 109 - 109 
 
 

      Net book value at 31 March 2019  SOFP - 84 - 84 

 
    
 INTANGIBLE  ASSETS – Prior Year 

     
       
    

Software 
Information 
Technology 

 
Assets under 

 

   Licences Software Development Total 
   £000 £000 £000 £000 
       
Cost or valuation as at 1 April 2017   56 596 62 714 
Additions   - 25 37 62 
       Transfers between categories   - 99 (99) - 
              At 31 March 2018   56 720 - 776 
       
Amortisation at 1 April 2017   56 594 - 650 
Provided during the year 
 

  - 17 - 17 

       At 31 March 2017   56 611 - 667 
       Net book value at 1 April 2017   - 2 62 64 
 
 

      Net book value at 31 March 2018  SOFP - 109 - 
 

109 
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NOTE 6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
         

   
Buildings 

 
 

    
Assets 

 

  
Land 

(excluding 
dwellings) 

Transport 
Equipment 

Plant & 
Machinery 

Information 
Technology 

Furniture 
& Fittings 

Under 
Construction 

 
Total 

         
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation         
At 1 April 2018 907 77,703 323 7,744 3,339 1,347 414 91,777 
Additions - - - 19 31 - 253 303 
Transfers - - - 158 - - (158) - 
Revaluation - 1,138 - - - - - 1,138 
Impairment reversal - 1,193 - - - - - 1,193 
Disposals - - - (10) (76) - - (86) 
At 31 March 2019 907 80,034 323 7,911 3,294 1,347 509 94,325 

         
Depreciation          
At 1 April 2018 - 3,840 194 3,295 2,011 890 - 10,230 
Provided during the 
year 

- 1,925 27 487 177 137 - 2,753 

Revaluation - 95 - - - - - 95 
Impairment reversal - 78 - - - - - 78 
Disposals - - - (6) (76) - - (82) 
At 31 March 2019 - 5,938 221 3,776 2,112 1,027 - 13,074 

         
Net book value at 
1 April 2018 

907 73,863 129 4,449 1,328 457 414 81,547 

         
Net book value at 
31 March 2019 

907 74,096 102 4,135 1,182 320 509 81,251 

         
   

Open market 
value of land and 
dwellings 
included above 

 
 
 

190 

 
 
 

- 
 
 

Asset Financing: 
 

Owned 907 74,096 102 4,135 1,182 320 509 81,251 
         

Net Book Value 
at 31 March 2019 

907 74,096 102 4,135 1,182 320 509 81,251 
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NOTE 6(a) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued 
 
Prior Year 
 

         
   

Buildings 
 
 

    
Assets 

 

  
Land 

(excluding 
dwellings) 

Transport 
Equipment 

Plant & 
Machinery 

Information 
Technology 

Furniture 
& Fittings 

Under 
Construction 

 
Total 

         
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation         
At 1 April 2017 911 74,823 322 7,722 3,444 1,347 124 88,693 
Additions - 115 47 22 79 - 354 617 
Transfers - 64 - - - - (64) - 
Revaluation (4) 1,109 - - - - - 1,105 
Impairment 
Impairment reversal 

- 
- 

- 
1,592 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
1,592 

Disposals - - (46) - (184) - - (230) 
At 31 March 2018 907 77,703 323 7,744 3,339 1,347 414 91,777 

         
Depreciation          
At 1 April 2017 - 1,851 217 2,759 2,011 753 - 7,591 
Provided during the 
year 

- 1,856 23 536 184 137 - 2,736 

Revaluation - 73 - - - - - 73 
Impairment reversal - 60 - - - - - 60 
Disposals - - (46) - (184) - - (230) 
At 31 March 2018 - 3,840 194 3,295 2,011 890 - 10,230 

         
Net book value at 
1 April 2017 

911 72,972 105 4,963 1,433 594 124 81,102 

         
Net book value at 
31 March 2018 

907 73,863 129 4,449 1,328 457 414 81,547 

         
   

Open market 
value of land and 
dwellings 
included above 

 
 

190 

 
 

- 

 
 

Asset Financing: 
Owned 907 73,863 129 4,449 1,328 457 414 81,547 

         
Net Book Value 
at 31 March 2018 
 

 
907 

 
73,863 

 
129 

 
4,449 

 
1,328 

 
457 

 
414 

 
81,547 

         
         

 
 
NOTE 6(b)      ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 
 
The Board had no property or intangible assets that were held for sale.     
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued 
 
NOTE 6(c)       PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT DISCLOSURES     

    
2018   2019 
£000   £000 

    
81,547 Net book value of property, plant and equipment at 31 

March - Purchased 
 81,251 

    
190 Net book value related to land valued at open market 

value at 31 March 
 190 

 
No revaluation was carried out during 2018/19. Indices were given by the valuer and applied to  
buildings and site services at 31 March 2019.  Values were computed in accordance with the Royal 
Institute of Chartered Surveyors Statement of Asset Valuation practice and Guidance Notes, subject to 
the special requirements of the accounting practices of the NHS. 
 
The net impact was an increase in value for Purchased Assets of £2.158m (2017/18: an increase of 
£2.564m) of which £1.043m (2017/18 £1.032m) was credited to the revaluation reserve and reversal of 
previous impairments of £1.115m (2016/17 £1.532m) was credited to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure and Summary of Resource Outturn. 
 
 
NOTE 6(d)  ANALYSIS OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURE  
 

2018   2019 
£000  Note £000 

    
 EXPENDITURE   

62 Acquisition of intangible assets 5 - 
617 Acquisition of property, plant & equipment 6 303 

- Proceeds of property, plant & equipment 6 (4) 
    

679 Gross capital expenditure  299 
    
    

679 Net capital expenditure  299 
    
    

  
SUMMARY OF CAPITAL RESOURCE OUTTURN 

   
679 Core capital expenditure included above  299 
750 Core capital resource limit  303 

    
71 Saving / (excess) against Core Capital Resource 

Limit 
 4 

71   4 
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    NOTE 7 INVENTORIES 
    

2018   2019 
£000   £000 

    
70 Raw materials and consumables  86 

    70 Total inventories  86 
 
 
NOTE 8  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  

    
2018   2019 
£000   £000 

    
 Receivables due within one year   
 NHSScotland   

112  SGHSCD  61 
219  Boards  233 

   331 Total NHSScotland Receivables  294 
    

6 NHS non-Scottish bodies  4 
30 VAT recoverable  29 

171 Prepayments   125 
- Accrued Income  88 

22 Other receivables  67 
- Reimbursement of provisions  - 
3 Other public sector bodies  7 

   563 Total receivables due within one year  614 
      563 Total receivables  614 

    
 
 

£000 WGA Classification £000 
219 NHSScotland 233 
145 Central government bodies 59 

3 Whole of government bodies 3 
6 Balances with NHS bodies in England and Wales 4 

190 Balances with bodies external to government 315 
   563 Total 614 

 
There were no receivables assessed as individually impaired.  
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NOTE 8  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued 
 
Receivables that are less than three months past their due date are not considered impaired.  As at 31 
March 2019, debtors with a carrying value of £35k (2017/18: £137k) were past their due date but not 
impaired.  The ageing of receivables which are past due but not impaired is as follows: 
 

2018   2019 
£000   £000 

118 Up to 3 months past due  29 
18 3 to 6 months past due  5 
1 Over 6 months past due  1 
    

 137  
 

 35 

 
The receivables assessed as past due but not impaired were mainly NHS Scotland Health Boards, 
Local Authorities, Universities, Scottish Government and there is no history of default from these 
customers in the past. 
 
Concentration of credit risk is limited due to customer base being mainly government bodies.  Due to 
this, management believe that there is no future credit risk provision required in excess of the normal 
provision for doubtful debts.  The credit quality of debtors that are neither past due nor impaired is 
assessed by reference to external credit ratings where available.  Where no external credit rating is 
available, historical information about counterparty default rates is used. 
 
Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are shown by their credit risk below; 
 

2018   2019 
£000 Counterparties with external credit rating:  £000 
426 Existing customers with no defaults in the past  579 

    
426 Total neither past due or impaired  579 

 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of each class of debtor.  The Board does not 
hold any collateral as security. 
 

2018   2019 
£000 The carrying amount of debtors are 

denominated in the following currencies: 
 £000 

563 Pounds  614 
    

563 Total  614 
 
There are no non-current receivables due at the statement of financial position date. 
 
The carrying amount of short term receivables approximates their fair value. 
 
The fair value of long term other receivables is nil (2017/18: nil). 
 
The effective interest rate on non current other receivables is nil (2017/18: nil). Pension liabilities are 
discounted at 0.29% (2017/18: 0.10%) 
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NOTE 9  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
    
  2019 2018 
  £000 £000 
Balance at 1 April  19 12 
Net change in cash and cash equivalent balances  16 7 
    Balance at 31 March  35 19 
    
Total cash – cash flow statement  35 19 
    

 
  2019 2018 
  £000 £000 
Government Banking Service account balance  28 14 
Commercial banks and cash in hand  7 5 
        
Balance at 31 March  35 19 

 
 
NOTE 10 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  

    
2018   2019 
£000   £000 

    
 Payables due within one year   
 NHSScotland   

113  Boards  167 
    113 Total NHSScotland Payables  167 

    
3 NHS Non Scottish Bodies  - 

19 Amounts payable to General Fund  35 
77 Trade payables  33 

612 Accruals  507 
77 Deferred income  91 

602 Income tax and social security   639 
365 Superannuation  364 
21 Holiday pay accrual  22 
95 Other public sector bodies  110 
51 Other payables  307 

    2,035 Total payables due within one year  2,275 
        2,038 Total payables  2,275 

 
 

£000 WGA Classification £000 
113 NHSScotland 167 

1,011 Central government bodies 683 
53 Whole of government bodies 65 
3 Balances with NHS Bodies in England and Wales - 

855 Balances with bodies external to government 1,360 
   2,035 Total 2,275 

 
The Board does not have any non-current borrowings that would require the carrying amount and fair 
value to be disclosed.  
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NOTE 10  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES continued 
 
The carrying amount of short term creditors approximates their fair value. 
 

£000 The carrying amount of payables are denominated in the 
following currencies: 

   £000 

2,035 Pounds 2,275 
   

2,035 Total 2,275 
 
 
NOTE 11   PROVISIONS 

  Clinical &  Participation Other  
 Pensions Medical 

legal 
claims 

in CNORIS provisions Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
      
At 1 April 2018 3,012 14 103 7 3,136 
Arising during the year 25 - 61 50 136 
Utilised during the year (170) (2) (19) - (191) 
Reversed unutilised (10) (2) (36) - (48) 
      As at 31 March 2019 2,857 10 109 57 3,033 

 
 
Analysis of expected timing of discounted flows 
 

  Clinical &  Participation Other  
 Pensions Medical 

legal 
claims 

in CNORIS provisions Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
      
Payable in one year 174 10 34 7 225 
Payable between 2 – 5 
years 

2,683 - 68 50 2,801 

Payable between 6 –10 
years 

- - 7 - 7 

Thereafter - - - - - 
      As at 31 March 2019 2,857 10 109 57 3,033 

 
 
Prior Year 

  Clinical &  Participation Other  
 Pensions Medical 

legal 
claims 

in CNORIS provisions Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
      
At 1 April 2017 3,106 8 104 103 3,231 
Arising during the year 166 10 6 5 187 
Utilised during the year (170) - (4) - (174) 
Reversed unutilised - (4) (3) (101) (108) 
      As at 31 March 2018 3,012 14 103 7 3,136 
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NOTE 11   PROVISIONS continued 
 
Analysis of expected timing of discounted flows 
 

  Clinical &  Participation Other  
 Pensions Medical 

legal 
claims 

in CNORIS provisions Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
      
Payable in one year 174 14 4 7 199 
Payable between 2 – 5 
years 

2,838 - 1 - 2,839 

Payable between 6 –10 
years 

- - - - - 

Thereafter - - 98 - 98 
      As at 31 March 2018 3,012 14 103 7 3,136 

 
 
The amounts shown above are stated gross and the amount of any expected reimbursements are 
separately disclosed as receivables in Note 7. 
 
Pensions and similar obligations 
The Board meets the additional costs of benefits beyond the normal National Health Service 
Superannuation Scheme for Scotland benefits in respect of employees who retire early by paying the 
required amounts annually to the National Health Service Superannuation Scheme for Scotland over 
the period between early departure and normal retirement date. The Board provides for this in full when 
the early retirement programme becomes binding by establishing a provision for the estimated 
payments discounted by the Treasury discount rate of 0.24% (2017/18: 0.10%) in real terms. The 
provision at 31 March 2018 is split into early retirees £245k (2018: £314k) and injury benefits £2,611k 
(2018: £2,728k).  The period over which expenditure is likely to be incurred equates to an average of 
8.15 years for early retirees and 19.29 years for injury benefit claimants. 
 
Clinical and Medical 
The Board holds a provision to meet costs of all outstanding and potential clinical and medical 
negligence claims. All legal claims notified to the Board are processed by the Scottish NHS Central 
Legal Office who will decide upon risk liability and likely outcome of each case. The provision contains 
sums for settlement awards and third party costs. Clinical and medical negligence cases lodged can be 
extremely complex. The provision for Clinical & Medical costs relate to 1 claim which is deemed to be 
high risk and has a value of £10k which has been fully provided for as per guidance from Central Legal 
Office.  It is anticipated that the claim may be settled next financial year therefore it has not been 
discounted. The amounts disclosed are stated gross and the amount of any expected reimbursements 
are shown separately as debtors in the notes to the accounts. 
 
Participation in CNORIS 
The Board holds a provision for its share of CNORIS liability for NHS Scotland and the charge for 
2018/19 is £109k (2017/18: £103k). 
 
Other 
The Board holds a provision to meet costs of 3 non clinical claims which are deemed to be medium 
risk. The values of the claims are £5k, £10k and £100k respectively of which a total of £57.5k has been 
provided for.   It is anticipated that claims may be settled next financial year therefore have not been 
discounted. The amounts disclosed are stated gross and the amount of any expected reimbursements 
are shown separately as debtors in the notes to the accounts.   
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NOTE 12   CLINICAL NEGLIGENCE AND OTHER RISKS INDEMNITY SCHEME (CNORIS) 
 

2018  Note 2019 
£000   £000 

21 Provision recognising individual claims against the 
NHS Board as at 31 March 8 67 

- Associated CNORIS receivable at 31 March  8 - 

103 Provision recognising the NHS Board's liability from 
participating in the scheme at 31 March 11 109 

    
124 Net Total Provision relating to CNORIS at 31 March    176 

 
The Clinical Negligence and Other Risks Scheme (CNORIS) has been in operation since 2000.  
Participation in the scheme is mandatory for all NHS boards in Scotland.   The scheme allows for risk 
pooling of legal claims in relation to clinical negligence and other risks and works in a similar manner to 
an insurance scheme. CNORIS has an agreed threshold of £25k and any claims with a value less than 
this are met directly from within boards’ own budgets. Participants e.g. NHS boards contribute to the 
CNORIS pool each financial year at a pre-agreed contribution rate based on the risks associated with 
their individual NHS board. If a claim is settled the board will be reimbursed by the scheme for the value 
of the settlement, less a £25k “excess” fee. The scheme allows for the risk associated with any large or 
late in the financial year legal claims to be managed and reduces the level of volatility that individual 
boards are exposed to. 
 
When a legal claim is made against an individual board, the board will assess whether a provision or 
contingent liability for that legal claim is required. If a provision is required and is over £25k then the 
board will also create an associated receivable recognising reimbursement from the scheme if the legal 
claim settles. The provision and associated receivable are shown in the first two lines above. The 
receivable has been netted off against the provision to reflect reimbursement from the scheme.  
 
As a result of participation in the scheme, boards should also recognise that they will be required to 
make contributions to the scheme in future years. Therefore a second provision that recognises the 
board’s share of the total CNORIS liability of NHSScotland has been made and this is reflected in third 
line above. 
 
Therefore there are two related but distinct provisions required as a result of participation in the scheme. 
Both of these provisions as well as the associated receivable have been shown in the note above to 
aid the reader’s understanding of CNORIS. 
 
Further information on the scheme can be found at: http://www.clo.scot.nhs.uk/our-services/cnoris.aspx  
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NOTE 13 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES and CONTINGENT ASSETS 
 
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  
 
The following contingent liabilities have not been provided for in the Accounts. 
 

2018   2019 
Value 
£000 

Nature Uncertainties 
affecting outcome 

Value 
£000 

 
4 

 
Clinical and medical compensation payments 

 
Litigation 

 
- 

8 Legal claims for non medical compensation 
payments 

Litigation 58 

    
12 TOTAL CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  58 

 
 
CONTINGENT ASSETS  
 
The following contingent assets have not been provided for in the Accounts. 
 

2018   2019 
Value 
£000 

Nature Uncertainties 
affecting outcome 

Value 
£000 

 
- 

 
Clinical and medical compensation payments 

 
Litigation 

 
- 

    
    

- TOTAL CONTINGENT ASSETS  - 
 
The quantified disclosed contingent liabilities and assets above are based on current claims. 
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NOTE 14  COMMITMENTS  
      

2018 
 

Total 

  Property, 
plant & 

equipment 

 
Intangible 

assets 

2019 
 

Total 
£000   £000 £000 £000 

  Capital commitments    
      
  The Board has the following capital 

commitments which have not been provided for 
in the accounts: 

   

      
14  Contracted – small value orders to 1 supplier 3 - 3 

- 
302 

 Contracted – order for Data Storage 
Contracted – order for perimeter security works 

63 
252 

- 
- 

63 
252 

      316  Total 318 - 318 
      
  Other financial commitments    
      

  The Board has not entered into any non-
cancellable contracts (which are not leases or 
PFI contracts). 
 

   

Financial Guarantees, Indemnities and Letter of Comfort. 
 
The Board has not entered into any quantifiable guarantees, indemnities or provided letters of comfort.  
None of these is a contingent liability within the meaning of IAS 37 since the likelihood of a transfer of 
economic benefit in settlement is too remote.  They therefore fall to be measured following the 
requirements of IAS 39. 
 
 
NOTE 15  COMMITMENTS UNDER LEASES  
 

2018    2019 
£000    £000 

  Operating leases   
     
  Total future minimum lease payments under 

operating leases are given in the table below for 
each of the following periods. 

  

     
  Obligations under operating leases comprise:   
     
     
  Other   

25  Not later than one year  15 
15  Later than one year, not later than two years  - 

-  Later than two years, not later than five years  - 
     
  Amounts charged to Operating Costs in the year 

were: 
  

14  Hire of equipment (including vehicles)  5 
33  Other operating leases  29 

     
47  Total  34 
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NOTE 16 PENSION COSTS  
 
The Board participates in the NHS Pension Scheme (Scotland). The scheme is an unfunded statutory 
public service pension scheme with benefits underwritten by the UK Government.  The scheme is 
financed by payments from employers and from those current employees who are members of the 
scheme and paying contributions at progressively higher marginal rates based on pensionable pay, as 
specified in the regulations.  The rate of employer contributions is set with reference to a funding 
valuation undertaken by the scheme actuary.  The last four-yearly valuation was undertaken as at 31 
March 2012.  The next valuation was 31 March 2016 and this will set contribution rates from 1 April 
2019. 
 
The Board has no liability for other employers obligations to the multi-employer scheme. 
 
As the scheme is unfunded there can be no deficit or surplus to distribute on the wind-up of the scheme 
or withdrawal from the scheme.  The scheme is an unfunded multi-employer defined benefit scheme. 
 
It is accepted that the scheme can be treated for accounting purposes as a defined contribution scheme 
in circumstances where the Board is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities 
of the scheme. 
 
For 2018/19, normal employer contributions of £2,740k (2017/18: £2,810k) were payable to the SPPA 
at the rate of 14.9% (2017/18: 14.9%) of pensionable pay and £2.4k was payable to NEST 
(2017/18:£1.2k) at the rate of 1%. During the accounting period the Board did not incur additional costs 
(2017/18: nil) arising from the early retirement of staff.  While the employee rate applied is a variable it 
will provide an actuarial yield of 9.8% of pensionable pay. The latest valuation of the NHSPS has 
recently concluded and was based on scheme data as at March 2016. The valuation has set the rate 
payable for the scheme for the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2023 and that rate is 20.9%.   
Provisions amounting to £284k are included in the Statement of Financial Position in respect of early 
retirees and £2,728k in respect of Injury Benefit pensions.  Accruals amounting to £42k are included in 
the Statement of Financial Position which reflects the difference between the amounts charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure and amounts paid directly.  This £42k is in respect of 
costs for the months of January 2018 to March 2018.  
 
The new NHS Pension Scheme (Scotland) 2015: 
From 1 April 2015 the NHS Pension Scheme (Scotland) 2015 was introduced. This scheme is a Career 
Average Re-valued Earnings (CARE) scheme. Members will accrue 1/54 of their pay as pension for 
each year they are a member of the scheme. The accrued pension is re-valued each year at an above 
inflation rate to maintain its buying power. This is currently 1.5% above increases to the Consumer 
Prices Index (CPI). This continues until the member leaves the scheme or retires. In 2017/18 members 
paid tiered contribution rates ranging from 5.2% to 14.7% of pensionable earnings. The normal pension 
age is the same as the State Pension age. Members can take their benefits earlier but there will be a 
deduction for early payment. 
 
The existing NHS Superannuation Scheme (Scotland): 
This scheme closed to new joiners on 31 March 2015 but any benefits earned in either NHS 1995 or 
NHS 2008 sections are protected and will be paid at the section’s normal pension age using final 
pensionable pay when members leave or retire. Some members who were close to retirement when 
the NHS 2015 scheme launched will continue to earn benefits in their current section. This may affect 
members who were paying into the scheme on 1 April 2012 and were within 10 years of their normal 
retirement age. Some members who were close to retirement but did not qualify for full protection will 
remain in their current section beyond 1 April 2015 and join the 2015 scheme at a later date. 
  
All other members automatically joined the NHS 2015 scheme on 1 April 2015. 
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NOTE 16 PENSION COSTS continued 
 
Further information is available on the Scottish Public Pensions Agency (SPPA) website at 
www.sppa.gov.uk 
 
 

 2017/18 2018/19 
 £000 £000 
   
Pension cost charge for the year 2,810 2,740 
Provisions included in the Statement of Financial Position 3,012 2,857 
   

Additional disclosure is required in the accounts relating to a revision of IAS 19 which requires multi 
employer defined benefit schemes, treated as defined contribution schemes to include an indication of 
the level of participation of the Board in the plan compared with other participating entities. 
 
Contributions collected in the year to 31 March 2019 are not available and will not be published until 
November 2019.  The State Hospital employer contributions in the year to 31 March 2019 were £2.7         
million, which represents 0.35% of the total employer contributions of £768.7 million made in the year 
to 31 March 2018. 
 
National Employment Savings Trust (NEST) 

The Pensions Act 2008 and 2011 Automatic Enrolment regulations required all employers to enrol 
workers meeting certain criteria into a pension scheme and pay contributions toward their retirement. 
For those staff not entitled to join the NHS Superannuation Scheme (Scotland), the Board utilised an 
alternative pension scheme called NEST to fulfil its Automatic Enrolment obligations. 
 
NEST is a defined contribution pension scheme established by law to support the introduction of Auto 
Enrolment. Contributions are taken from qualifying earnings, which are currently from £5,876 up to 
£45,000, but will be reviewed every year by the government. The initial employee contribution is 1% of 
qualifying earnings, with an employer contribution of 1%. This will increase in stages to meet levels set 
by government. 

 

Date 

 

Employee 
Contribution 

 

Employer 
Contribution 

 

Total Contribution 

1 March 2013 1% 1% 2% 

6 April 2018 3% 2% 5% 

6 April 2019 5% 3% 8% 

Pension members can choose to let NEST manage their retirement fund or can take control themselves 
and alter contribution levels and switch between different funds. If pension members leave the Board 
they can continue to pay into NEST. 

NEST Pension members can take money out of NEST at any time from age 55. If suffering from serious 
ill health or incapable of working due to illness members can request to take money out of NEST early. 
They can take the entire retirement fund as cash, use it to buy a retirement income or a combination.  
Additionally members can transfer their NEST retirement fund to another scheme. 

NEST is run by NEST Corporation, a trustee body which is a non-departmental public body operating 
at arm’s length from government and is accountable to Parliament through the Department for Work 
and Pensions. 

  

http://www.sppa.gov.uk/
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NOTE 17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS & DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
     
     
 Financial Assets    
   Loans   
   and  2019 

2018   receivables Total 

Total 
Assets per statement of financial 
position Note 

£000 £000 

£000 
 
 
 

31 

Trade and other receivables excluding 
prepayments, reimbursements of provisions 
and VAT recoverable. 

 
 
 

8 78 78 

19 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

CFS 35 35 
50   113 113 

     
         
     
 Financial Liabilities     
   Other    
   financial 2019  

2018   liabilities Total  

Total 
Liabilities per statement of financial 
position Note 

£000 £000 
 

 
 
 

878 

Trade and other payables excluding 
statutory liabilities (VAT and income tax and 
social security), deferred income and 
superannuation 10 1014 1014  

878   1014 1014  
     

 
FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS       
       
Exposure to Risk     
       
The Board's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:  
 
Credit risk - the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due.   
 
Liquidity risk - the possibility that the NHS Board might not have funds available to meet its 
commitments to make payments. 
 
Because of the largely non-trading nature of its activities and the way in which government 
departments are financed, the Board is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business 
entities. 
       

The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering 
Standing Financial Instructions and Scheme of Delegation. 
 
a) Credit Risk       
       
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and other institutions, as well 
as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. 
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NOTE 17  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS & DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued 
 

For banks and other institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of 'A' are 
accepted.  
 
Customers are assessed, taking into account their financial position, past experience and other 
factors, with individual credit limits being set in accordance with internal ratings in accordance with 
parameters set by the Board. 
 
The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.    
       
No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting period and no losses are expected from non-
performance by any counterparties in relation to deposits. 

 
b) Liquidity Risk       
       

The Scottish Parliament makes provision for the use of resources by the Board for revenue and 
capital purposes in a Budget Act for each financial year. Resources and accruing resources may be 
used only for the purposes specified and up to the amounts specified in the Budget Act. The Act also 
specifies an overall cash authorisation to operate for the financial year. The Board is not therefore 
exposed to significant liquidity risks. 
       
The table below analyses the financial liability based on the remaining period at the statement of 
financial position to contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact 
of discounting is not significant. 

 
2018   2019 

Less than 
1 year 
£000 

  Less than 
1 year 
£000 

    
878 Trade and other payables excluding statutory liabilities  1014 

    
878   1014 

 
The Board has no powers to borrow or invest surplus funds.  Financial assets and liabilities are 
generated by day-to-day operational activities and are not held to manage the risks facing the Board 
in undertaking its activities.  
 
The Board has no significant interest bearing assets or liabilities and as such income and expenditure 
cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. 
 
The Board is not exposed to foreign exchange rates nor is it exposed to equity security price risk. 
 

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION 
 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over the 
counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques.  
 

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair value.  
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NOTE 18   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Board had no material transactions with other government departments and other central 
government bodies. 
 
No board member, key manager or other related party has undertaken any material transactions with 
the Board during the year. 
 
 
NOTE 19   THIRD PARTY ASSETS 
 
The Board has assets held on behalf of patients which are not recognised in these accounts as the 
Board has no beneficial interest in them, however disclosure is required as per the Financial Reporting 
Manual. 
These are not Board assets and comprise of monetary assets, such as bank balances and monies on 
deposit in respect of patients funds. 
 
The Board has no non-monetary assets held on behalf of patients. 
 
This is set out in the table below. 

 

 
 
 

2018 

 
 
 

Gross 
 inflows 

 
 
 

Gross  
outflows 

 
 
 

2019 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Bank balances and monies 
on deposit 458 418 (416) 459 

     
Total monetary assets 458 418 (416) 459 
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1. INTRODUCTION 

 
The State Hospitals Board for Scotland (TSH) serves the population of Scotland and Northern Ireland. TSH provides 
specialist individualised assessment, treatment and care in conditions of high security for male patients with major 
mental disorders and intellectual disabilities. The patients, because of their dangerous, violent or criminal propensities, 
cannot be cared for in any other setting.   

 
TSH has a reputation for delivering world class forensic mental health care. Visitors and stakeholders from both home 
and overseas have been very positive about the patient centred approach and focus on recovery.  Working with partners 
in the Forensic Network, TSH has established a reputation for high standards of care and treatment, innovative research 
and education.  

 
The vision of TSH is to:  
 

 excel in the provision of high secure forensic mental health care 

 achieve positive patient outcomes 

 ensure the safety of our highly valued staff, patients and the general public 

 promote collaboration across social care, health and justice services  

 strive to be an exemplar employer 

 
TSH is a key contributor to improvements in patient safety locally and nationally. Service models embrace the ambitions 
of the Scottish Patient Safety Programme (SPSP). The aim is to further develop our programme of work focusing on the 
safety principles of communication, risk management, least restrictive practice, leadership and culture, and physical 
health.  

 
TSH has undertaken a detailed safety review process, analysing trends in violence and aggressive behaviours, across the 
retrospective five year period. The review outcomes enables the organisation to establish a baseline measurement, and 
revised processes, focussed on achieving a reduction in the episodes of violence and aggression within the hospital.  

 
TSH is fully committed to the principles, values and objectives articulated in Everyone Matters: 2020 Workforce Vision.  
We continue to develop and strengthen our commitment to staff in implementing this vision and making tangible 
improvements across the organisation. TSH is fully committed to partnership working and recognises the importance of 
staff collaborative engagement and joint decision making. It is the people in our organisation, delivering front line care 
to patients with complex issues, that we aim to support and develop. It is the intention of TSH to introduce a series of 
organisational effectiveness events to further ensure that teams have the skills, confidence and support to deliver the 
objectives of the organisation.  

 
TSH places significant emphasis on maintaining and improving staff health and wellbeing. The introduction of the 
EASY service (Early Access to Support for You, an absence support tool) is just one example of helping direct staff to 
sources of support rapidly and effectively.  TSH will continue to invest in staff access to quality improvement 
methodology, building capacity and expertise and further developing staff engagement.  

 
Given the unique nature of the service TSH provides, the organisation is committed to working in partnership with the 
Justice Services, Police Scotland, Integration Authorities and the other high security providers in the United Kingdom. 
We aim to explore areas of collaboration which could enable the specialist expertise of TSH to be shared with 
partnership agencies for the betterment of seamless patient care in forensic mental health provision. 
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Despite the success of TSH, there is much still to do.  

 
As a non-smoking, illicit drug and alcohol free environment, the twin challenges of smoking and substance misuse are 
areas of pre-existing success. The evolution of NPS (Novel Psychoactive Substances) presents new risks and challenges. 
TSH is developing new and innovative screening techniques, alongside revised security surveillance processes, to ensure 
that these new agents are detected and eliminated from entering the hospital. Security Services are working in 
collaboration with other high security hospitals in England and the Scottish Prison Service to assess new approaches in 
the control and detection of emerging illicit substances. 

 
Addressing health and social inequalities for patients is a major issue. TSH is strongly committed to maintaining and 
improving opportunities for our patients to access both physical and educational activities as part of their care 
programme. 

 
People with severe life-long mental illness are likely to die 15- 20 years prematurely because of physical ill-health 
related issues. TSH is aligned to the Mental Health Strategy; there should be parity of esteem between physical and 
mental health - we wish to realise this aim. We recognise our patients as equal partners in their own physical healthcare 
and their expectation of good physical health.   Patient obesity and the associated physical health problems is a 
fundamental problem. TSH is building on existing measures to promote healthier choices for patients and deliver an 
agreed programme of health initiatives over the coming year. The measures are aimed at improving the physical 
wellbeing and health of patients in our care.  

 
Some patients have limited educational attainment linked to a range of factors in their lives prior to admission. This can 
lead to social exclusion and difficulty attaining employment in future years. Patients benefit from access to recreational 
and educational facilities on site. They are supported to develop their skills and educational attainment throughout their 
treatment.  The aim is develop patients’ educational standards and vocational skills to provide future opportunities in the 
longer term recovery process.  

 
TSH is committed to the effective deployment of resources to meet patient needs, reduce inefficiencies and improve the 
quality care and treatment delivered.  TSH aims to realise our ambitions of continuous improvement, working effectively 
not just as a local team, but across NHS Scotland and with wider stakeholder partners.   
 
The plan for 2019/20 builds on a shared vision with staff around key service priorities, both now and in the future.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Terry Currie      Gary Jenkins 
Chairman      Chief Executive Officer 
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2. STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 

 
TSH has established the following set of strategic objectives which are incorporated throughout the narrative of this Annual 
Operating Plan: 

 
 Reduce obesity and increase physical activity.  

 Implementation of the “Patients’ Day” project.  

 Reduce the use of additional hours as standard practice. 

 Optimise efficiency in clinical practice and clinical service delivery through consensus redesign.  

 Transform services to optimise efficiency whilst maintaining quality and standards of care.  

 Identify ways of improving resource utilisation.  

 Promote attendance and reduce sickness absence.  

 Support a progressive organisational culture underpinned by organizational effectiveness measures.  

 Create conditions for supporting quality assurance, quality improvement and change.  

 Develop the technology base to support the national digital agenda and modern methods of working.  

 Create cost effective stewardship of assets and resources.  

 Develop an effective workforce and succession planning programme. 

 Effective shared services and resilience building through enhanced collaborative working both internally and 
externally.  

 Develop a sustainable empowered workforce with a focus on leadership development supported by a skilled and 
competent workforce.  

 
A strategy session will take place annually to review and assess the effectiveness of these measures and the longer 
term strategic direction of the Hospital.  In 2018/19, the State Hospital developed its Strategy Map for 2018-2020, 
attached as Appendix 1. This will be reviewed in December 2019 to ensure it remains relevant in the changing and 
developing organisational landscape. 
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3. VISION & SERVICE STRATEGY 

 
3.1 Vision 

 
The vision of TSH is to:  
 

 excel in the provision of high secure forensic mental health care 

 achieve positive patient outcomes 

 ensure the safety of our highly valued staff, patients and the general public 

 promote collaboration across social care, health and justice services  

 strive to be an exemplar employer 

 
3.2 Values Aims 

 
The values of TSH are aligned to NHS Scotland: 
 

 Care and compassion 

 Dignity and respect 

 Openness, honesty and responsibility 

 Quality and teamwork  

 
3.3 Values Aims 

 
The twin aims of TSH are: 

 
 The provision of a safe and secure environment that protects patients, staff and the public 

 The delivery of high quality, person centred, safe and effective care and treatment 

 
Campus Image: Ward Hub 
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3.4 Service Strategy 

 
TSH is committed to developing a positive and engaged organisational culture.  
 
a) Workforce 
 
There is a need to develop collaborative leadership whilst listening and embracing the views of the workforce. A key focus in 
2019/20 will be developing the organisational effectiveness agenda. The experience and feedback of staff, patients, and 
visitors will actively shape our organisational effectiveness agenda. The organisation aims to attract and develop a highly 
skilled and resilient workforce where the role of the multi-disciplinary team is central to delivery of high quality care.  

 
 Higher than average levels of sickness absence, particularly in nursing, can risk impacting on staff morale and the 

effectiveness of the organisation. Absence can have a detrimental impact on staff training and create unnecessary 
financial pressures.  
 
TSH will work in partnership to reduce absence and create a healthy positive working environment. The workforce 
must feel safe, valued and supported in carrying out their duties.  
 
Progress has been made to date in reducing the level of absence; this will remain an ongoing focus throughout 
2019/20. The objective is to sustain an absence level not exceeding the agreed 5% absence target. 

 
 A proportion of staff are approaching retirement age. This presents a risk to the sustainability of the workforce if not 

proactively addressed. TSH aims to attract and develop a highly skilled and resilient workforce where the role of the 
multi-disciplinary team is central to delivery of high quality care.  

 
TSH has tasked an executive lead sponsor to develop a recruitment strategy based on the values of the ‘2020 
workforce vision’. There will be key review milestones included within the plan for all staff disciplines 
ensuring have sufficient staff in post across our range of services.  

 
 TSH aims to be an exemplar employer. In 2019/20, the aim is outline a number of progressive models for staff who 

wish to develop and achieve professional qualifications, or to further advance their careers within the organisation. 

 
TSH will assess and capture the development aspirations of staff. We will aim to reflect suitable development 
opportunities based on personal and service expectations. 
 

 Following the ‘Sturrock Report’, TSH will embark on a series of meaningful engagements with staff and managers 
to evaluate their feeling and views associated with the effectiveness of the organisation.  
 

TSH in partnership with staff side will assess, capture and prioritise the themes from the ‘Sturrock Report’ 
that are applicable to wellbeing of staff and morale at TSH. An action plan will developed and taken to the 
Board and will form part of a series of organisational effectiveness measures.  
 

 The reliance on staff working excessive overtime hours to meet clinical demands has been a challenge over recent 
years. This can be counter-productive, leading to staff absence and affect morale within the workforce.   
 

Careful monitoring of overtime hours and clinical demands is in place. This, however, does not provide a 
longer term solution to staff working excessive hours. Continued monitoring, aligned to the recruitment 
strategy, will enable to organisation to reduce its reliance on overtime working patterns whilst increasing 
staff morale and reducing absence levels. 
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b) Clinical Model 
 

The Clinical Service Delivery Model is under review. Since the inception of the new hospital build, the clinical model has 
struggled to realise all of the initial change benefits that were anticipated. In the past five years assaults have increased, 
although not linearly, and the uptake of the patient active day has not been as successfully as initially anticipated.  
 
For patients, there is a real need to feel a sense of progression, going from a very acutely unwell stage through a journey of 
treatment and recovery. For staff, there is a clear sense that the overall estate configuration could be better utilised and 
configured to achieve this aim. This may lead to sub specialisation and other alternative models of practice. The redesign 
process should bring a greater sense of wellbeing and benefit the highly specialised work undertaken within the organisation. 
The time for change is right and with careful consultation, engagement and dialogue, a refreshed clinical model will emerge 
that benefits the needs of patients and staff alike. The aim is to ensure the most efficient, effective and person centred options 
can be developed into operational practice. 
 

 The clinical model should be designed with staff and patients at the centre of all that the organisation does. 
 
An extensive process of consultation is underway with over one third of the organisation having been 
consulted in person. Drop in sessions will continue, as will dedicated engagement workshops, to finalise the 
options for service delivery.  

 

 There will be transparency in the development of the clinical model will all staff, patients and service stakeholders 
being invited to give their views. 

 
There has been four dedicated workshops to date with multiple ad hoc drop in sessions for staff to attend. 
Partnership colleagues have commented on the success of the engagement process to date. Further 
engagement events are planned in August with the expectation that a shortlist of models will be presented to 
the Board in October 2019. 

 

 TSH Clinical Forum can provide an additional perspective on the clinical value and patient benefit of any proposed 
change. The view of the Clinical Forum is impartial of managerial influence and can bring a sense of objectivity to 
the redesign process. The organisation will strive to learn from the experiences of other high security care providers 
in this process.  

 

The Clinical Forum should be provided with the resource to adequately evaluate and influence the Clinical 
Model planning process. The joint Chairs of the Clinical Forum have been invited to formulate an 
independent group to undertake a visit to one of the high security provider sites in NHS England. The output 
of that visit will ensure that the wide spectrum of professional representation can bring forward alternative 
independent views on high security clinical service delivery. Those views will be presented as an option for 
the final scoring process of the Clinical Model redesign.  
 

 The clinical model redesign should create an environment rich in education and development opportunities, 
supported by research and audit. Continuous review and quality improvement will underpin the implantation of the 
Clinical Model.  

 

Following agreement on the actual model, a Quality Improvement sub group will be formed to assess, 
monitor and evaluate the pre and post implementation process. This aim is to ensure that objectives of the 
redesign are monitored, evaluated and continually assessed as fit for purpose within the high security 
environment.  
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c) Health Inequalities  

 
People with severe life-long mental illness are likely to die 15- 20 years prematurely because of physical ill-health 
related issues. TSH is aligned to the Mental Health Strategy ‘there should be parity of esteem between physical and 
mental health’ and we wish to realise this aim for patients.  
 
We recognise our patients as equal partners in their own physical healthcare and their expectation of good physical 
health.   Patient obesity and the associated physical health problems is a fundamental problem. TSH is building on 
existing measures to promote healthier choices for patients and deliver an agreed programme of health initiatives over 
the coming year. The measures are aimed at improving the physical wellbeing and health of patients in our care.  

 

 The physical health inequalities for our patients is significant; reducing obesity and increasing physical activity are 
key outcomes in addressing this issue. 

 
The patient active day project will be refreshed and aligned to the clinical model. The aim of the project is to 
get to a position where patients are involved in activities for 5 to 7 days per week, both within and outside the 
Skye Centre.  

 

 Monitoring of patient activities will formulate part of the core service metrics to ensure that success is achieved in 
delivering the patient active day. 
 
Work is underway to ensure that patient timetables can be stored within RiO system (patient electronic 
record). In addition, activity reports will be developed and formulated within the new hospital dashboard 
that is under development. The ‘Tableau’ business reporting tool will enable specific reports by ward and 
clinical area to assess equality of uptake and opportunity for patients throughout their treatment period 
within TSH.  
 

 The Physical Health Steering Group will oversee the physical health issues associated with patients being treated in 
TSH. 

 
The Physical Health Steering Group will produce a 12 monthly rolling report for approval through the 
Clinical Governance Committee. The five priorities for monitoring will relate to Primary Care (including 
long term conditions); Physical Activity; Nutrition and Weight Management; Food, Fluid and Nutrition and 
National Guidelines and Standards. 

 

 Each individual patient will have a health and wellbeing plan developed, using the national screening tool. The 
process will be refreshed at each stage of the individual’s clinical pathway within TSH.  

 
The aim is for all patients to have an individual health and wellbeing plan. The outcome of a pilot in one of 
the wards is currently being evaluated to assess if further refinement is required to the process. Thereafter, it 
is the intention of TSH to align adequate resources to enable a full roll out of this initiative over a twelve 
month period. The implementation and progress will be monitored and overseen by the Clinical Governance 
Committee. 
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d) An Efficient Progressive Organisation 

 
TSH Board is committed to developing the organisation to be an effective and progressive provider of high security care and 
treatment for patients with major mental illness and intellectual disabilities. TSH, as a healthcare provider, will align its 
strategic service vision in parallel with other healthcare providers in order to be participative, active and aligned to the aims 
of NHS Scotland. 

 
 The redesign process of the clinical model brings new opportunity. TSH aims to deploy our workforce more 

effectively to meet patient needs. The deployment of resources should allow patients to feel a sense of progression 
on their pathway of care and recovery. 

 
Following agreement on the preferred clinical model, an organisational change process will be taken forward 
to deliver and implement the revised model in the first quarter of 2020/21. 

 
 TSH will actively engage with National and Territorial Boards to optimise opportunities for improved quality, 

reduced costs, enhanced resilience, shared knowledge and good practice.  

 
TSH will continue to engage in the National Boards Collaborative and input to the Regional Working 
Processes. The aim is ensure efficiency optimisation, shared learning and avoid duplication of effort and cost 
associated with common themes and challenges faced by all NHS Boards.  

 
 TSH will review and refresh our organisational alignment with Health and Social Care Health and Wellbeing 

outcomes measures and indicators. This will include discussions on the opportunity for greater integration factors, 
for example with the Police Care Network, Health and Justice Board and the wider Public Protection aspirations.  
 
A revised plan will be developed in the coming year aligned to the wider vision for Scotland. 

 
 TSH welcomes the opportunity to participate with SGHD, stakeholders and partners in shaping the future model for 

Forensic Mental Health Services in Scotland.  
 
Participation will be aligned in accordance with the terms of reference of the national review process and any 
associated work flows. 

 
 TSH will work in collaboration with the Mental Health and Justice Directorates on the review process of the Mental 

Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003, where the specialist expertise and resources of TSH can be 
utilised to assist the review process. 

 
Professional service representatives will be given the appropriate time to participate and collaborate in this 
review process. This will be undertaken in line with the terms of reference of the review process.  

 
 It is essential that everyone in TSH has a clear understanding of our mission, our values and our organisational 

priorities. TSH will aim to ensure that front line managers are empowered to communicate and lead change, keeping 
teams well informed and engaged whilst displaying exemplar partnership working. 

 
The Hospital strategy is under review currently. The revised strategy will incorporate the essential elements 
of the Sustainability & Value Programme, 2020 Vision, the Mental Health Strategy and the Health and Social 
Care Delivery Plan.  This will be fully developed across the course of 2019/20.  
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4. PERSON CENTRED, SAFE AND EFFECTIVE ORGANISATION 

 
Assurance processes that the clinical service delivery is safe, effective and person centred will be enhanced in 2019/20 through the 
introduction of Excellence in Care. Core and mental health specific quality measures will be introduced as part of a national assurance 
framework, focusing on areas such as culture, leadership, safety, organisational effectiveness, person centredness and continuous quality 
improvement. The clinical model will also enable the integration of the safe staffing legislation as core to its function.  

 
Currently, performance targets are aligned to safe, person centred and effective care; the three ambitions of NHS Scotland 
Healthcare Quality Strategy. Outcomes are measured against agreed targets with monitoring taking place through the existing 
organisational governance structure, i.e. the Board and associated committees.  

 
4.1 Security & Safety  

 
The secure environment of TSH is provided by three key domains: 

 
 Physical security (provided by high quality physical barrier, modified strong rooms, sophisticated electronic 

detection and observation systems) 

 Procedural security (provided though policies, procedures, risk analysis and working practices) 

 Relational security (provided by clinical and security staff working closely with patients to assess and monitor risk, 
illness and previous offending behavioural patterns – antecedents) 

 
TSH has its own Security Standards which are aligned to the national High Secure Care Standards produced by the Forensic 
Network and adopted as national policy.  
 

 Compliance with Security Standards was audited by the Forensic Network in April 2018 and an external advisor 
review was completed in June 2018.  At the time of these audits a small percentage of non-compliant areas were 
identified, for which actions have been taken to address. At the time these did not present any significant risk to the 
security or safety of TSH.   

 
In order to further benchmark and assess TSH security standards, an approach will be made to the Director 
of Security Services at Broadmoor Hospital. NHS England utilise the ‘hospital directions’ following on from 
the Tilt Report. Whilst these standards are not applicable to NHS Scotland, it is proposed that a shadow 
inspection process occurs in 2019/20 to assess if there are further learning and development opportunities to 
enhance the security mechanism at TSH.  

 
 The emerging challenges of detecting and managing changing threats as well as the detection of NPS is of major 

significance to TSH. An Executive Lead has been tasked with reviewing the overall process of security and 
surveillance. The aim is to create a refreshed model for the safety and security of staff, patients and the general 
public.  

 
This process has only recently commenced. It is anticipated that a fully revised security surveillance 
approach will be completed by the end of 2019/20.  Two meetings have already taken place with colleagues 
from the Scottish Prison Service to explore shared learning and practice. A recent visit to Broadmoor has 
explored the potential to develop PMVA level 3 at TSH.  

 

 There is an active tendering process underway to upgrade the security systems in place at TSH. 
 
A full security upgrade is planned over the coming 24 month period. Further details will be developed in due 
course pending the tender award.  
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 Given the unique nature of services provided at TSH, a quarterly report is produced for the Clinical Governance 
Committee looking at additional measures that are required within a high security healthcare environment. The key 
measures that are monitored quarterly are: 
 
Patient Restrictions: (e.g. Use of Handcuffs, Suspension of Detentions, Personal Attack Alarm Activations, Episodes of 
Physical Interventions, Use of Mechanical and Safe Hold Restraints, Drug Screening) 
Additional Restrictions: (e.g. Inspected and withheld mail, Telephone calls, Room searches, Grounds Access) 
Incidents: (e.g. Health and Safety, Security, Equipment and Property, Infection Control, Information Governance) 
Security Incidents (e.g. use of weapons, prohibited or restricted items, key management, control of patient movements) 
Category 1 and Category 2 Reviews 
Use of seclusion 
Child and Adult Protection 
 

TSH will continue to monitor all of the above metrics, including run charts to assess the effectiveness of our 
processes. These metrics are available for discussion and debate as part of the AOP review cycle.  

 
4.2 Person Centred 

 
The aim of TSH is to manage and treat the mental health needs of each patient. This enables, when appropriate, the patient to 
move onto lower security environments or safely return to the prison setting depending on the associated legal processes  

 
Patients may have significant complex mental health issues (related to risk taking behaviours such as substance misuse; or 
consequences of treatment over a prolonged time in institutional care) or are living with the effect of long term conditions.  
There are many contributory factors involved such as lack of exercise, obesity, complications of psychotropic medication side 
effects, and the consequences of a self-selected poor diet.   

 
TSH uses a variety of measures to indicate effective management and progression of mental health improvements at individual patient 
level:    
 

· Patterns and trends of historic risk information such as violent and aggressive behaviour patterns. 

· Improvement in the PANSS (Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale for psychotic symptoms), BEST (Behavioural Status) 
nursing index score, and in the PECC (Psychosis Evaluation tool for Common use by Caregivers). 

· Improvement in the formulation and management of risk profile of patients. Reduction in dynamic risk factors can be 
demonstrated on the clinical and risk items of the regularly updated HCR-20 assessments.  (HCR-20 is a tool to manage risk of 
violence assessment and planning (Historical Clinical Risk -20)). 

· The use of DASA (Dynamic Appraisal of Situational Aggression) scores on a regular to inform the approach to care delivery.   

· For intellectual disability patients a more dynamic measurement of progress in relation to the management of risks is 
evidenced through the DRAMS (Dynamic Risk Assessment and Management System) tool.  This assessment is reviewed at a 
minimum of monthly intervals by the key worker.   

· The psychological therapy service is utilising the CORE (Clinical Outcomes for Routine Evaluation) system which is a short 
self-report measure of mental health and wellbeing outcomes that will be used nationally to evaluate psychological therapies.   

· Reduction in frequency and intensity of levels of observation.  

· Individual patients being assessed fit for grounds access within TSH, whether full or partial. 

· Activity levels 

· Social interaction with external visitors  

· Treatment engagement 

· Monitoring of agreed mental health outcome measures 

 
TSH will continue to monitor and develop its mechanisms to ensure that a patient centred approach is integral to 
clinical treatment delivery.  
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4.3 Effective  

 
Diagnosis is undertaken through assessment and formulation of patient risks and needs: psychological, physical, functional, 
social and spiritual. Clinical treatments and management plans are tailored to meet the requirements of individual patient, risk 
assessment and management plan. The multidisciplinary clinical team contributes to this process.  The aim is to address and 
identified treatment needs to support recovery from major mental disorders and reduce the risk of future offending 
behaviours.  The approach takes account of best practice recovery models and approaches.  Risk assessment and management 
is integral to the overall effective clinical strategy.  
 
Services for patients with an intellectual disability tend to be more intensive, at a slower pace, and have a greater need for 
consistency, communication and engagement.   

 
A significant number of patients have one or more risk factors of cognitive impairment, secondary to longstanding severe 
schizophrenic illness, substance misuse (including alcohol) and acquired brain injury.  Such impairments may impact on 
patients’ understanding of, and compliance with, treatment.   Assessments are carried out on admission and include specialist 
assessments for areas of specific identified difficulties. Processes are in place to support early detection of dementia, 
addressed through cognitive screening as part of the psychology assessment undertaken on admission. Clinical teams are alert 
to patients who present a reasonably high index of suspicion (certain patient groups are more susceptible).  When required, a 
specialist neuro-psychology assessment is conducted. 
 
This approach leads to effective care and treatment being completely tailored to meet individual need.   
 

TSH will review on a 12 monthly basis the input of the multi-professional team ensuring that adequate 
resources are available to contribute to Care Pathway Approach for each individual.  

 
The following seven goals will ensure the organisation remains focussed on delivering the clinical vision: 
 

i. Setting and delivering ambitious quality goals to support the provision of high quality care and services to our 
patients and carers 

ii. Engaging staff, patients, carers, volunteers and other stakeholders in improving our quality of care and clinical 
delivery 

iii. Ensuring that everyone in the organisation understands their accountability for the quality of clinical care and are 
clear about expected standards 

iv. Gaining insight and assurance on the quality of the clinical care 
v. Ensuring access to, and understanding of, improvement data to build a positive momentum in relation to quality and 

clinical improvements 
vi. Evaluating and disseminating our results 

vii. Building quality improvement knowledge, skills and capacity 

 
A strategic improvement and assurance work plan will be developed setting out the key actions for the 
delivery of the seven goals.  Each clinical area will publish a work plan drawing on specialist support where 
required.  The delivery of the work plan will engage staff, patients, carers and volunteers.  The State Hospital 
will build commitment to this agenda and create a culture of accountability for continuous clinical quality 
improvement.   
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Campus Image: Main Reception 

 
 
 
 
 
Campus Image: Skye Centre Activities Hub 
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6. OPERATIONAL DELIVERY 

 
The clinical workforce is key to the provision patient care. However, their role and contributions are only enabled with the 
support of the wider workforce. There is a recognition that safety, quality and person centeredness is the responsibility of 
all staff; every member of TSH has a role to play. 
 

 Improvements in the quality of clinical care are best led by the multi-disciplinary teams providing front line 
services. By providing real time accessible data, TSH can support clinicians to focus their improvement activity in 
response to ‘live’ challenges and monitor change impacts.  

 
During 2019/20, TSH will introduce the tableau platform for staff across the organisation. This is an 
electronic data system that will interface with clinical care metrics. 

 
 Leaders and managers in all areas have particular responsibility as role models and enablers. Leaders must 

demonstrate this through their everyday actions and behaviours. Investment in our leaders is important. TSH will 
focus on providing development opportunities for our staff aligned to Project Lift aspirations. 

 
There will be a focus on leadership development in the first half of 2019. Thereafter local programmes will be 
developed aimed at supporting staff moving into their first leadership and management roles. 

 
 Constructive partnership working to support clinical quality improvement and organisational effectiveness is 

essential.  
 
TSH will work in collaboration with partnership organisations to ensure that the views and concerns of staff 
are heard and acted upon. Service change will be undertaken with quality improvement at the centre of what 
we do. 

 
 Evidencing that TSH has a workforce capacity matched to clinical need will be supported through 2019/20 in 

response to safe staffing legislation.  
 

Working collaboratively with workforce leads at National Services Scotland, TSH will deliver on activities 
related to the common staffing method, as well as a focus on excellence in rostering practice.  

 
 Quality assurance and improvement leads are in place. However, all individuals and teams are responsible for 

applying quality assurance and improvement into clinical practice.  

 
Accountability will be demonstrated through: 

 

· Professional Codes of Practice; 

· Continuous professional development; 

· Performance and appraisal review process; 

· Revalidation; 

· Improvement activity and measurement; 

· Audit; 

· Evidence Based Practice; 

· Personal Reflection; 

· Learning from adverse events, complaints and feedback. 
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7. COLLABORATIVE WORKING 

 
National Health Boards have been tasked by the Scottish Government Health and Social Care Directorate (SGHSCD) to work 
together. A key challenge was set to identify ways to collectively standardise and share services. A target was set to reduce 
the operating costs of National Boards by £15m in 2019/20. The aim being that the released revenue can be reinvested in 
frontline NHS Scotland priorities.   

 
National Boards have agreed that: 
 

 There is a commitment to deliver the target on a sustainable basis  

 There is scope to do this by continuing to develop collaborative working to create improved quality and efficiency 

 There is further scope to develop the ‘Once for Scotland’ approach and our work should be shared wider  

 Rather than delivering a pro-rata share of the £15m (apportioned in terms of the RRLs of each Board or other 
arbitrary allocations), the plan is to deliver through targeting real change in the way we deliver support services and 
providing a true and measurable ‘Once for Scotland’ basis 

 
Work in delivering the target has focused on four key work streams: Human Resources, Procurement, Finance and Estates. 

 
TSH will assess the opportunities to work with the West of Scotland Territorial Boards and National Board 
Collaborative to develop opportunities for TSH in the regional and national planning agenda. 
 
Collaboration on a number of administrative services is being taken forward with local authorities and other 
NHS boards including South Lanarkshire Council (Social Services, HR services); NHS Greater Glasgow and 
Clyde (payroll); NHSNSS (finance, procurement); and NHS Lothian (prescribing). 

 

NHS Scotland staff play a major role in the country’s global contribution across the international community. NHS Scotland 
Global Citizenship Programme is set to build on the country’s existing international development achievements. It will ensure 
NHS staff are better supported and co-ordinated in order to enable more staff to participate in Global Citizenship thus 
increasing Scotland’s global health contribution.  

 Staff from across all staff groups in NHS Scotland already make a massive personal and professional contribution to 
global health work in developing countries. 

TSH will remain active participant in the NHS Scotland Global Citizenship programme, with direct 
involvement of senior level staff from within the medical directorate. 
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8. RESPONSIBILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

 
The Board is responsible for ensuring that adequate resources are committed to deliver the strategic goals of the organisation.  
The National Outcomes Framework and the National Quality Strategy are twin drivers towards more outcome based 
approaches rather than process based approaches.   
 
There are three statutory governance strands for NHS Boards; TSH structure is aligned through the: 
 

· Clinical Governance Committee,  

· Staff Governance Committee 

· Audit Committee   
 
Individual Directors have lead responsibility for specific elements relating to each of the committee requirements. These 
include the development of organisationally aligned strategy, policies and delivery plans.  

 
 Each lead Director reports to the Board for their assigned areas of responsibility. Progress reports and risks that may 

impact on the Board objectives are reported. This is performance managed through the Directors objectives by the 
Chief Executive.  

 
Two leadership development workshops are scheduled for July and August with the Chief Executive and 
Executive Directors. A review of the organisational work plan and core objectives will formulate part of those 
sessions.  

 
 The Clinical Governance Group (CGG), chaired by the Medical Director, has a standing agenda section devoted to 

action planning and progress. The CGG reports to the Clinical Governance Committee ensures actions arising from 
clinical quality activities are implemented. The Committee has a comprehensive rolling plan of work which ensures 
that all aspects of clinical governance are scrutinised. The Chair of the Clinical Governance Committee provides a 
progress report to the Board. 
 

 Staff Governance is defined as ‘a system of corporate accountability for the fair and effective management of all 
staff.’ The Staff Governance Standard (4th Edition) sets out what each NHS Scotland employer must achieve in 
order to improve continuously in relation to the fair and effective management of staff. Implicit in the Standard is 
that all legal obligations are met, and that all policies and agreements are implemented. In addition to this, the 
Standard specifies that staff are entitled to be: 

 

· Well informed 

· Appropriately trained and developed 

· Involved in decisions 

· Treated fairly and consistently; with dignity and respect, in an environment where diversity is valued 

· Provided with a continuously improving and safe working environment, promoting the health and wellbeing of 
staff, patients and the wider community.  
 

 The Audit Committee is a standing committee of the Board. The main objectives of Audit Committee are to provide 
the Board with the assurance that TSH acts within the law, regulations and code of conducts applicable to it, and 
that effective systems of internal control are maintained.  
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There are a number of additional local priorities which are prioritised for 2019/20. 

 
 TSH developed a workforce plan for 2017/2022.  

 
The workforce plan will be revisited and finalised in October 2019. The revised workforce plan will take into 
account the revised clinical model and the outcomes from the Safe Staffing legislation. 

 
 TSH has established a Clinical Forum; this is an independent advisory committee that reports directly to the Board. 

 
TSH will ensure that the Clinical Forum in supported to develop and deliver to its full potential 

 
 TSH will develop a media and external communication strategy. 

 
TSH will seek approval for this approach through the Board Private Session. 

 

 The establishment of the Risk, Finance and Performance Group has provided TSH with an improved focus on risk 
monitoring and appraisal. All corporate risks fully reviewed now on an annual rolling basis, including monthly 
updates on any assessed as high risk. A full review of the Risk Register was undertaken in 2018/19. Local 
departmental risk registers are in place and are being evaluated in 2019/20. Any identified high risk items are given 
consideration for inclusion in the corporate register. 

 
In line with the view of internal audit, TSH will review the risk register process is ensure that all risks are 
appropriately aligned. This will be completed by December 2019.  

 
 Partnership working is embedded throughout the organisation to overcome workforce issues and deliver key 

outcomes. Partnership working is supported through the State Hospital’s Partnership Forum and a range of 
partnership groups 

 
Attendance Management Task Group, Values and Behaviours programme, WF Transitions. 

 
 TSH continues to fully implement the iMatter Staff Engagement Tool achieving a participation rate of 77% and an 

aggregated Board EEI (Employee Engagement Index) score of 77% in 2018/19.  12 weeks post completion, a fall in 
the number of action plans (23%) completed was acknowledged and local support provided to increase this to 60%.   

 
On-going support will be provided during 2019/20 to encourage participation, action plan completion. 

 
 TSH will continue in 2019/20 to embed the NHS values through an established Values and Behaviours group.  

A key organisational objective to focus on staff recognition; introducing both staff awards and service 
recognition schemes in 2019. This will be developed further across the course of the year.
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9. FINANCIAL PLAN 

 
Financial Planning is an integral part of the Annual Operational Planning process. Boards are required to submit an 
Operational Plan to Scottish Government by 30th April 2019. TSH met the statutory financial targets as set out for March 
2019 financial year end with no significant risks highlighted. These include the following limits which must not be exceeded: 

 
1. Revenue Resource Limit (RRL) – resource funding for net revenue expenditure allocated by the Scottish 

Government for ongoing operations 
2. Capital Resource Limit (CRL) – resource funding for net capital expenditure allocated by the Scottish Government 

for investment in fixed assets 
3. Cash Requirement – cash required to fund the net payments for all ongoing operations and capital investment 

  
There is a requirement to generate efficiency savings year on year. This is cash releasing savings to match the increased costs 
and productivity savings to deliver against the increased demands of patient care including complexity, activity increases and 
the requirement to continually invest in technology and quality improvements. Year on year TSH has successfully achieved 
and delivered in excess on its challenging Efficiency target. For 2018/19 Efficiency savings delivered were £1.792m against 
an Operational Plan target of £1.765m. 

 
 Savings targets have been met in each of the recent years.  In future years, it is likely that TSH will have increasing 

challenges generating the same level of cash releasing savings.  In order to ensure that service delivery can continue 
to improve and develop, the focus may need to move to improvements in operational efficiency. This will require 
new approaches to driving and monitoring efficiency.  

 
TSH aims to improve efficiency and productivity across the service. Review work will be undertaken in 
2019/20 to benchmark how the tariff based commissioning system works in the high secure hospitals in NHS 
England.  It is important for TSH to benchmark how these organisations manage their efficiency and cost 
variation models and bring any potential learning or development opportunities forward for consideration. 

 
9.1 2019/20 Scottish Government Budget 

 
The financial plan incorporates the Scottish Government Pay Policy which recommends a 9% pay increase for public sector 
workers across 2018/19-2020/21. There will be a cap on pay applied for highest paid (those earning above £80,000). The 
final pay settlement for NHS staff will of course be subject to the NHS pay reviews process as in previous years. 
 
The Scottish Government Budget reflects the commitment that more than half of frontline spending will be in community 
health services by the end of this parliament.  The 2019-20 funding is designed to support a further shift in the share of the 
frontline NHS budget dedicated to mental health and to primary, community and social care.  It is expected that NHS Boards 
and Integration Authorities contribute to this Programme for Government commitment and it will be essential that this is 
clearly evidenced as part of plans for 2019-20.  Whilst this is not directly relevant to TSH, any opportunity to support this 
will be included within the Board financial and local delivery plans. 
 
The key points from the Scottish budget announced that are reflected within the Board financial plans for 2019/20 are: 
 

 The State Hospitals Board for Scotland will receive an uplift of 1%, similar to the other national ‘patient facing’ Boards 
 

 The National Board savings requirement of £15 million in 2018-19 will be made recurring in 2019-20, together with any 
under-achieved carry-forward from 2018-19; the allocation of this to be agreed in new financial year. 
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9.2 Financial Planning 2019/20  

 
The financial plan sets out the resources available to the Hospital and how these will be used, and includes regular funding 
planning assumptions as follows: 
 

 Scottish Government RRL baseline budget as described within RRL allocation letter and 2019-20 Scottish Budget 

 Scottish Government RRL budget includes the baseline funding uplift of 1% 

 Reflects proposed change to Scottish Government Outcomes Framework funding with the  continuation of the e-
health associated element through a revised funding model with separate in-year allocation 

 Planning assumption that central funding support will be provided above the first 1% of pay award for Agenda for 
Change grades only 

 Savings contribution towards National Boards’ £15m requirement continuing at a level to be confirmed 

 Continued support towards eHealth leads and eHealth allocation from former Outcomes Framework allocation 

 Consultant Distinction award funding reflecting submission to the Scottish Advisory Committee on Distinction 
Awards (SACDA) 

 Funding to support Implementation of Excellence in Care, MH (Mental Health) Secondment and Disabled Graduate 
scheme 

 
The table below contains an extract of the three year financial plan – and the main assumptions, pressures and risks behind 
the plan are in the following section.    

 
Operational Plan 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Income £'k £'k £'k 

Core RRL 33,972 35,070 36,058 

Non-core RRL - Capital Charges 2,857 2,857 2,857 

Non-core RRL AME* 112 112 112 

Total Income 36,941 38,039 39,027 

        

Expenditure       

Pay    

Capital Charges 2,857 2,857 2,857 

AME* Provisions 112 112 112 

Non-Pay 5,858 5,933 6,033 

Income (1,142) (1,176) (1,205) 

Savings  (2,103) (1,972) (1,861) 

Total Expenditure 36,941 38,039 39,027 

*Annually Managed Expenditure 

 
9.2.1 Overall position 

 
The financial plan is balanced and delivery of a breakeven position during 2019/20 remains dependent upon realisation of the 
savings plan.  Financial risks remain high around the workforce plan skill mix and staff rostering, with significant risk also 
around the currently high level of 2019/20 savings unidentified, which contributes to a high risk of financial shortfall should 
these be unachieved. 
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9.2.2 Funding 

 
As the public sector as a whole face funding cuts, the NHS has had some protection.  This year the recurring increase in 
funding equates to 1%, with an additional contribution from UK consequential to an element of the proposed pay uplift.  With 
planned payroll increases, incremental drift, and previous unfunded increases in NI (National Insurance) contributions, 
continued close budgetary scrutiny is required in order to cover the inflationary increases in costs and the required savings.   

 
9.2.3 Savings 

 
At this draft stage the savings have not yet been split by detail, only by total and Recurring or Non Recurring, as meetings with 
individual directorates to negotiate savings are ongoing. 

 

Planned Savings 

2019/20 Risk Rating 

Rec Non-rec Total High Med Low 
£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

  Service redesign 22 95 117   117 

  Drugs and prescribing  20 20   20 

  Workforce 57 480 537   537 

  Procurement  0 0   0 

  Infrastructure 56 306 362   362 

  Other  100 100  100  

Total Efficiency Savings workstreams 135 1,001 1,136  100 1,036 

  Financial management / corporate initiatives       

  Unidentified savings assumed delivered by y/e  647 647 647   

Total Core NHS Board Savings 135 1,648 1,783 647 100 1,036 
 

Savings delegated to Integration Authorities 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
There are continued efficiency and productivity improvements sought which will be identified, managed and implemented 
through this period. Savings targets for 2019/20 are particularly challenging as the Hospital manages the pressures noted in 
the next section.   
 

 Savings targets continue to be extremely challenging both for the Board individually, and collaboratively along with 
the other National Boards. 

 

TSH will assess with executive leads how a greater contribution of recurring savings can be identified as early 
as possible through budget review meetings and delivered in 2019/20 

 
9.2.4 Pressures 

 
There are a number of pressures facing the Hospital over the coming year: 
 

 Payroll impact from the expected outcome of the legal case “Locke vs British Gas” and the potential liability for 
additional shift payments required. 

 Workforce Plan Numbers and Skill mix - due in part to the fall in staff turnover, it has not yet been fully possible to 
achieve the planned workforce.  The issues relate mainly to nursing costs.  The full workforce plan aligned to the 
clinical service delivery model and safe staffing legislation is under review as previously highlighted in this AOP. 
Pressure from any unfunded element of increased payroll costs, e.g. executive pay. 

 Potential increases in rates. 

 Utility costs continuing to rise, giving both a price and usage pressure in 2019/20. 



 

The State Hospitals Board for Scotland: Annual Operational Plan             Page 21 of 22 

 

 Associated costs related to the Perimeter Security and Enhanced Internal Security Systems Project – e.g. cost of 
staff escorting contractors.  Recent advice has indicated that these may be included in the capital project funding. 

 A number of costs associated with the upkeep of the Hospital estate, which are monitored closely and outturns 
adjusted accordingly. Ongoing evaluation of this impact over the coming years is assessed in order that budgetary 
pressures can be controlled. 

 There are also a number of specific risks associated with the plan: 

 As noted above, the requirement for the National Boards to provide additional savings of £15m (plus any 
unachieved savings carried forward from 2018/19) on a recurring basis in 2019/20. 

 Savings plans – as stated above the operational running costs of the site are more than planned.  A savings plan 
around the workforce, capital charges and supplies may need to be enhanced if the on-going costs are more than 
forecast.  Also year on year, it gets harder to identify workforce savings without impacting on patient care or 
security.  If plans fall behind the financial balance could be at risk unless other non pay savings can be found, and 
currently a high proportion of the savings for 2019/20 is still to be identified. 

 The lack of any increase in capital funding potentially leaves equipment replacement at risk, as the formulae 
allocation will require close control and review to be able to cover any major equipment replacement programmes. 
 

TSH will monitor pressures and risks on a monthly basis. Reporting levels of risks and financial implications 
will be taken through the Senior Management Team, Partnership Forum and ultimately to the Board. 

 
9.2.5 Capital – Property and Assets  
 
The performance of assets is seen as critical by the Hospital.  In order for the Hospital to meet its strategic objectives, it is 
essential that existing and planned investment is targeted and effectively utilised.  The Property and Asset Management 
Strategy (PAMS) reflects the following aims:  
 

 To maintain and develop a high quality, sustainable site and assets that support the provision of high quality forensic 
mental health care in appropriate and secure facilities.  

 To ensure that the operational performance of assets is appropriately recorded, monitored, reported and reviewed 
and, where appropriate improved.  

 To ensure an effective asset management approach to risk management and service continuity. 
 
The significant capital item forthcoming is the Perimeter Security and Enhanced Internal Security Systems Project. (2019/20-
2021/22) estimated at £8.6m.  This is currently at the final tendering stage with award of contract imminent. The associated 
projected level of available revenue resource required for contractor escorting and project management will continue to 
present a major challenge for implementation of the Property and Asset Management Strategy, together with regular estates 
and security work, and IM&T (Information Management & Technology) equipment replacement programmes.   
 
Further work has taken place internally to re-examine security threats to the hospital and additional work commissioned to 
establish how those threats may be mitigated, including review of CCTV requirements, which will be reflected in the 
business case.  The split of the funding across the three years is currently subject to the outcome of the tender process, with an 
estimate noted below. 

 

2019-20 £000s 2020-21 £000s 2021-22  £000s 2022-23 £000s 2023-24  £000s 

Capital Resource Limit (CRL) 269 269 269 269 269 

Other centrally provided capital funding 4,313 2,965 1,302 - - 

Total Capital Resource Limit 4,582 3,234 1,571 269 269 

 
TSH will focus on capital priorities on a monthly basis via the capital group ensuring estate spend is directed 
where required within a five year capital planning programme.  
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APPENDIX 1 

The State Hospital Strategy Map 2019 – 2020 
 

NHS Scotland aims to: 
 

 Provide high quality health care  Have financial sustainability  Improve population health 

 
The State Hospital mission: 
To excel in the provision of high quality, safe and secure forensic mental health treatment and care and to strive to 
be an exemplar employer 
 
 
The State Hospital values are at the heart of what we do: 
Care and compassion  Dignity and respect Openness, honesty and accountability  
Quality and teamwork  
 
 
The State Hospital Strategic objectives: 
Safety Security  Effective care and treatment  Quality Improvement  Person centred  
 
 
Outcomes, by 2020 The State Hospital will have: 

 reduced staff absence levels to 5% and increased workforce resilience  
 reduced the proportion of patients with a BMI in the overweight and obese category and increased access to 

physical activity 
 embedded a culture of continuous quality improvement and assurance to deliver excellent care 
 the right staff are in the right place at the right time 
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